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L. C. B, Ward, How long have you been a  from the Cape of Good Hope Eaftward, 1 4,

Prifoner?
Churchill. Almoft two Years ; two Years next

1wty
/ i C B, Ward, and the reft of the Fudges. The
Proclamation ( for what you fay your felf ) does not

reach your Cale. '
Howe, Churchill, Mullins. We came in, upon

the Proclamation, all the fame Day. |
Mr. J. Powel. How can you make it appear

you furrender’d ¢ | |
Prifoners, Here is an Aflidavit made of 1t by

the Governor’s Sccretary 3 and there’s the Gen-
tleman himielf, Col. Bafs.

Mr. J. Powel. You muft make it out, that you
have come in within the Conditions of that Pro-
clamation, if you have any Benefit by 1t

L. C.B. Ward. Let the Proclamation be read.

(W hich was done accordinglys and it bere follwws :

By the KI N G, a Proclamation,

Willam R.

pf Hereas We being informed, by the frequent
Complaints of our gesd Subjelts trading to
the Falt-Indies, of fiveral wicked Prafiices
committed on thofe Seas, as well upon eur czon Sub-
jebls as thofe of onr Allies, have therefore though
Jit (for the Security of the Trade of 1hofe Countries,
by an utter Extivpation of the Pirates in all Payts
Eaftzonrd of the Cape of Good Hope, a5 well be-
yond Cape Comorin as on this fide of it, unlefs they
Jhall forthwith furrender themfelues, as is berein af-
ter divetted) 1o fend out a Squadron of Men of War,
under the Command of Captain 'Thomas Warren.
Now We, to the Intent that fuch who bave been
guilty of any Afts of Pirvacy in thafe Seas, may bave
Notice of our moft gracions Intention, of extending
our Royal Mercy to fuch of thew as fhall furrender
themfelves, and to caufe the feverch Punifbient ac-
cording to Law to be tuflidled upon thofe who fhail

continue obftinate, have thought ity by the Advice of
our Privy Conncil, to iffue this Praclamation 5 berely

Requiring and Commanding all Perfons who have
been guilty of any AL of Piracy, or any ways Aiding
or Afffting therein, in any Place Eaftward of the
Cape of Good Hope, to furrender themfelves with-
in the feveral vefpellive Times herein after limited,
amto the faid Captain Thomas Warren, and the
Commmander in chief of the faid Squadron for the Time
being, and to Ifracl Hayes, Peter Dellanoye, and
Chriftopher Pollard, Efguires, Commiffianers ap-
pointed by Us for the faid Expedition, or to any Thce
of thems, ory in cafe of Death, to the major Part of
the Survivors of them. And We do hereby declare,
That We have been gracioufly pleas’d to impewer the
faid Captain Thomas Warren, and the Commander
m chief of the frid Squadron for the Time being,
Ifracl Hayes, Peter Dellanoye, and Chriftopher
Pollard, Efguires, Commiffioners aforefaid, or any
Three of them, ory in cafe of Death, to the major
Past of the Survivers of them, to give Affurance of
our moft gracious Pardon unto all fuch Pirates in the
Faft-Indies, viz. all Eqftward of the Cape of Good
Hope, who fhall furrender themfelves for Piracies
or Robberies committed by them upon the Sea or
Landy Except neverthelefs fuch as they fhall commit
in any Place whatfoever after Notice of our Grace
and Favour bereby declared 5 And alfo excepting all
fuch Piracies and Robberies as fhall be committed

3

Longitude or Meridian of Socatora, after the Jop
Day of April, 1699, and in any Place froin the [ 4.
gitude or Meridian of Socatora Eaflward, to g,
Longitnde or Meridian of Cape Comorin, after 4,
laft Day of June, 1699, and in any Place whayp,
ever Eaftward of Cape Comorin after the laft Dy,
of July, 1699 3 And alfe excepting Henry Eyery
alias Bridgman, and Willlam Kidd, ’

Given at our Court at Kenfiugton, the Eighy,
Day of December, 1698, 1n the Tenth Yy

of our Reign.
G OD fave the Kivag,

Clerk. There is no Day mention’d in this P,.
per when they {urrender’d themfelves.

Mr. Moxon. My Lord, about the Year 1648,
there was a Special Commiffion given tofour Pe;.
fons, and they were to procced In their Voyse,
to the Judies, and they carried 2 great Numbe;
of Proclamations, That all the Pirates in fuch
and fuch Places fhould furrender themfelves.
Now they came to §t. Helena with them, ang
Captain Warren was fent to 82, Mary’s, and he
was to deliver fome of thefe Proclamations there,
and the Commiflioner had then the Ambaflade,
to the Great Mogul on board, and this Captain
Warren thefe Proclamations.,  Zarren comes angd
delivers the Proclamations out, and, among the
reft, the Prifoner at the Bar having Notice of
this, he eoes to the Governor, and confeffes he
had been o Pirate, and defired them to take No.
tice that he {urrendered himfelf 3 and we have
the Governor here, to give an Account of this
Matter,

L. C. B. Ward. The Proclamation fays, They
muft furrender themfelves to fuch and fuch Pey.
fons by Name: See if it be not fo.  ( Then t
Proclamation <was read again,) Here are feve.
ral Qualifications mentioned ; you muft bring
your felves under them, if you would have the

Benefit of it.
Dr. New:ion. Let them fhew that they furren.

der’d themfelves to the Perfons they were to fur-
render to.

Mr. Moxon, My Lord, we will prove we gave
Notice within the Time, by this Paper.

Mr. Soll, Gen. There is no Time mention’d m
it. (The Affdavit <cas read,) Charles Hally, G,
maketh Qath, That in the Year 98, there being No-
tice of his Majefty’s Giacious Pardon to fuck Pirat:s
as fbonld furrender themfeloes, James Howe, Ni-
cholas Churchill, asd Darby Mullins, 7z May,
1699, did furrender themfelves to Jeremiah Bals,
and he did admit them to Bail.

L. C.B. Ward, Thereare Four Commiflioners
named in the Proclamation : There is no Gover-
nor mention’d that is to receive them, only thof:
Four Commiffioners.

Mr. Moxon. But, my Lord, conflider the Na-
ture of this Proclamation, and what was the
Defign of it, which was, to invite Pirates to conic
10,

Mr, Coniers. We muft keep you to the Proci-
mation : Here is not enough to put off the
Trial.

L.C. B. ¥ard. If you had brought your felves
within the Cafe of the Proclamation, we fhould
be very glad : You that offer it, muft confider i€

is a Special Proclamation, with divers Li_mnta-
tions ;
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and if you would have the Benefit gf:_ it,
you wuft bring your felves under the Conditions
of it. Now there are Four Commiflioners na-
ned, that you ought to furrender to; but you
1ave not furrendered to any one of thefe, but to
Colone! Bafs, and there is no fuch Man men-
roned in this Proclamation.

Mr. Kiapp. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the
fury, the Indictment fets forth, That the Pri-
foners at the Bar, on the TIurnerI_l of Faniary, In
QeNinth Year of his Majefty’s Reign, tenLeagues
Tant from Crifbeen, did Piratically feize and
wob a certain Ship calf'd, The .Q;wd:ggb Merchant,
and put the Men in fear of their Lives s and the
fiid Ship, with her Apparel, Tackle, and Goods,
1id then and there, upon the High Sea, tnkcqud
carry away, againft the Peace of our Spver61g:1
[.ord the King, his Crown and Dignity: To
this Indi&ment they have pleaded, Not guilty:
If we prove it upon them, you muft find them
cuiley. _

Dr. Newton, Advocate for the Admirally. My
Lord, and Gentlemen, the Prifoners at the Bar,
Captain IVilliai Kidd, late Commnngier qf the
Adventnre Galley, and Nine other Mariners 1n the
me Veflel, ftand indiéted for felonioully and pi-
ratically affaulting and tnkipg a Ship, call’d T#¢
Quedegh Merchant, on the High S{?':l near Cutfbeen,
in the Eaft-Indies, about the Tlur_neth of Fanu-
ey, in the Ninth Year of his Majelty’s Reign :
The Ship was confiderable for its Force and Bulk,
being about four hundred Tun; and more con-
fiderable for its Lading, having on board to the
Value of many Thoufand Pounds.

This Captain Kidd, who thus acted the Pirate
himfelf, went from England in dpiil, 1699, witha
Commiflion, dated the 26th of Faurary preceed-
ing, to take and feize Pirates in the Jndian Seas,
which were then very much and very dangeroufly
infefted by them, to the great Hazard, and Lofs,
and Ruin of the Merchant.

The Ship carry’d thirty Guns, and there were
on board about cighty Mens; but the Caprain
being come to New-2ork, in July 90, pretend-
ing, as indeed 1t was defign’d he fhould, and he
had undertaken to make that Defign good, thac
he was going 10 Madagafcar (which was the known
and common Recepracle of the Pirates in thofe
Seas) to take Pirates, and free the Seas from thofe
Dilturbers of the Commierce of Mankind; fo
many canie in to him, being invited by Articles
publickly fee up by him in that Place, that his
Number quickly encreas’d to one hundred and
filty-five Men 5 a Force {ufficient, if he had
meant well, to have made him ufeful to the Pub-
lick ; and to prove as milchicvous, if his Defigns
were otherwile ¢ And what thole were, will
quichly appear.

After calling in at feveral Places for Provifions,
and, among others, at Madagafcar, in Frly g7,
he fail’d to Bobs-Key, a fmall Ifland at the En-
trance of the Red-Sea, and a convenient Station
for the obferving what Veflels went from thence
to the fudies 3 and now, inftead of tuking Pirates,
he becomes one himfelf, and che greateft and the
worlt of all. Here he ftaid three Weeks, in exs
pectation of the Aocea Fleer, to make his Bene-
fit and his Fortune out of it 3 for, whatever he
had before prerended, this was his real Defign,
and now {o poflefs’d his Mind, that he could not

Tefrain from declaring, and that often, to his
r
Yo V.

t1ONS 3

Men; That now he Thould make his Vayage, and
ballalt his Ship with Gold and Silver.  After
long Expettation, the Fleet, on the 14th of Au-
gift, to the Number of Fourteen; caine bys he
fell in with the middle of them; fir’d feveral
Guns at’em; but finding they had an Englifh and
Drteh Convoy, that Defign happily fail’d of the
wifh’d-for Succefs.

This Difappointment however did not difcou-
rage him, but that he proceeded on for the Coaft
of Mafabar, where he knew the Trade was confi-
derable, and hoped his Advantage would be pro-
portiohable in the difturbing it; and there ac-
cordingly, for feveral Months, he committed
many great Piracies and Robberics, taking the
Shipsand Goods of the Indians and others at Sea,
Moors and Chriftians, and tortiring cruelly their
Perfons, to difcover if any Thing had efcaped his
Hands; burning their Houfes, and killing, after
a barbarous manner, the Natives on the Shore ;
equally cruel, dredaded and hated both onthe Land
and at Sea.

Thefe Criminal Attempts and Aétions had ren-
dered his Name (to the Difgrace and the Preju-
dice of the Englifb Nation) too well known, and
defervedly detefted, in thofe remote Parts of the
World ; and he was now look’d upon asan Arch-
Pirate, and the common Enemy of Mankind ;
and accordingly two Portuguefe Men of War went
out in purfuic of him, and one met with him and
fought him for feveral Hours ; but Kidd's For-
tune then referv’d him for another manner of
Trial.

Amongft the great Number of Veflels he took
on that Coaft, was the Ship he ftands ndicted
for, The Quedagh Merchant, being then on a
trading Voyage from Bengal to Surat, the Com-
mander Englifh, Captain Wright, the Owners

Armeiian Merchants, and others. He had taken

Moors before, but AMpers and Chriftians ate all
alike to Pirates, they diftinguifh not Nations and
Religions. 1

Thofe on board the Veflel offer'd Thirty thou-
fand Rupees for her Ranfom, but the Ship was oo
confiderable to be parted with, even for fo great
a Sum 3 {o Kidd fold Goods out of her; on the
neighbouring Coaft, to the Value of Ten or
Twelve thoufand Pounds; out of which he took
whatever he could pretend to for Ammunition
and Provifions, with forty Shares for himfelf, and
the Remainder was difpofed of amongft the
Crew, and particularly thofe who are here indi-
tted with him, who accompanied him, who af-
fifted him throughout in all his Piracies, and who
now too fhare the Spoils and the Guilt with him.

With this Ship and another, and the Remain-
der of the Goods not fold on-the Coaft, he fail’d
once more for Madagafcar, where he arrived in
the Beginning of May 98, and there again what
was left on board was divided according to the
fame Proportions, and amongit the fame Perfons
as before, each Mariner having about three Bales
to his Share.

Then the Fury brought in their Verdilk againf?
William Kidd, for Murder : And Dr. New-

ton proceeded,

Tt it not to be omitted, That at his Return g
Madagafear, there came on board him fome Per-

fons from the Ship The Refolution, formerly the
Qg 2 Mocea
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Mocca Frigate (for the piratical feizing of which
Veflel there have been formerly Trials and Con-
victions in this Place) of which Captain Cﬂllffqrd,
1 notorious Pirate, now in Cuftody, and againft
whom two Bills have been'found for Piracy, by
the Grand- Jury, was the Commanc]er._ They at
firlt feem’d to be afraid of Kidd, but without any
Ground ; as his former Acions had demonftrated,
and the Sequel fhewed : They, who were har-
den’d Pirates, and long inured to Villanies, could
{carce think that any Man could fo betray the
“Truft and Confidence the Publick had placed in
him, and faid, They heard he was come to take
and hang them ; but Caprain Kidd affur’d them,
chat he had no fuch Defign, and that he had ra-
ther his Soul fhould broil in Hell, than do them
any Harm 3 bid them not be afraid, and {wore
he would be true to them ; and here, indeed, he
did not break his Word. This was his Way of
being true to his Truft, and making good the
Ends of his Commiffion, in acting with the grea-
teft Treachery, and the greateft Falfenefs, tha
ever Man did : And, to make all that has been
reprefented of him true, Captain Kidd and Cap-
tain Culliford went on board, treated, and prefen-
ted cach other ; and, inftead of taking Culliford,
as it was his Duty to have done, and his Force
was fufficient to have perform’d it, he gave him
Money and Ammunition, two Great Guns and
Shot, and other Neceffaries to it him out to Sea,
that he mightbe in a Condition the better to take
and feize other innocent Perfons.

His own Ship he now left, and went on board
the Quedagh Merchant 5 feveral of his Men then
went from him, but not the Prifoners, they were
all along Well-withers and Affiltants to him,
fought for him, divided the Plunder with him,
and are now come to be try’d with him,

This, Gentlemen, is the Crime he Is indicted
for, Piracy; the growing Trouble, Dilturbance,
and Mifchief of the Trading World, and the
peaceable Parc of Mankind, the Scandaland Re-
proach of the Enrspean Nations, and the Chrifti-
an Name (I with I could not fay, that the Kidds
and the Averys had not made 1t more particularly
fo of the Euglifh) amonglt Mahometans and Pa-
gons, in the extremelt Parts of the Earth 5 which
turns not only to the Difadvantage of the imme-
diate Sufterers, but of all fuch as traflick in thofe
Countries, whether Companies or fingle Mer-
chants, who are to fuffer for the Misfortunes of
others, with whom, 1t may be, they have no
Dealings, and for the Villainies of fuch, whom
they and all Mankind equally and juftly detelt
and abhor,

T his is the Perfon that ftands indited at chat
Bar, than whom no one in this Age has done
more Mifchief, in this worflt kind of Mifchief; or
has occafioned greater Confufion and Diforder,
attended with all the Circumftances of Cruelty
and Falfhood, and a Complication of all manner
of Ill.

If therefore thefe Fadts fhall be prov’d upon
him, you will then, Gentlemen, in finding him
ouilty, do Juftice to the mjred World, the
Fuglifhy Nation (our common Country) whofe In-
tereft and Welfare fo much depend on the En-
creafe and Security of Trade; and, laftly, to
vour felves, whom the Law has made Judges of
the Faét.

Mr. So/l, Gen. My Lord, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, Iam of Council for the King, againgt
the Prifoners at the Bar, in this Cafe, with ¢he
Doétor that has open’d the Matter from the Be.
oinning. Thefe Prifoners at the Bar went gy
with Commiffions for good Purpofes, tho’ the
made ufe of them to very bad ones.  Gentlemep
of the Jury, T mutt tell you, The Charge up,,
which you are to enquire, I only upon a certaj,
Ship, call’d The Quedagh Merchant, and to thy
we fhall apply our Evidence. What was take,
in her has been open’d already : All we will 4,
now, isto call our Witnefles, and make our, ¢4
your Satisfaction, the Things charg’d upon them,.

Mr. Coniers. My Lord, we fhall prove this
Charge by the Perfons that were Lvidence before,
Robert Bradinbam, and Fofeph Palmcr : They wene
out with Captain Kidd in his Voyage, and he be.
gan it in April, 1696, I believe "twill be necef.
fary, that they give fome Account before this pj.
racy was committed, which was not, in Time,
till February, 1697.  They will give you an Aq.
count of fome Plunders that happen’d before ths,
and then of the taking of this Ship, and the di.
viding it amongft them.

Mr. J. Powel, When went they out?

Mer. Coniers. They began theirVoyage in 4pri!,
1696,and took thisShip in Februaiy, 1697. They
did, all along that Voyage, commit feveral Plup-
ders on feveral Ships they thought a Prey : Thejr
Defign was, not to take Pirates, but to take wha
they could get out of any Ships, Friends or Enc.
mies ; for in this Ship, The Quedagh Merchant,
which was a Moorifh Ship, there were fever
Armenians ; and they offered them a grear Sum
of Money to redeem the Ship, but they refus'd
it 3 and they difpofed of the Goods, and divided
the Money ; and for the Proof of that, we will
call Mr. Bradinban.

Mr. J. Powel. 1 underftand, that he had a
Commiftion ; therefore if any one has a Commil-
fion, and he aéls according to it, he is not a P
rate ; but if he take a Commiffion for a Colour,
that he may be a Pirate, 1t will be bad indeed
And thercfore, if you can prove, that he wasa
Pirate all along, this will be a great Evidence
againft him,

Mr . Coniers. My Lord, we will prove that; fo
that the Commiffion was but a Colour. Mr.
Bradinbam, pray give my Lord and the Juryan
Account when you began your Voyage, and your
Proceedings afterwards.

Bradinbam. Some time in theYear 1696, about
the Beginning of May, I and others were with
Captain Kidd ; and we fail’d from Phmaowth, de-
figning for New-Yerk ; and-in the Way we met
with a French Banker, and took her.,

Mr. Coniers. Tell the Court what Ship 1t was
you went in, and with whom.

Bradinbam. We went with Captain Kidd, in the
Adventure Galley.

Mr. Coniers. What Number of Men had you
when you went firft out?

Bradinbam. About {eventy or eighty Men.

Mr. Coniers.” What Force of Guns had you'?

Bradinbam. We had thirty Guns. .

Mr. Coniers. In what Office was Captain Kidd
in the Ship ?

Bradinbam. He was the Commander of her.

Mr. Conjers. Now tell my Lord and the Jury
what Time you left England, and how you pros
ceeded.

Brodinham.
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Bradinbam. In May, 169 63 we left P{yma::{fa,
1 went to New-Zork, and in the Way met with
5 French Ships and took her: And when e came
‘o New-York, Caprain Kidd put up Articles, T'hat

Men would enter themfelves on board his

‘lgfh?;,}rthf.’)' (hould have their Shares of what fhould

be aken; and he himfetf was to have Forty
ares. 1 .
Sh;:h. Coniers. What Number of Men did he get
frer thefe Articles were publifh’d ?
Bradinbarr. He carried from New-2ork an
Hundred and fifty-five Men, .
Mr. Conicrs. Whither did he fail then ?
“Bradinbam. To the Madera’s, from thence to
Ronawis, from thence to S%. jago, from thence to
Madegafcar, from thence to Foanna, from thence
10 Mabala, from Mabala to Foanna again, and
¢.om thence to the Red-Sca 5 and there we w:aitcd
for the Mocce Fleet : They pafled us one Night,
and we purfued them, and went among them,
but he found they were tod ftrong for him, and
was fain to leave them.
Mr. Cowoper. How long did you lie in wiait for
that Fleet ? |
Bradivkam. A Fortnight or three Weeks.
M. Cowper. Did he exprefs himfelf {o, That
he did lie tn wait for that Fleet?
Bradinbam. Yess he faid, that he did defign
«o make a Voyage out of them.
Mr. Cowper. Did he not lie in wait for dny
Freuch Effe@s in that Fleet?
Bradinbam. No, only for the Moorifh Fleet.
Mr. Cowper. What do you mean by the Moorifh

Fleet ¢ * |
Bradinbam. The Natives of Judia, the Mabo-

el ans, | L
Mr. Cowper, Where did you lie 1 wait for

that Fleet ?

Bradinbam. In the Red-Sea.

Mr. Cowper. In the Mouth of it ?

Bradinbamn. Yes.

Mr. Cowper. Is it a it Place for that Pur.
pole ?

Bradinbain Several Sail of Ships may lie there.

Mr. Cewger. Did you expect them ?

Bradinbam. Yes s Captain Kidd waited for
them.

Mr. Coniers. How long did you ftay there?

Bradinbam. About a Fortnight.

Mr. Coniers. Did you doany thing in that time
0 get Intelligence ?

Brodinbam, Captain Kidd fent his Boat three
times to Mocca, to fee if they could make any
Difcavery 5 and the two firft times they could
make none ; but the third ume they brought
word the Shipe were ready to fail 3 and accord-
ingly they came, and we failed after them, and
fill in with them, and Captain Kidd fired ar
them,

Mr. Cowper. You fay, he fent his Boat three
umes for Intelligence : Can you remember what
Anfwer they brought ?

Bradinham. 'The two firft times they brought
no Intelligence 3 but the third time they brought
Word, that fourteen or fifteen Ships were ready
to fail,

h ;\'Ipr. Coniers. What Colours did they fay they
ad

Bradiubam. 1 cannot tell that, When Captain
Kidd had ferched them up, he found they were
under Convoy, and fo he left them : And then

he was going to the Coaft of Malabar, and by
the Way met with Capt, Parker.

_ Mr. J. Powel. Did they fire any Guns at the
Mocca Fleet? o

Bradinbain. Yes; Capt. Kidd fired diver§ Guns
at them,

Mr. Coniers. After fuch time ds you lef the
Mocca Fleer,whit happen’d adftet that ? Recolleét
your felf. -

Bradinbam. We took a Ship, that Capr. Parker
was Commander of, between Carawsr and the
Red-Sea.

Mr. Conicrs; What Ship was this that Captain
Parker was Commander of ? |

Bradinbam. A Muorifh Ship, fhe came from
Bombay, and Capt. Parker was the Mafter,

. Mg Comiers: What did you take from this
up? |

Bradinham, Capt. Kidd tool ouit Parker, and a
Portuguefe for a Linguiffer.

Mr. Conters. A Linguiffer, What do you mean
by that ?

Dradinham. An Interpreter ; he took our of
her a Bale of Coffee, a Bale of Pepper, about
twenty Pieces of Arabian Gold, and ordered
fome Men to be taken and hoifted up by their
Arms, and diub’d with a naked Cutlace:

My, Coniers, Why did he do that ?

Bradinkam, That they might confefs what Mo-
ney they had.

Mr. Conicrs. Were thofe Frenchuier that were
thus ufed !

Bradinbam: No, they wete Moor's.

Mr. Coniers; Was there any Demand midde of
thofe Men, Capt. Parker, dnd the Poriuguefe ?

Bradinkain. Yes ; thé Eiglifb Faltory fent for
thits Parker and the Portugsiefe, and he deny’d that
he had any fiich Perfons on board, for he kept
them in a Hole. |

Mr. Coniers. Do you knov any Thing more?

Bradinbam. Then he went to Sea, and that
Night he met with a Pertiguefe Man of 'War ;
the next Morning he came up with her, and the
Portugnefe firft fired at Caprain Kidd, and he at
him agatn 3 they fought four or five Hours: Capt.
Kidd had ten Men wotinded. |

M. Coniers. So that there was nothing more
than Fighting?

Bradinghdam, No.

Mr. Coniers. Go on. Whit did you do next?

Bradinbam. We went to the Coaft of Mala-
bar.

Mr. Coniers. What did you go thithet for ?

Brodinkbam. We went to one of the Malabar
Ilands for Wood and Water, and Caprain Xidd
went a-fhore, and feveral of his Men, and plun-
dered feveral Boats, and burnt feveral Houfes,
and ordered one of the Natives to be ty’d toa
Tree, and one of his Men to thoot him,

Mr. Coniers. Pray go on: What was the Rea-
fon of his fhooting this fndian?

Bradinbam. One of his Men, that was his
Cooper, had been a-fhote, and fome of the Na-
tives had cut this Man’s Throat, and that was
the Reafon he ordered his Men to ferve this
Man fo.

Mr. Coniers, Pray go on, and give an Account
of what afterwards.

Bradingham. Then we came back again to the
Malabar Coaft, and cruifed ; and in Offeber he
killed his Gunner, #illiam Maore. v

[o
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Mr, Comiers. Tell what happened next after

that. ”
Mz, Comper, Was this the Offober next after

he left England, or the Year following?

Bradinbam. 1t was in Oftober, 1697.

Mr. Coniers, Welly go on.

Bradinbam, Some time in November he took a
Mocrifh Ship belonging to Surat ; there were two
Dutchmen belonging to her, - the relt were Moors.
Captain Kidd chafed this Ship under French Co-
lours ; and when the Dutchman faw that, he put
out Fresch Colours too, And Captain Kidd came
up with them, and commanded them on board ;
and he ordered a Frenchman to come upon Deck,
and to pretend himfelf Captain: And {o this
Commuander comes aboard, and comes to this
Monfienr Le Roy that was to pafs for the Cap-
tain, and he fhews him a Paper, and faid it was
a French Pafs,  And Captain Kidd fud, By God,
Have I catch’d you 2 You are a free Prize to
England. We took two Horfes, fome Quilts,
{Jc. and the Ship he carried to Madagaftar. In
December he took a Moorifh
by the Boat; we had one Man wounded in taking
of her,

Mr. Coniers. When was this done ?

Bradinbam. In December, 1697.

Mr. Coniers, What, did you plunder then ?

Bradinham. Our People took the Veffel athore,

and Captain Kidd took out of her thirty Tubs of

Sugar, a Bale of Coffee, &'¢. and then he order’d
the Veffel to be turned a-drift.

Mr. Consers. What followed in Fannary?

Bradinham. fanuary the 20th, Caprain Kidd
took a Portugnefe that came from Bengal : He
took out of her two Chefts of Opinm, fome Eqft-
India Goods, and Bags of Rice, &,

Mr. Consers. How long did you keep thisShip?

Bradinbam. He kept this Portygucfe Ship about
feven Days; he took out of her fome Burrer,
Wax, and Eaft-Trdia Goods : He kept her till he
was chafed by leven or cight Sail of Duteh, and
then he left her.

Mr, Canicrs. My Lord, now we are come
to that on which the IndiGtment is founded.
Mr. Bradinhain, give a particular Account of that.

Bradinhaw. Some time in Famuary, Captain
Kidd ook the Quedagh Merchant 5 he gave her
chafe under French Colours : e came up with
her, and commanded the Mafter aboard; and
there came an old Frenchman in the Boar: and
after he had.been aboard awhile, he rold Captain
Kidd he.was not the Captain, but the Gunner ;
and Captain Kidd fent for his Captain on board
his Ship.

Mr. Coniers, Who was that ?

Bradinbam. Mr, Wright.

Mr. Coiiers. What Countryman was he ?

Bradinbam. An Englifiman, He was {ent for
:JJ;JI.‘:;HTLj and he came ; and Captain Kidd told
him, he was his Prifoner ; and he ordered his
Men to po aboard, and take Poffeffion of the
Ship, and difpofed of the Goodson that Coaft, to
the Value of Seven or Eight thoufand Pounds,

Mir. Conters. What Perfons were aboard her ?

Bradinbam. There was Captain Wright, and
two Dulchinen, and a Frenchman, and fome Arie-
suans, and the reft Moors,

Mr. Coniers. Did thefe Armeinians make any
Offer of any Money for their Ranfom #

Ketch 3 The was taken

Bradinham. Captain Kidd told them, they
fhould be ranfomed, if they made an Offer thar
he liked of ; fo they offered himT wenty thoufind
Rupees. He told them, that wasbuta fmall p;,.
cel of Money, and the Cargo. was worth a grear
deal more.

Mr. Coniers. Who did the Cargu belong to?

Bradinbam. ‘To thofe Armenians, as 1 was .
form’d by Captain Wright. B

My, Comters. What did lie do with them ?

Bradinbam. He difpofed of fome of them o

the Coaft of India. .
M. Coniers. What did he do with the Progeeq

of the Goods he {old ¢ o
Bradinbam. He fhared the Money. -
Mr. Coniers. Had thefe Men (the other Py
{oners) any of the Shares? o
Bradinbam. Yes, all of them. You wére ,
Half-thare Man, and you a Half-thare Man,
(peinting at lwo of them )
Mr. Canicrs. Mr. Bradinbam, you fay Capuin
Hright came aboard Kidd's Ship,

Bradinbam. Y es.
My, Couers. Did he difcourfe with him?

Bradinbam. 1 was not with him, for he kePr

his Cabin to himfelf.
Mr. Coniers. But you are fure he came aboard:

Bradinbam. Yes.

Mr. Coniers. And he was an Englifbman ?

Bradinhain. Yes.

Mr.Coniers. How did Captain Kidd behave him-
felf to the Ships or Boats there?

Bradinbam, He boarded feveral Ships, and took
out of them what was for his Turn.

Mr. Coniers, Tiow did he ufe thofe that
traded with ?

Bradinham. Some of them came aboard fever:!
times, and he traded with them : But fome of
them came aboard when he was going away, and
he plundered them, and fent them afhore with.
out any Goods.

Mr, Coniers. What Countrymen were thofe L
ferved thus ?

Bradiubam. Alaboinetans : They had dealt with
him before confliderably. '

Mr. Coniers. How much did he take from

them ?
Bradinbam.,

Eight,

Mr. Coniers. How do you know that ?

Bradinham. 1 faw it told afterwards. We went
to Madagafcar afterwards, and by the Way met
with a Moorifh Ship, and took out of her feverl
Caiks of Butter, and other Things. ‘
Sh'MIP: Cowper. What were the Crew of this

ip |
Mr, . Ppoel, They are indi&ed for the Que-
dagh Merchant. Were all the Prifoners in that
Action ? You have given an Hiftorical Account
from the Beginning, that he was a meer Plun-
derer : But now you are to come: to the i
dagh, for which they are indicted ; go not bt-
yond it, |

Mr., Coniers, Look on the feveral Prifoners at
the Bar, and tell whether any of the Prifoners
were at the Taking of the Quedagh Meychant.

Cl of Arr. Was William Kidd there at theTime
the Ship was taken 2

About Five Hundred Pieces of

Bradimhe,
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adinham. Yes.
g;ﬂ 2?/1?‘? Was Nicholas Churchill there ?

subam. Y €S.
g; dgf}ifrr. Do you know Fames Howe 2 Was

Ye there
Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl of Arr. [Had he a Share?

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl, of Arr. Had Robert Lamley a Share? -

Bracinbam. Yes: He wasa Servant, and had
tut half a Share of the Money, and a whole
Share of the Goods. s

Cl. of Arr. William Fenkins, was he there, and
had a Share?

Bradinbam. Yes. |

Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, did you know what

had ¢
he];ﬁndfﬂbmzx. He had half a Share of the Mo-
ney, and a whole Share of the Goods.

Cl. of Arr. Hugh Parrot, what had he ?

Bradinbam. Half a Share.

Cl. of Arr. Had Richard Barlicorn a Share ?

Bradinbam. He had half a Share of Money,

nd a2 whole Share of Goods.
Cl, of Arr. Had Abel Owens any 2
Bradinbam He had half a Share,
Abel Owens, Had I any of it ?
Bicdinbam. You had it: You took it.
Cl. of Arr. What had Darby Mudlins 2
Beadinban  He had half a Share of the Mo-

ney, and a whole Share of the Goods. _
Mr. Coiniers. Now we have fully proved this

as to the Quedagh Merchant.
Dr. Newo.on.  When you came to Madagafear,

what was done there ? |

Bradinbam. There came a Canoo to us with
fome Englifh Men in her = they were formerly ac-
quainted with Captain Kidd, and they told him,
they had heard that he was come to take them,
and hang them.

Dr. Newton. Who were they ? '

Bradinram. T'hey belong’d to the Moco Frigate,

Mr. Coniers. Give a particular Account of that
Matrer

Bradinham. Whenwe came to Madagafcar, there
came a4 Canoo off to us.

Mr. Conrers. From whom ?

Bradinbam, From the Moco Frigate, Captain
Culliford was the Commander 3 and' there were
lome white Men in her, that had formerly been
acquainted with Captain Kidd 5 they heard that
he was come to take them, and hang them. He
told them it was no fuch thing, for he was as bad
5 they,

Mr. Coniers. Were they thought to be Pirates?

Bradinbam. They were {o,

Mr. Coniers. What was it that Captain Kidd
faid ?

Bradinham, He aflured them 1t was no fuch
thing ; and afterwards went aboard with them,
and {fwore to be true to them; and he took a
Cup of Bomboe, and f{wore to be true to them,
and affift them 3 and he affifted this Captain Cy/
iford with Guns, and an Anchor, to fic him to
Jea again.

L. C.B. Ward. How came

this? Was you aboard then?

Bradinbam, 1 was aboard then, and I heard the
Words.

Dr. Newtonr, Were any of the Goods divided
2t Mﬂdﬂgﬂ ﬁ'ar e

you to know all
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Bradiubam. Yes.
Mr. Coniers. Now look on the Prifonersagain:

You fay, after he met with this Captain Culliford,
you went and had a Divifion made ; pray give
an Account of it.

Bradinbam. When we came to Madagafear,
Captain Kidd ordered the Goods to be carpied
afhore, and fhared ; and he had forty Shares
himfelf.

Cl. of Arr. Had Nicholas Churchill a Share?
Bradinbam. Yes,

Cl. of Arr. Had Fames Howe a Share?
Bradinhai, Yes.

Cl. of Arr, Had Robert Lamiey a Share ?
Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl.of Arr. Had Williain Fenkins a Share ?
Bradinhan. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Had Gabriel Loffe a Share ?
Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Had Hugh Parrot a Share?
Bradinbam. Yes.

Clof Arr. Had Richard Barlicorn a Share ?
Bradinham. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Had dbel Owens a Share?
Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Had Darby Mullins a Share?

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl.of drr. So that you fay, everyone of the
Prifoners at the Bar had a Share.

Bradinham. Yes.

Mr. Coniers, What became afterwards of the
Adventure Galley ?

Bradinbam. Shewas fo leaky, that fhe had two
Pumps going 3 and when fhe came to fhore,
they left her, becaufe the was not fit to go 1o
Sea again: And {o Captain Kidd went aboard che
Scuddee Merchant, and defigned to make a Man
of War of her.

Mr. Coniers. What is that Scuddee Merchant 2
Do you mean the Quedagh Merchant 2 '

Bradinbam. Yes,

L. C. B. Ward. What became of that Ship
afterwards ¢

Bradinkam, 1 left him at Madagafear, after the
Money and Goods were divided ; and can give
no Account afterwards.

Dr. Newton. But you fay, Capt. Kidd went
aboard the Quedagh,

Bradinbam. Yes.

Mr. Consers. My Lord, we have done as to
this Wicnefs 5 if they will afk any Thing they

may

Cl. of Arr. Will any of you afk him any Que-
ftions ¢

Kidd. He fays, when he went out firlt from
England, he went out of Plymouth in May, which
he did not; for we went in April, thercfore this
1s 2 Contradiion.

L.C.B. Ward, Mr. XKidd, if you will afk
him any Queftions, you may. Do you defire
he fhould be pofitive when you went from Ply-
motth 2

Bradinbam. It was about the Firft of May, my
Lord.

L. C. B. Ward, What Year?
Bradinbam, In the Year 1696.

Cl. of dArr. Nicholas Churchill, will you atk him
any Queftions?

Churchill. T would have went afhore at Carge

war, but the Captain would not let me,
L. C. B. Ward, 1t is proved, that you was I::t
the
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the taking of the Quedagh Merchant, and divid- Paffage to New-York, you took a Frénch Banker,

ing the Goods.
Churchill. Yes, my Lord 5 but [ could not help

it 1 was forced to do what the Captain ordered

me.
Cl of Arr. Fames Howe, will you afk him any

deﬁions ?

“Fames Howe, Have not 1 obeyed my Captain

' all his Commands ?
1.. C. B. Ward. There is no doubt made of

that. If any of you will afk him any Queftions,

you may.
Kidd. Did you not fec any French Pafies aboard

the Quedagh Merchait ¢
Bradinban. You told me you had Fremch Paf-

fess 1 never did fee them.

Kidd. Did you never declare this to any body,
that you faw thefe French Pafles:

Bradinbam. No, I never did fee any 5 but I
only faid, I licard you fay you had them.

Churchill. Had I any Share ¢

Bradinbam., Yes.

Churchill. How will you prove that?

Yenkins, My Lord, 1 afk him, Whether I was
not a Servante

L. C. B. Ward. Afk the Witnels what Que-
ftions you will.

Bradinhem. My Lord, he was a Servant.

L. C.B.Ward. Who was he Servant to ¢

Bradinbam. To George Bullen.

Fenkins, My Lord, I beg you will examine my
Indenture, for I haveit in my Pocket; I had no-
thing aboard that Ship, but what my Mafter had.

Bradinbam. But you had a Share of the Goods:
I cannot tell whether your Malter had 1t after-
wards.

Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, have you any Quefti-

on to afk him ¢

Gab. Loffz. 1 have nothing to fay to him, but
to atk him, Whether I did ever difobey my
Captain®s Commands, or was any ways mutinous
on board the Ship?

Bradinbam. No, I cannot f{ay you did.

Cl. of Arv. Hugh Parrot, do you alk him any
Queftions?

Parrot. No.

Cl.of Arr. Richard Barlicorn, do you afk him
any more Queitions?

Barlicorn. 1 afk him, Whether I was not the
Captain’s Servant !

1. C.B. Ward. Yes, he fays you was.

Cl.of Arr. Abel Owens, will you afk him any
Queftions?

Owens. I have nothing to fay 3 but depend
upon the King’s Proclamation.

Cl. of Arr. Darby Mullins, have you any Que-
ftions to ufk him?

Mullins. My Lord, he knows I had nothing
but what Captain Kidd was pleafed to give me.

L.C. B.Ward. Was he a Servant to Captain
Kidd, orno ¢ *

Bradinbaw. He had a half Share of Money,
and a whole Share of Goods.

Mr. J. Powel. What was the Reafon fome had
whole Shares, and fome half Shares?

Bradinhasn, Some were able Seamen, and fome
Landmen or Servants, There were in all one
hundred and fixty Shares, whereof Capt. Kidd had

and that he condemnes! her at New-2ork,

Bradinbam. Yes.

Mr. Cowper. Did he offer 1o carry any othe
Ships he took, to he condemned ?

Bradinbam. No, Sir, never:

Mr. Conicrs. Call Fofeph Palmer. (IFho appeared.
Mr. Palmer, givemy Lord, and the Jury, an Ac.
count, whether you were one of the Men thy;
went with Capt. Kidd in the Addventure-Gally,

Palner. Yes, 1 was, '

Mr. Coniers. Then give an Account when yoy
left England 3 and of your Proccedings in you
Voyage,

Palincr. About the Laft of Api/, or the Benis.
ning of May, 1696, we went out of Phyinsu) to
New-2vik, and by the Way took a Fiench Banker,
And in Fuly we came to New-2ork.  About the
6th of February we went to Maderas.

Mr. Conicrs, When you were at New-1erk, wis
there any Publication of any Thing, to invi
Men to come in to Captain Kidd ¢

Palmer. Yes, there were Articles {et up for Mey
to come aboard Caprain Kidd’s Ship: He was o
have forty Shares for his Ship, and every Mu
was to have a Share 5 and they were to give hin
fix Pounds a Man for their Arms.

Mr. Coniers. How many Men was s Con.
plement ?

Palmer. When we came from New-2ord, ha
had between one hundred and fifty and one hup-
dred and fixty Men,

Mr. Conicrs. Give an Account what you dil
after this : Whither did you go then ?

Palmer, We went from New-2ork to Madera,
and from thence to Bonaviff, and there we tonk
in Salt; and from thence we went to §t. Fapo, and
there we bought Provifions; and from thenc
we went to Madagafear.  When we were not fir
from the Cape of Good Hape, he met with Capr.
Warren, with three Sail of Men of War beflide.
himfelf 3 there was the Tyger, and the King fifhi,
and another Ship 5 and Capt. Kidd kept them
Company about three or four Days, and after
that went to Madagafear, and fome timein Febrs-
ary arrived there 5 and there we watered and vi-
Ctualled. We came to Melabar about the Firltof
Fune, Then we went to Foanna, and from thence
to Makala y and from thence to Foanua agan:
And then we met with {ome fndiain Merchants;
fo we watered the Ship there, and did them no
Harm : And from thence we went to Mabale,
where Caprain Kidd graved his Ship. We had 2
great Sicknefs in the Ship, and lometimes we
loft four or five Men in a Day. And afterwards
we went to Feanita again, and there came aboard
feveral Freunch Men ard feveral Englifh Men that
had loft their Ship. Thofe Freinch Men lont
Captain Kidd fome Morney to mend his Ship.
And after cthis, we came to a Place called Adeé-
beey in the Red-Sea, and took in Watsr, anl
Guinea Corn, that he took from the Natives: Ard
from thence we went to Babs-Key.

Mr, Coniers. What Time was it that you came
to that Babs-Rey ¢

Palmer. In fuly, 1097,

Mr.Coniers. Now pray tell uswhat paffed there?

Palmer. When Capt. Kidd came to Babs-Kd,

forty 5 and fome of the Men had whole Shares, he ftay>d there about three Weeks.

and fome only half Shares.

Mr. Cowper. You told us at firft, thatin your the Reafon of it.

3

Mr. Coniers. Why did you ftay there? Tell us

Palmer
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Paler. 1 heard him fay, Come Boys, I will
obe Money enoughout of that Fleet.

My, Conzers. Out of what Fleet?

Pafimer. The Mocea Fleet, 'When we cameto
the Key, heordered fome of his Men to look out
as Spies.  He fent his Boat three times to make
1 Difcovery, and he gave them Orders, either to
-akea Prifoner, or to get an Account what Ships
lay there. And theBoat went twice, and brought
no News 3 but the third time they brought Word,
dhat there were fourteen or fifteen Ships lying
there ready to fail 5 fome of them had Euglifh
Colours, fome Dutch Colours, and fome Adogr-
ifb Colours 5 and there was a great Ship with red
Colours, with her Fore-top-fail loofe, ready to
fil. And Captain Kidd ordered his Men to
rake Care thefe Ships did not pafs by in the
Night.

Mr. Coniers. You fay, he order’d his Men to
watch this Fleet: How did he order them?

Palmer. He order’d them by a 1.aft in their
Turns, to look out for the coming of this Fleet :
And fo after four or five Days the Fleet came
down in an Evening, about the t4th or 15th of
Angaf: The next Morning Caprain Kidd went
afrer them, and he fell into the Midft of the
Fleet, and there was a Dutch Convoy, and an
Enslifh one among them. He went into the
Midft of the Fleet, and fired a Gun after a
Meorifh Ship, and the two Men of War fired at
us, but did no Harm, for they did not reach us,
So we left the Fleet, and from thence went to
Carawar.

Mr. Confers. 'Tell what paffed there.

Palmer. Then we met with a fmall Veflel be-
longing to Aen.

Mr, Coniers. What Country did itbelong to ?

Palwer. Black People, only there wasone Tho-
was Parker, and a Portugucze, Don ntonio, on
Board.

Mr. Coniers. Was he the Commander of the
Ship?

Paolmer. Tcannot tell.

Mr. Coniers. What did Captain Kidd do with
this Ship ¢

Palicr, He took this Parker for a Pilot, and
the Portugueze for Linguilter.

Mr. Couiers. What do youmean by that Word
Linguifter ?

Palmer. An Interpreter, to {peak Spanifh and
Poirtugueze,

Mr. Conicrs. Did hetake any Thing out of the
Ship befides the Men?

Paliicr. He ook a Bale of Pepper, and aBale
of Coffee, and let the Ship go. But after this
we went to Carawar,

Mr. Coniers, Before you let the Ship go, how
were the Men ufed by him?

.Pﬂfﬁft:‘i’. He ordered fome of the Men to be
hoifted up by their Arms, and drubb’d with a
naked Cutlafs: T'hey were laid with their Hands
backward,

Mr. Coniers. When they were hoifted up, give
i Account how they were ufed, and for what
Reafon,

Palmer. They were beat with a naked Cutlafs,
to make them difcover what Money was aboard.

Mr. Coniers, What was the next Thing?

Palmer, He took out this Parker for a Pilot,and
Aitanio, the Portugueze, for a Linguiter. I heard

there was Money taken, but I did notfee it.
VoL V,
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pretend him{elf che Caprain,

™
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Mr. Coniers. What did he do with thofe Men ?

Paler. He kept them as the other Men were
kept. ‘

Mr. Conzers. Was there any Demand made of
thefe Men?

Palzer. When we cameto Caiawar, the Fao.
ry demanded them, and he denied them.

M. Coniers. What Fatory 1s this ?

Palmer. An Englifh Faltory. There wereone
Harvey and Major came to demand thefe Men.

Mr. Conieis, And what faid Captain Kidd 1o
them ?

Palyer, Hedeny’d that he had any fuch Men;
and he kept them in the Hold, I believe, 2
Week.  Several of his Men would have left him
it they could.

Mr. Coniers. What did he do after this?

Palmer. He putto Sea, and met' with a Poru.

greze Man of War, and fought her : He engaged

her five or fix Hours,andatterwards lefther, and
then he bought fome Hogs of the Natives, Af-
ter he went from this Cargwar, he wentto Ports,
and took in fome IHogs there. And then went
to the Ifland of Maladar, and watered his Ship;
and his Cooper wentathore, and the Natives cut
his Throat.  And after this Capt. Kidd fent fome
Men afhore, and order’d them, thac if they
fhould meet any of the Nattves, they fhould kill
em, and plunder ’em.

Mr. Coniers. Go on, Sir,

Palmer. After that they went to the Coaft of
Malabar again, and in Novewber met with a Ship,
and took her: One Schirper Mitchel was the
Commander; fhe was a Mo: ifh Ship. RN

M. Coniers, \What becameot her?

Palmer. Capt. Kidd carried her to Madgzafiar.
~ Mr. Coniers. What Go~ds were in her?

Palmer. There were two Horles, and ten Bales
of Cotton, that he fold to the Natives,

Mr. Coniers. Did he fend for any aboard at this
Time ¢

Palier. There was a Frenchnan that was to
He took her under
Freieh Colours, and haled her in French 5 and this
Monfieur /¢ Ry was to pafs for Captain, and he
{hewed his Ereuch Pals, and--

Mr. Coniers. Givean Account of his perfonating
the Captain.  Whoorder’d him fo to do?

Palmer. Capt. Kiddorder’d himfo to do 5 and
they haled him in French, and he came aboard,
and he had a French Pafs,  And then Capt, Kidd
told him, he was Captain.

Mz. Conicrs. And he took the Ship ?

Palmer. Yes, theCotton and Horfes, and fold
them afterwards.

Mr. Confers, Whither went you next?

Palmer. We coafted about the Coaft of Ma-

labar,

Mr, Coniers. Did you meet with any Boats
there ?

Palmer. Yes, feveral.

Mr. Coniers. What did you do with them?

" Palmer, Capt. Kidd robb’d and plunder’d them,
and turned them adrift again.

Mr. Coniers, What was the next Thing you
did ?

Palmer. About the Firlt of Fannary we met
with a Portugueze Ship.

Mr. Coniers. Where?

Paluer. On the fame Coaft we took her,

Mr. Coniers. Whatdid youdo with that Ship?
Rr Palmer,
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Palmer. He kept her a Week, and took out M. Cowiers. Who ordered the Goods to e
two Chefts of Indian Goods, and thirty Jars of hoifted out and fhared ¢ Who ordered that ?
Butter, and a Tun of Wax, and half a Tun of Palmer. At the Beginning I was not there.

Tron, and an hundred Bags of Rice. Mr. Coniers, Who ordered 1t ?
Mr. Coniers. Did you take thofe Goods you  Paliner. Capt, Kidd: And moft of the Gogy;
mentioned ? were afhore bzfore I came back 5 and before |

Palmer. Yes, and carried themaboard the 4d-  cameback, he had hisShare, and moftofthe reft.
venture Galley. Mr. Canf{rs. How many of the Prifonersag the
Mr. Coniers. What was the next Ship youmet  Bar had their Share of the Goods?
with ? Palmer. All thefe Men. .
Pabmer, The Quedagh Merchant, | | Cl. of Arr. Whofe Shares were divided to they
L..C.B.Ward. Be very plain and particular in - before you went away ¢
this, and how fhe was taken; for chisis theShip  Palmer. Nonc; but only they were prepareg
in the Indi€tment, and for taking which the Pri-  in order to be divided.

{oners are tried. L. C.B. /ard. Did you hear any of them fay,
Palmer. About the Laft of Famuary hewasta-  they had any Shares. '
ken : | wasnot then aboard the Galley, for then  Palmer. Yes, Hugh Parvot, and Gabriel Lof;,
J was aboard the Novewmber, and was ordered to Cl. of Arr. What fay you to William Kidd ?

oet Water.  After three or four Days I went Did he own he had any Share?

aboard; but I was not aboard at the Time {he Palmer. No.

was taken. About three or four Days after, I Cl. of Arr. IDid you hear Nicholas Churchil! fay
faw her, and Capt. Kidd wasaboard ; and I be- he had any ?

lieve there were taken out of her Goodsto theVa- Palmer. No, T did nots I cannot fay, I heard
lue of ten or twelve Thoufand Pounds; which them fay fo.

were fold, fome before they were putafhore, and Cl.of Arr. Did you hear Gadriel Loffe and Hug)
fome after. Parrot fay, they had any Shares ?

Mr. Coniers. To whom were they fold ? Palm:r. Yes, 1 heard them fay fo.
Palmer. To the Banians. Capt, Kidd kept the Mr. Coniers. Whither did you proceed next ?
Seamen to help to fail the Ships. Palimer. We left Capt. Kidd there; 1 went no
L. C. B. Ward. What became of the Money further with him.
the Goods were fold for 2 Mr. Conzers. T alk you, Whether you met with
Palmer. It was {hared., any Ships befides what you mentioned ?
L. C. B. Ward, What Share had the Cap- Palmer. W hen we came to Madagafear, inths
tain ? fatter end of April, or beginning of May, 1696,
Palmer. He had forty Shares. there was a Ship call’d, The Refolution, whichwas
Cl. of Arr. What Share had William Kidd ? formerly call’d The Maoco Frigate s feveral of the
Palmer. He had forty Shares, Men came off to Capt. Kidd, and told him, they
C!. of Arr. In Goods, or Money ? heard hecameto take, and hangthem., He l'aiJ,
Palmer. In both Goods and Money. that it was no fuch Thing, and that he would
Cl. of Arr. Look upon Nich, Churchill 5 what do them all the Good he could. And Captain
had he ? Culliford came aboard of Capt, Kidd, and Cap.
Palmer. He had near two Hundred Pounds of  Kidd went aboard of Culliferd.
each, which was a Man’s Share. M, Conters. Who was that Culliford ?
Cl. of Arr. Look upon Fames Howe s Had he  Palmer. The Captainof the Ship.  And on the
any Share ? Quarter-deck they made fome Bomboo, and
Palmer. Yes, a whole Share, drank together; and Capt. Kidd faid, Before]

Cl.of Arr. Had Robert Lamley any Share? would do youany Harm, Iwould have my Sou!
Palmer. He had half a Share of the Money, fry in Hell-fire ;5 and withed Damnation to him-

and a whole Share of the Goods. felf feveral nimes, if hedid. And he took the

Cl. of Arr. Williain Yenkins, Had he any Cup, aud withed that mighe be hislaft, if he did
Share ? not do them all the Good he could.

Palmir. He had halfa Share of the Money, Mr. Powel. Did you take thefe Men to be Pi-
and a whole Share of the Goods. rates?

Cl. of Arr, FHad Gabriel Loffe any Share? Palmer, They were reckoned {o.

Palmer. He had half a Share of the Money,  Dr. Newton. Did Captain Kidd make Cullifer
and a whole Share of the Goods, any Prefents?

Mr. Coniers. Why had they no more? Palmer. Yes, he had four Guns of him.

Palmer. They were Land-men. Dr. Newton, Of whom?

Cl.of Arr. Hugh Parrot, Had he any ? Palmer. OfF Captain Kidd; he prefented him

Palmer. He had a whole Share, with them.

ClL of Arr. Had Richard Barlicorn any  Mr, Powel. Was there not a Prefent on the
Share ? other Side?

Palmer, He had half a Share, Paler. 1 believe there was, I have heard fo;

Cl.of Arr. Had Abel Qwens any ? Iheard Culliford fay, 1 have prefented Captam

Palmer. He had a whole Share, Kidd to the Value of four or five FHundred

Cl.of Arr. Had Darby Mullins any Share ? Pounds.

Palmer. He had o whole Share, Mr. Cotwper. Were thefe Kindneffes done t©

Mr. Coniers. What became of the reft of the  Culliford, after Culliford’s Men faid, they heard
(Goods. Capt. Kidd came to hang them?

Palmer. "They were carried to Madagafcar. Palmer, Yes.

Mr, Cou-
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given thele Ships to them again, but you would
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M. Cowper. What did Captain Kidd do after

that not; you all voted againtt it.
Palmer. He went aboard the Qwedagh Mer- Palmer. This Man (pointing to the Armenian,
chant. that was in Court) offered you twenty thonfand
Mr. Cowper. What did he do with his own  Rupees for the Ship, and you refu‘ed it.
Ship? Kidd. Did notTafk, Where wili you carry chis

Ship? And you faid, we will mikea Prize of
her s we will carry her to Madagajcar.

Palmer, Says Caprain Kidd to his Men, Thefe
Arineniains make fuch a Noile for the Ship, that
I muft fay, my Menwill not part with her 5 but
there was not a quarter Part of the Men con-
cerned 1n it.  The Armenians came crying and
wringing their Hands: Upon which, fays Capr.
Kidd, T mult fay, my Men will not give them
the Ship.  And fo fome of the Men went on the
‘ore-caftle, and pretended, they would not give
them the Ship; but there was not a quarter Part
ot the Men concerned 1n it.

L.C. B. Ward. Did thole Goods belong to
Frenchien, or Arincitans £

Palmer. 'To Arinenians.

Paliner. She was leaky, and he left her.

Mr. Cowwper. Did hecarry, orattempt to carry,
any of the Ships he took, in order to condemn
them, befides that French Banker ¢

Palwer, He never did, nor talked of any fuch
thing,

1,.C.B. Ward. Mr. Kidd, Will you afk this
Witneis anv Queftions?
ndd T aflk him, Whether I had no French

Pafles?
Palmer. Indeed, Captain Kidd, I cannot tell. [

did hear him fay, that he had French Pafles, but
[ never faw them.

L. C.B. I7ard. Thofe Goods that were taken
out of the Quedagh Merchant, whole Goods were

they fuppofed tobe ?

Patmer. The Armenian Merchants. 1 have
heard Capt. Kidd fay {everal times, he had French
Pafics.

Kidd. And did you hear no Body elfe fo fo?

Peliier. No.

Clof dir. Churehill, Will you afk any Que-
ftions !

Churchill. My Lord, 1 have no Queftions to
afk him.

Cl. of Avr. Fames Howe, Will youafk him any
Quettions ?

7, Hrwe. No.

Cl. of A, Robert Lamley, Will you afk him
any Queftions ?

R. Lasly. No.

Cl.of drr. William Fenkins, Will you afk him
any Queftions?

Willign Feakins. Had T half a Share ?

Palmer. You received half a Share of Money,
and a2 whole Share of Goods.

Will. Feakins. Youknow that I was a Servant,
and had nothing in this Voyage but what my
Mafter had.

Cl.of Ary. Gabiiel Leffe, Will you afk him
any Queftions ?

Gabriel Loffe. No.

Cl.of Avv. Hugh Paiiot, Vil you afk him
any Queftions ¢

Hugh Paivot. No.

Clof Arv. Richard Railicorn Wil youafk him

any thing ?

T

L.C.B. Ward, What was that Pretence of a
French Pafls that was on Board the Quedagh Adey-
chant 2

Palmer. 1 faw none,

Kidd. But you have heard of ir.

Palner. 1 have heard of ir, but never faw

| L.C.B. Ward. Mr. Kidd, have you any more to

fay? You fpeak of a Commiffion that you had ;
you may have it read if you pleafe,

Kidd 1 defire to have them both read.
L.C.B. Ward. Yus, they fhall,

Then his Commiflion of Reprifals upon the
French was read.

[ L LIAM the Third, by the Grace of

God, of IEngland, Scotland, France and
Ireland, Ki-g, Defeuder of the Faith, &c. Wihere-
as I77¢ bave taken into Quy Confidoration the Iin-

juries, Spoils, and Afts of Hoftility committed by

the ¥rench King and bis Subjctis, uinto, ard upor
the Ships, Goods, and Perfons of our Subjells ex-
tending to their pricvons Damages, and ainsunting
10 great Sums 5 and that notwithlianding the many

and frequent Demands inade for Rediefs and Repa-

ration, yet none conld ever be obtain’d : 1Ve did

thevefore, with the Advice of our Privy Council,
think fity and ordered, That general Reprizals be

Richard Barlicorn. No.
Cl of Arr. AbclOwens, Will you afk him any
thing ?

graited againft the Ships, Goods, and Subjells of
the French King 5 fo that as well Our Fleets and
Ships, as alfo all orher Ships and V2(icls, that fhall

Abel Cwens, No.

Cl.of Adrr. Daiby Mullins, Will youafk imany
thing ?

Darby Mulfins, No.

Ridd. It is in vain to afk any Queftions,

L.C.B. Ward, Then you may make yourown
Defence. Come, Mr. Kidd, what have you to fay
In your own Defence ?

Kidd. 1 had 2 Commiflion to take the French,
and Pirates 5 and in order to that, I came up with
two Ships, that had French Paffes both of them.
I called you all a Deck to confule; And did not
& great many of the Men go aboard? Did not

You go? You know, Mr. Paliner, 1would have
Vo, V.

be Commiffioned by Letters of Merque, or geucrel
Reprizalsy, or otherwife, fbell or may lawfully
feize, and take all Ships, Velfels, and Gosds be-

longing to the French Kiug, or bis Sulyofis, or lu-

habitants within any of the Territorics of the French
King : And fuch other Ships, V:l:ls, and Geods, as
are, or fball be Liable to Confijcation, and bring
the fame to Fudginent in onr High Ceurt of Ad-
siraly of England, or fuch other Conrt of Ad-
uirvalty as fhall be lawfully Autoorized in that

behalf, according to the ufual Conrfe and Laws of

Natons,  dnd swhereas William Kidd 7s thought

fitly qualificdy and bath Equipped, Furnifbed, and

Victualled a Ship called, 'The Adventure Galley,
Rrz2

of
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of the Burthen of about T 10 gvfsf:d:'ez? e:'g/:?ty-jé*ve:;
Tyns, whereof the faid Willam Kidd is Com-
nander.  And whereas be the foid William Kidd
bath given Security with Sureties by Bond to Us,
iu Our faid High Court of Adsirally, accord-
ing to the Effelt and Form fet down in certain
Inftrultions niade the fecond Day of May, Ou
thoufand 8ix hundred Ninety-three, and in the Fifth
Year of our Reign, a Copy whereof 15 given to the
faid Captain William Kidd. Kuew ye therefore
that We, by thefe Prefents, grant C oimiffion 1o,
aud do Licenfe and duthorize the faid William
Kidd o for forth in warlike Manner the faid Ship
calPd, The Adventure Galley, ander bis own
Conmand. and thercwith by Force of Arms to Ap-
prebend, Seize, and Take the Ships, Velfels, and
Goods belonging to the French Kiig and bis Sub-
sedls, or Inbabitants within the Domintons of the
[aid French King, and fuch other Ships, Veffels,
and Goeds, as arey or [ball be lisble to Confifca-
tion, and fo bring the fame to fuch Port as fhall
be moft convenient, in order to have them legally
adjudged in Our High Court of Admirally, or
firch other Court of Admirally as foall be lawfully
Authorized it that bebalf s which being Condenn-
ed, it fhall and may be lawful for the faid Wila
liam Xidd, to fell and difpefe of fuch Ships,
Velfels, and Goods, fo adjudgea and condemned, in
fuch fort and mann.v as by the Courfe of ddmiralty
hath been accuftomed (except in fich Cafes where
it is otherwife dircGed by the faid Infrutions and
the Aft of Parliament thereunto amexed.) Provi-
ded akways, that the faid William Kidd teep an
exaft Fournal of bis Proceedings, and therein par-
ticularly take Notice of all Prizes which fhall be

taken by bim, th* Nature of fuch Prizes, the Tines

and Places of thar being taken, and the Values of

them, as near as be can judge 5 as alfo of the Sta-
tion, Motion and Strength of the Eneany, as well
as be or bis Mariuers can difcover by the beft In-
selligence be can get 5 and alfo whatfocver elfe fhall
come unto him, s any of bis Qfficers, or Mariners,
or be difcovered o declared wito bime or  them, or
found ont by Exemination, or Conference with any
Mariucrs or Paffeugers of, or in any of the Ships
or Vellils taken, or by any other Perfon, or Perfons,
or by any other IVays or Means whatfoever touch-
ing or concerning the Defigns of the Eneny, or a-

ny of their Fleets, Veffels, or Parties, and of

theiy Stationsy Ports, and Places, and of their In-
rents thevetn 5 and of whot Merchant Ships or
Vellels of the Enemy’s bound out, or bome, or fo
ony other Place, as be, or his Officers, or Ma-
riners fhall hear of, and what elfe material i
thofe Cafes may arrive to bis, or therr Kngio-
ledge 5 of all which be fball from Time to Ttine,
as be fhall, or may bave Opportunity, tranfiit an
Aecount to onr Commiffioners for exccuting 1he
Office of Lord High-Admiral of England, o
their Secretavies, and 1o kecp a Correfpondence
qwith them by all Opportunities that foall prefent.
Aid further Provided, That nothing be done by
the faid William Kidd, or any of bis Qfficers,
Mariners, or Company, contrary the true Meai-
ing of Our aforefaid Inflruftions 5 but that the
faid Inftrutions fhall be by them, and each and
cvery of them, as far asthey, orany of them are
therein concerw’d, in all Particlars well and
duly perform’d and obferved.  dnd<we pray and de-
Jfire all Kings, Princes, Potentates, Eftates, and
Republicks, being our Friends and Alliesy and all

3

of Captain William Kidd, 13Will III,

others to whom it fball appertain, to give the fai]
William Kidd all A4id, Affiftance and Succoy;
in their  Ports with bis [aid Ship, Company ayg
Prizes, withont doing , or fufferiug to be done,
10 bim any Wrong, Trouble or Hindrance 5 Iy,
offering to do the like, when e fball be by they
thereunto defired.  nd We will and require q)f
Our swn Officers whatfiever, to give hii Succony
and Affiffance as Oceafton fhall require.  This Quy
Commiffion to continue in force till farther Orde
to the comtrary from Us, or Qur Commiffisuer;
for exccuting the Offiwe of Lord ligh-Admiral
of England. I Witnefs whcreof We have cay-
fed the Great-Seal of Our High Court of Adi.
ralty of Yngland to be berennto afized.  Given
at London the Eleventh Day of Deceinber, i
the Year of Our Lord, One thoufand Six hun.

dred Ninety-five, and in the Seventh Year of
Our Reign.

Orraxpo GrEe, Ry,

Mr. J. Powel, Capt. Kidd, Can you make it
appear there was a Irench Pals aboard the Qe
dagh Merchant.

il Kidd My Lord, thefe Men fay, They
heard feveral fy fo.

Mr. Coniers. But all came from you.

L. C.B. Ward. If there was a French Pats in
the Ship, you ought to have cendemned her as

Prize.

Then his other Commiffion was read for Crus-
{ing agamnfl the Pirates.

WILLIAM K

[ LLIAM IIL By the Groee of Goo,

King of England, Scotland, France,
aid Treland, Defender of the Iaith, &c. To O
trufly and <well-belrved Captain. William  Kidd,
Coimmander of the Ship Adventure Galley, or &
aiy othery the G simmander for the Time beii2,
Greeting,  Whereas [Ve are inforiazd, That Cap-
tain Thomas Too, John Ireland, Capiain Tho-
mas Wake, and Captain William Maze, o
Mace, and other Our Subjedts, Natives, o Ii-
babitents of New-England, New-York, aid
elfewbere, in Our Plantations in fimerica, biw
dffaciated themfelves with divers other wickd and
ill-difpofed Peifons, and do, againft the Law
Nations, daily commit many and great Piracicsy
Robberies, and Depredations upon the Seas in 1
Parts of America, end in other Parts, 1o 1k
vreat Hindrance and Difeonragement of Trade and
Navigation, and to the Danger and Hurt of Or
lwving Subjets, Our Allies, and all others Ne-
vigating the Seas upon their lawful Occafions :
Now Know Ye, That Ve being defirous to pre-
vent the aforefaid Mifchicfs, and, as far as
Us lies, to bring the faid Pirates, Free-Bookers
and Sea-Rovers to Fuftice, have thought fil, and
do bereby Give and Grant unto you the ﬁiﬂf
Captain William Kidd ( 0 whem Our Commif-
Soners for Exercifing the Office of Our Lord
High-ddmiral of England, bave Granted a Cow
miffion as a private Man of War, bearing Dik

the Eleventh Day of December, Onz t/,?anﬁﬁfd
Six
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giv bundred and_Ninety-five) and anto the Cons-
ander of the faid Ship, for the Time being, and
to the Officers, Mariners, and otbers, who
Joall bz under your G ammm:d_, full  Power fmd
nhority, 1o Apprebend, Seize, and Take into
oo Cuftody, as well the fzz{d Captain Thomas
“Too, John II’F]I}Hd, Captain Thomas Wake,
aind Captain. William Maze, or Mace, as afl
fuch Pirates, P}'fe-Bam‘c:r.f, and Sea-Rovers, be-
ng cither Our own Subjeéts, or of any other Na-
tions affociated with them, which you fhall et
o the Coaft or Seas of America, or in any o-
ther Seas, o Portsy, with their Ships and Vef-
fels, and alfo fuch Merchandizes, Money, Goods, and
Wares, as fball be found on Board, or <with them,
in cafe they fhall willingly yield themfelves : But if
they will not fubmit without Fighting, then you are
by Force to conipel them to yield. — And Ve do alfo
require you 10 bring, or caufe to be brought, fuch
Pirates, Free-Booters, and Sea-Rovers, as you fhall
fiize, 10@ lezal Trials to the Eud they may be
preceeded againft according fo Law in fuch Cafes.
And Ve do hereby charge, and command all Our
Offcers, Minifters, and other Our loving Sub-
jeéfs whatfocvery to be Aiding and Affiffing to you
it the Premifes.  And awe do bereby enjoyn you to
kiep an exall Fournal of your Proceeding in the
Exeention of the Premifes, and therin to fet dowis
the Names of fuch Pirates, and of their Qfficers
and Company, and the Names of fuch Ships and
Vellels as you fhall by virtue of thefe Prefents feize
and take, and the Quantities of Arms, Asniuni-
tion, Provifion, and Loading of fuch Ships, and
the true Value of the [anc, a5 near as you cay
judee. And we do bereby friétly charge, and
command you, as you fhall anfwer the fame at your
utmaft Peril, That you do not in any manncr of-
foud, or moleft any of Our Friends or Allies,
h.ar Ships, or Subjefis, by Colour or Pretence of
tinfe Prefentsy, or the Authority thereby Granted,
In Witnefs whercof, /7e have caufed Our Great-
Sl of England o be affixed to 1hefe Prefeuts.
Gtvenat Our Court at Kenfingten, the Twenty-
fixth Day of Faunary, One thoufand Six hun-

dred Ninety-five, in the Seventh Year of Our
Reign.

L.C. B. Ward. Now you have had the Com-
miffions read, What do you excufe your felf
by ? What Ufe do you make of them to jultify
or defend your {elf 2

Will. Kidd, About this Quedagh Merchant.

L. C.B. Ward. What, would you have her a
French Ship ?

Kidd. Undera French Commiflion, The Ma-
fter was 2 Tavern-keeper at Suratt: Do not you
know that, Mr. Palmer ?

Paliner. 1 was not on board when this Pafs
came 5 I never faw it.

L. C. B. #/ard. But then you fhould have con-
demned this Ship, if fhe had been a French Ship,
or had a French Pafs.

Kidd. The Evidence fays, Itwasby my Order
that the Goods were taken ours I was not at
the fharing of the Goods, I knew nothing of it.

L.C.B. Ward. Ourt of the Goods that were
taken, fome were fold in the Country there, and
the Produce of them was fo much Money ; it is
proved, That thar Money wasdivided ; and purs
fuant to the Articles fet up, you were to have
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forty Shares, and the reft of the Men whole, or
half Shares, as they deferved.  Now this Money
both thefe Men fwear it was taken by you : And
the firlt fwears, That the Goods not fold then,
that remained in the Ship, were alfo divided, and
that you had forty Shares of them: And the o-
ther fays, He did not fee the Goods divided, but
two of the Men acknowledged it

Kidd. My Lord, this Frenchinai was aboard
five or fix Days before I underftood there was a-
ny Lnglifmen aboard. Well, fud [, What are
you? An Zuglifiman, Iam Mafter, 'What have
you to fhew for it ? Nothing fays he. When
they fee a French Pafs, they will not let the Ship
g0.

Mr. J. Powel. You have produced Letters Pa-
tengs that impowered you totake Pirates; Why
did you not take Culliford ?

Kidd, A great many of the Men were gone a-
fhore.

Mr. J. Powel. But you prefented him with
Great Guns, and fwore you would not meddle
with them.

L. C B. Ward. When the Queltion was put,
Are you come to take us, and hang us? You an-
fwered, T will fry in Hell before I will do you
any Harm.

Aidd. ‘That is only what thefe Witnefes fay.

(]é_,. C. B Ward. Did you not go aboard Culli-

ora ¢
/ Kidd. T was not aboard Culliford.

L.C.B. Waird, Thefe T bings prefs very hard
upc you  wWe ought to let you know what is
obferved, that you may make your Defence as
well as you can.

Kidd. 1 defire Mr. Davis m.. b cilled
was called accordingly, and appeared.) .70
pray give an account wheihier you did ncu :o-
french Pafs?

L. C.B. Ward. Youare his Witnefs 5 you ..mfl
an{wer whart he afks you.

Mr. Davis. Ieamea Palfenger from Madagafiar,
and from thence to Amboyna, and there he fent
his Boat afhore, ard this Man was athore; and
there was one faid, Capt. Kidd was puolithed
a Pirate in Englan!; and he gave thoi: Pafies to
him to read. The Capuiin faid, they were
French,

L. C. B. 2Vard. Who gave them ?

Mr. Davis. Capt. Kidd gave them.

L C B Ward. Did you know any Thing of
taking the Quedagh Merchant 2

Mr. Davis. No, no.

L. C. B. Ward. Then you cannot fay, they
have any relation to the Quedagh Merchant.

Mr. Davis. No, not L

Kidd. You heard Capt. Elms fay, They were
Freach Pafles,

Mr. Davis. Yes, I heard Capt, Elns fay, They
were French Pafles.  Says he, if you will, I can
turh them into Latin.

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. Have youany more to fay,
Capt. Kidd,

Kidd. 1 have fome Papers, but my Lord Bella-
mont keeps them from me, thatl cannot brisg
them before the Court.

CL of Arr. Have you any more to fay?

Kidd. T have fome to call, that will bear
Teftimony to my Reputation.

L. C. B. Ward. Call whom you pleafe, we will
not abridge you,

idd.
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Kidd Call Mr. Bradinham. 1 defire this of
hiny, whether he never faw the Frenh Palles,

and whether he did not tell Col. Bafs fo?
Bradinham. T never faw a French Palss T only

heard fo. |
Col. Bafs, 1 have heard Mr. Bradivbam fay,

He heard Capt. Kidd fay, he had French Pafles on
Board; but I never heard him fay, he faw them

Pafies.
Kidd. He jult now denied that he ever faw the

French Palles, or heard of them.

L.C.B. Ward. He fays {o now, that he never
faw them, only he heard you fay fo. Col. Bafs,
have you heard him fay the Pafles related to the

Quedagh Merchant ¢ )
Col. Bafs. He has often faid, he heard Kidd fay

the French Paffes were aboard. |
Cl.of Arr. Have you any more Witnefles to

call ?

Kidd. T defire Mr, Say may be ealled @ Helis in
the Prifon, I defire he may be fent for.

L. C. B. Ward. We will give you all the liber-
ty you can expect. If you have any more, you
were beft call them all together.  In the mean
time, what fay you, Churchill ?

Churchill. 1 defire Col, Bafs may be called, and
that this Afhidavit may be read.

L. C.B. /Fard. Col. Bafs, what have you to

fay for N, Churchill ?
Col. Bafs. My Lord, I only wait for his

Qucltion.
L.C.B.7Ward. Churchil!, What will you afk

Col. Bafs ¢
Churchill. Whether I did not furrender my

flf to him,

L.C.B. Ward. If you can make your Cafe
come within the Proclamation, you muft make
it appear, that you furrendered according to the
Dircétions of it.

Churchill. My Lord, we camie in, in the Year
1699, and furrendered our felves to Col, Bafs.

L. C. B. I7ard. If you can make it appear that
you furrendered your felves in purfuance of that,
to the Perfons appointed to receive your Surren-
der, that will be fomewhat to the Point ; but Col.
Fafs had not Power by that Proclamation to re-
ccive your Surrender; and therefore you cannot
have any Benefit by it, unlefs you bring your
Cafe within it.  But you may call Col. Baf;,
if you will,

Chuichill, My Lord, we came in upon that
Proclamation, and might have gone away any
Day if we would ; we but ftay’d in the Coun-~
try, and we never offered to go away till
it was my Lord Bellamont’s Pleafure to fend for
us.

L. C.B. Ward. You may call Col, Bafs, and

hear what he fays.

Churchill. Col. Bafs, will you be pleafed to
tell my Lord, whether we did not furrender our
{elves to you in purfuance of the King’s Procla-
maction.

Col. Bafs. My Lord, about the 2gth of May,
169g, I had an Account of fome Perfons, that
were fuppofed Pirates, that were come to fur-
render themfelves; and on my Landing, thefe
two Perfons came to me, and furrendered to
me the 4th of Fume, 1699. And I told them,
I mult refer their Cafe to his Majefty ar

tiome,

L. C.B. Ward. Who were they that fuppen.
dered to you ? ] '

Col. Bafs. Nicholas Churchitly and Famss Hyryp

L.C.B. Ward. Where were you Governgyy »

Col. Bafs. At the Province of 2eff-Foifiy,

Dr. Oxenden. How came they here ?

Col. Bafs. 1 left them under Bail,

L.C. B. Ward. Did you fend them over?

Col. Bafs. No, my Lord, I came to Engling
before : T left them in Cuftody. “They were fope
over Prifoners by my Succeflor.

L,C.B.Ward, Whatdid they fay to you whep
they furrendered themfelves to you?

Col. Bafs. They faid they had been in s
Indies, and that they had committed f{evera] pjy,.
cics, and defired they might have the Benefiy of

his Majefty’s Proclamation.
L. C.B.Ward. What Pirates did they mentjoy

to you?
Col. Bafs. They mentioned the Moca Frigay

and Capt. Kidd.
Dr. Oxenden. Had you the Proclamation ?
Col. Bafs. No; but I had {een one of them,
L. C.B. Ward. Did you take your felf allowed
to receive their Surrender ?
Col. Bafs. No, my Lord, 1did not.
Cl. of drr. Nicholas Churchill, have you quise
done ?
N. Chupchill and Fames Howe., Y es, Sir, we came
in upon his Majefty’s Proclamation,
) Cl. of dri. Robert Lamlzy, what have you to
dy 7
Robert Lamley, My Lord, T wasbut a Servant,
L.C.B. Ward. Who was youa Servant to?
Rebert Lamly. To Mr. Qwens.
L. C. B, Ward. How does that appear ?
Robert Lamley. The Surgeon knows it.
. Bradinham. My Lord, he was concern’d with
the Cook.
Robert Lamley. My Lord, here is my Indentue,
(Which was read.)
1‘ C;f. of drr. William Jenkins, what have you to
ay
William fenkins. I have nothing to fay, but I
was a Servant to Mr. Bullen.
L. C. B.#Ward. Where is your Witnefs to prove

ic?
Feirkins. Both the King’s Witnefles know it.
Bradinbam and Palmer. My Lord, he washis

Servant.
Cl. of drr. Gabriel Loffe, what fay you for your

felf ?

Loffe. My Lord, about the Year 1696, Ienter-
ed my felf on Board Cupt, Kidd, and went out
with him, and [ never difobeyed his Command in
any Thing,

L. C. B. WWard. Tid he go out under the fuft
Commiflion ?

Palner. He came aboard at New-2797F,

L.C. B. Ward. Did you take him in b:fore, of
after the Articles were fet up ?

Palmer. After the Articles were fet up.

L. C.B. Ward. Did Capt. Kidd take any No-
tice of his Commiflion in the Articles ?

Palmer. Yes, my Lord, he did mention then.
I have a Copy of the Articles.

Mr.Crawley. Mr, Palimer, Are thefe Articlesthe
Copy of the Articles fet up by Capt. Kidd &
New-York ?

Palmer. Yes,
M.

t"
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Mr. J: Gould. Did you examine them ?
paluer. To the beft of my Knowledge they

were a true Copy. _
Mr. J. Tourton. Did you compare them with the

Original 2
Paluer. No, my Lord,
Cl.of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, Have youany more to

s
ﬁ}'Lgﬁ&; Yes, a great deal more to afk the Evi-

dence. |
Cl. of Arr. What will you alk them ?
Loffe. Whether I did not obey the Captain.
Mr. J. Tourtoi, T here 1s no Scruple to be made

of that. _ .
7./ 1 went out to ferve his Majelty under

his Commiffion.
i. C.B. Ward. But how came you to take part

of the Money? |

Loffe. 1 had what they pleafed to give me.

L.C.B. /Zard. You muft needs imagine, that
when Capt. Kidd did thefe extravagant Things,
and divided the Money and Goods, that he did
not alt according to his Commiffion, What
could you think of 1t?

Cl. of Arr. Hugh Parrot, what have you to fay
for your felf ¢

Parrot. My Lord, in the Year 1695, in the
Month of Oéfleber, 1 failed out of Plymouth in a
Merchant=man, bound for Cork in Ireland, there to
ke in Proviiions; thence to the Ifland of Barda-
drss and in fight of the Ifland of Barbados, 1 was
raken by a French Privateer, and carried to May-
timco 3 and thence coming in a Tranfport-thip,
I was brought to Barbados; there T fhip'd my
felf in a Veflel bound to Newfoundland, and
thence to Maderas : And then I went to Mada-
gafzar, and there I ftay’d fome fhorc time after,
and came in Company with Capt. Kidd ; and
then the Commander and I had a falling out, and
fo I went afhore at that Ifland : And under-
ftanding that Capt. Kidd had a Commiffion from
the King, I came aboard Capt. Kidd’s Ship, and
ever fince have been with with him.

L. C.B. Ward. Did you come in after he had
been at New-2ork ¢

Parret. This was in the Year 1697.

L,C.B, Ward. You have acted with him, and
fhared with him. Could you imagine he was
afting according to his Commiffion, when he
was doing thefe Things?

Paryot, 1 thought I was fafe where the King’s
Commiffion was.

L.C.B. Ward. The Commifiion was to take
Pirates, and not to turn Pirates.

Parrot. Mr. Palmer, did you ever {ee me guilty
of an 11l Thing? Did I ever difobey my Cap-
fain ?

Palmer. You were always obedient to your
Commander.

Parrot, Then I came to Madagafear with Cap-
tain Kidd, where I might have gone aboard a
known Pirate, but I refufed it, and kept clofe to
my Captain: And when I came to New-Eng-
land, 1 might have gone away as others did 3 but
[ had my Liberty at Baffon for about a Week,
?'nl(ti' went up and down, and I furrender’d my
Elf,

L. C.B. Ward. You did not furrender your
felf, but only you had a Liberty to go away,
and did not.

Parrot. 1 thought there was noneed of it. My
i |
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Lord, I defire you would afk the Witnefles whe-
ther I ever difobeyed the Captain’s Commands.

L.C.B. Ward. They f{ay no otherwile, but
that you went willingly.

j' Cg. of dir. Richard Barlicorn, what have you to
ay ¢

Barlicorn. My Lord, I beg leave that I may
produce fome Evidence for my Reputation. Here.
is a Certtficate from the Parifh where 1 was
born,

L. C. B. #Ward. That will figmfy nothing ; we
cannot read Certificates ; they muft fpeak Vive
Voce.

Barlicorn. Call Benjamin Boad, Daiiel Phillips,
and Fames Newlon.

L. C. B. I#7ard. What do you call thefe Wit-
neffes for ¢

Barlicorn. ‘To give an Account of my Reputa-
tion, what they know of me.

Benj. Bowd. 1 knew him when he was a Child,
and he was very civil and honefl ; 1 lived near
him till he was 13 or 14 Years old: And he
came of honeft Parents, and behaved himfelf ve-
ry civilly all that Time.

L.C.B. Ward. Have you known any Thing
of him fince ?

Bond. No, my Lord.

L.C.B. Ward. What have you to fay further?

Barlicorn. My Lord, 1 was a Servant to Capt.
Kidd, and have been with him fix Years; and X
have a Certificate from feveral of my Relations
that will teftify it.

Cl. of Arr. Richard Barlicorn, have you any
Thing more to fay ?

Barlicorn. I am a Servant to Captain Kidd.

L. C. B. Ward. How long have you been fo?
Where was it that you came firlt to be his Ser-
vant ¢

Barlicorn, At Carolina,

CL. of Arr. Abel Owens, what fay you for your
felf?

Owens. My Lord, I defire the Privilege of the
Proclamation. I entered my felf into the King’s
Service. I have been in the King’s Service, ac-
cording to his Majefty’s Proclamation. 1defire
it may be read, (/Which was done.)

L.C.B. Ward. You defire the Benefit of this
Proclamation 3 but you muft bring your felf under
the Qualifications it requires, if you would have
any Benefit of it.

Mr. Crawley. He has a Certificate of it.

L. C. B. #ard. Is it within the Proclamati-
on !

Mr. Crawley. The Certificate isdated the 15th
of March, 1700, from Mr. Riches, a Juftice of the
Peace in Sonthwark.

L. C.B. Ward. Mr. Riches, I fuppofe, did be-
lieve he was within this Proclamation.

Mrt. J. Gould. The Pardon extends to all Per-
fons for Piracies committed before that Time,
if they furrender themfelves to fuch and fuch,
and enter themfelves on board one of his Maje-
{ty’s Ships.

Mr. Coniers. A Juftice of the Peace is not with-
in the Proclamation.

Cl. of Arr. Have you any more to fay ?

Quwens. Only to defire the Benefic of that Pro-
clamation.

L. C.B. Ward. He furrender’d himfelf to Ju-
ftice Riches, and thenentered himfelf aboard one

of his Majefty’s Ships 5 and then there was Evi-
dencs,
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dence againft him when on board, and he was
(cized: This may be fit to recommend him to
the King’s Mercy, but it 15 not a Defence a-

gainft the Accufation. _
Cl. of Arr. Darly Mulhins, What do you fay for

your felf? |
Mullins. 1 came in upon the King's A& of
Grace; I came afhore with the reft of the Peo-

le.
P 1. C.B. Ward. What have you to fhew, to ¢n-

title you to the Benelit of the Proclamation.
Muliins. Twas ready to die of the Bloody-Flux,
nd not able to go my felf, but I fent my Name

in to the Governour.
1. C.D. Ward. Where was you when you was

fo fick? |
Mullins. In Heft-Ferfey. 1came afhore in Cape
May. 1 was fick like 10 die all the Way from

Madagafear, expecting every Minute to die with

the Bloody- Flux. |
Dr. Oxendens. How came you to leave Captain

Kidd ?
-~ Afullins. He ufed me very hardly, and there-

fore I left him.
1. C.B. /Ward. You had a Dividend of the

Moncy and Goods.
Mullins. He gave it mc, and afterwards took

it from me.
1. C.B. Ward. Was he your Mafter?

Mullins. 1 had no Malter.
Dr. Oxeirden. How did you come to Ferfey ¢
Mullins. 1 came there with Capt. Shelleys he 1s

in Court.
Dr. Oxenden. You were aboard Capt. Culli-

ford.
Mullins. T came home,

King's Pardon.
1. C.B. Ward. That which you fay is very
odd ; though you quitted Capt. Kidd’s Ship, vou

went into Culliford’s.
1. C.B. /¥ard. Capt. Kidd, you faid you had

more to fay juil now; if you have, let us hear
it.

in hopes to get the

widd. 1 defire this Man may be heard two or

three Words.
1L.C.B. Ward, What is his Name?

Kidd. Mr. Say.

Mr. Say. 1 happened to beat the Treafury-Office
in Broad-firezt to receive fome Money, and Mr.
7White was there s and he afked me, Will you go
along with me, and fce onc Elbury, that 1s in the
Marfbalfea for Debt? Says I, I am a Stranger to
him, 1 do not care to go. Says he, Bear me Com-
pany. So 1 went with him, and when I came
there, I faw Capt. Kidd’s Men.  And this Mr.
Elbury was in Company with Capt. Kidd’s Sur-
geon. Says I, I am a Brother of the Quull, I
thould be glad to drink a Glafs with you. We
ftay’d there but a little while, and afked what
that Man was? fays he, He his Capt. Kidd’s Sur-
geon. Upon this 1 faid, Here 1s 2 mighty Noife
about Capt. Kidd; fays he, I believe he has done
hut what he can anfwer, or that can do him any
hurt. Says I, Where have you been with him ?
He faid, at Madagafcar.

L. C.B. Ward. Mr. Bradinham waswith them,
thete is no doubt of that. It is not to be que-

ftioned, that he would not fay any Thing 1ll of fheen inthe Eqff

them then. Capt. Kidd, have youany T hing more

to fay.
Kidd, Call Capt. Humpbrys. (Who appeared.)

3

L..C.B. Ward. What Queftions would you afk
him? .

Kidd, What do you know of me :

Humphrys. T knew you, Sir, 1 the 2ef- Indsys
in the beginning of the late War; and I knoy
you had the Applaufe of the General, as T cy
{hew by the General's Letter. I know nothing
further of you.

Kidd. Did you know any Thing that I wy
ouilty of any Piracies?

Humphrys. No 3 but you had a general Ap.
plaufe for what you had done from time to
time.

L.C.B. Ward. How long was thisago?

Humphrys. Twelve Years ago.

L. C.B. iVard. That was before he was turn.
ed Prrate.

Kidd. Call Capt. Boud. (Who appeared )

L.C.B. 7ard. What do you call him for?

Kidd. Capt. Bond, Pray will you gtve an Ac-
count what you know of me.

Bond, 1 know you was very ufeful at the be.
sinning of the War in the Foft-Imlics.

Mzr. B. Hatfell. To be fure they had a good 0.
pinion of him in 1695, when they granted hin

the Commuffion.
Kidd. Thereis nothing in the World can mak:

it appear I was guilty of Piracy 5 Ikeptr Company
with Capt #arren for hix Days.

Mr. Coniers. I believe you kept Company more
with Captain Culliford, than with Captain //er.
e,

Kidd, 1 never defign’d to do any fuch Thing,

Mr. Csniers. My Lord, we will fay nothingzi
all, but leave it to your Lordihip to direct the
Jury.

Kidd. 1 have many Papers for my Defence, if
I could have had them.

L.C B. #ard. What Papers were they?

Kidd. My French Pafles.

1..C.B. Ward. Where are they ?

Kidd. My Lord Bellamont had them.

L. C. B. Ward. If you had had the Freirh
Pafles, you fhould have condemned Ships.

Kidd. 1 could not, becaufe of the Mutiny i
my Ship.

L. C.B. Ward. If you had any Thing of Difa-
bility upon you, to make your Defence, you
thould have objected it at the beginning of your
Trial; what you mean by it now I cannot tell.
If you have any Thing more to fay, you miy
fay it, the Court is ready to hear you.

L. C. B. ard. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pr-
foners at the Bar, #. Kidd, N. Churchill, ¥. Hoie,
R. Lasley, . Fenkins, Gab. Loffe, Hugh Parros
Rich. Barlicorn, Abel Owens, and Darby Mullins, 1
Number Ten, ftand all here Inditted for the
Crime of Piracy, charged to be committed by
them. And the Inftance of the Crime, is for Fe-
lonioufly and Piratically Scizing and Taxing the
Ship called The Quedagh- Merchant, with the AppY
rel and Tackling thereof, to thevalue of 400/, and
divers Goods mentioned in the Indiétment, tothe
Value of 4500/, the Goods of feveral Perfons un-
known, from the Mariners of the faid Ship and
this at High Sea, within the Jurildiction of the
Court of Admiralty, about ten Leagues from Cu*
- Indies the g0th of Fanuary, 1097
and inthe 8th Year of his Majzfty’s Reign. Now
whether all, or any, and which of chefe Priie-

ners, ate guilty of this Crime of Piracy faid li_ﬂ
- this
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his Indictment, or not guilty, it is your Part to
determine according to the Evidence that has been

iven on both Sides. The Crime charged on them
 Piracy, that is, Seizing and Taking this Ship
1nd Goods in it, piratically and felonioufly : The
time and Place 1s laid alfo 1n the Indictment,
Tomake good this Accufation, the King’s Coun-
cil have produced their Evidence 3 and two Wit-
qeffes have been examined in this Cafe, each of
chem were in the Ship which took the Quedagh
Merchant, and very well acquainted wich all the
Proccedings; that is, Robert B::adz'nbmn, and. Fo-
fiph Paliner.  The firft has given you an hifte-
iical Account of the whole Proceedings of Capr.
Lidd, from his firft going out of England 1n the
Adventure-Galley, to the Time of this Fact charged
on them. They tell you, That about May, 1096,
the Kirg intrufted this Capt. Kidd with two
Commiflions, and they were both read to you:
By one of them, under the Admiraley-Seal, he
was authorized to fet out as a Privateer the Ad-
aenture-Galley, and therewith to take and feize
the Ships and Goods belonging to the French
King, or his Subjeéts, and fuch other as were lia-
ble to Confifcation. And by the other Commif-
fion, under the Broad-Seal of England, Authority
wasgiven for theTaking of fome Piratesby Name,
and all other Pirates in the {everal Places therein
mentioned ; but in no fort to offend or moleft
any of the King’s Friends or Allies, their Ships
or Subjects, by Colour thercof. And by both
Commiffions, Command was given to bring all
fuch Ships and Goods, as{hould be taken, to legal
Trials and Condemnations. They tell us, That
this Ship fet out from Phymonth about May, 16496,
and that in their Paffage, they did take a French
Ship, and they did condemn that Ship. Now,
Gentlemen, you muft bear this in your Minds,
thar to make it Piracy, it muft be the taking pi-
ratically and felonioufly upon the H igh Sea, with-
in the Jurifdiction of the Admiralty of Eugland,
the Goods of a Friend, that is, fuch asare in
Amity with the King. Now you fee what Way
they went to work, and what Meafures they took.
Captain Kidd goes out, and goes to New-2ork ;
and when he was there, he has a Proje& in his
Head, of fecting up Articles between himfelf and
the People that were willing to be concerned with
him: For now, whether 1t feems more probazble
from what followed, that Captain Kidd defigned
to manage himfelf according to the Meafures
oiven him, and the Powers of his Comumiffions,
or any other Way, you muft confider; for it is
told you, That between one hundred and fifty and
one hundred and fixty Men came 1n under thefe
Articles, whereof the other Prifoners were partand
concerned 1n them. And as to thofe Articles, the
import of them was, That whatever {hould be
takenby thele People in their Expeditions, thould
bedivided into one hundred and (ixty Parts, where-
of Capt.Kidd wasto have forty Shares for his Parr,
and the reft were to have according to the Merit
of each Party, fome whole Shares, and {ome half
Shares,

Now after thefe Articles,you perceive what Pro-
grefs they made, and what Courle they took ; they
went from one Place to another, and ufed a precty
deal of Severity wherever they came. A Delign
they had to go into the Red-Sea, and they had Ex-
pectations of the Mocca Fleet that lay at Mocea,
and t\l:ey fent their Spics three times to get Intel-
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ligence : The two firft times they.could-make no
Difcovery ; but the third time they made an effe-
¢tual Difcovery, that the Fleet was ready ta fail 5
and in' the mean time Capt. Kidd lay there in Ex-
pectation of this Fleet 5 and, as the firt Wicnefs
tells you, Capt. Kidd faid, He intended to make-a
Voyage out of this Fleet, - Well, he had a Dif-
covery of this Fleet, and they came accordingly ;
and they tell you, that he and his Men in the
Ship did attack one of the Ships : But thefe Ships
being guarded by two Men of War, he could
make nothingof them; however, he thewed what
his Intention and Defign was, Could he have
proved, that what he did was in purfuance of his
Commiffions, it had been fomething: But, what
had he to do to make any Attack on thefe Ships,
the Owners and Freighters whereof were in Amity
with the King ? This does not appear to be an
Action fuitable to his Commiffion. After he:had
done this, he came to Land, and there, and after-
wards at Sea, purfued ftrange Methods, as you
have heard. Thefeeming Jultification he depends
on, 1s his Commi(fions. Now it muft be obferv’d
how he afled with relation to them, and what
Irregularities he went by, He came to a Place in
the Judres, and fent his Cooper alhore, and that
Cooper was killed by the Natives; and he ufes
Barbarity, and ties an Jndian to a Tree, and fhoots
him to Death. Now he went from Place to Place,
and committed Holftilities upon feveral Ships,
dealing very feverely with the People.

But this being fomething foreign to the Indi&-
ment, and nort the Faéts for which the Prifoners
at Bar are indiCted, we are confined to the Que-
dagh Merchant 5 but whathedid before, fhews his
Mind and Intention not to act by his Commifii-
ons, which warrant no fuch Things. Gentlemen,
you have an Account, that he met with this Ship,
The Quedagh Merchant, at Sea, and took her 3
that this Ship belonged to People in Amity with
the King of England 3 that he feized this Ship,
and divers Goods were taken out of her and fold,
and the Money divided purfuant to the Heads
contained in thofe Articles fet up at New-2ork,
The Witnetles that fpeak to that, come home to
every one of the Prifoners : They tell you, that
this Dividend was made ; that Captain Xidd had
forty Shares of the Money, and the reft of the Pri-
foners had their Proportions according to the Ar-
ticles, fome whole Shares, and fome a half Share
of that Money. After they had feized on the Ship,
you hear of a certain Sort of Project, that a
Frenchman thould come and pretend himfelf the
Matfter, and produce, or pretend to produce, a
French Pafs, under a Colour that thefe People’s
Ship and Goods, who were AMcors, fhould be
Freachmens Ship and Goods, or failed under a
French Pafs, and fojufltify what he did under the
Colour of his Commiffion from the King, Now
no Man knows the Mind and Intention of ano-
ther, but as it may be difcovered by his Aions,
If he would have thts to be underftood to be his
Intention, or that it was a Reality, that he took
this as a French Ship, or under a French Pafs, then
he ought to have had the Shipand Goods inven-
toried, and condemned according to Law, that
he might have had what Proportion belonged to
him, and that the King might have had what be-
longed to him, as his Commiffions direted : But
here was nothing of that done, but the Money
and Goods that were taken were fhared ; and you

S s have
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have an Account likewife how fome of the Goods
were fold, and the Money difpoled of, and how
the remaining Goods were difpofed of 5 and one
Witnefs fpeaks pofitively of the Diftnbution of
the Goods that remain’d unfold, that they were
divided according to the fame Proportions as the
Articles mentioned, and every oneof the Prifoners
had his Share : There belong’d Forty Shares to
Capt.Kidd, and Shares and half Shares to the relt.

Now this is the great Cafe that is before you,
on which the Indiétment turns : The Ship and
Goods, as you have heard, are faid by the Wit-
nefles, to be the Goods of the Armenians, and
other People that were in Amity with the King;
and Captain Kidd would have them to be the
Goods of Frenchmen, or at leaft, that the Ship
was failed under Fresch Pafles. Now if it were
fo, as Capt. Kidd {ays, it was a lawful Prize, and
iiable to Confifcation but if they were the Goods
of Perfons in Amity with the King, and the
Ship was not navigated under French Pafies, it
1s very plain it was a piratical taking of them.
Gentlemen, it is to be confidered what Evidence
Capt. Kidd hath given to prove that Ship and
Goods to belong to the French King, or his Sub-
jects, or that the Ship was failed undera French
Pafs, or, indeed, that there ever was a French Pafs
fhewn or feen. He appeals indeed to the Wit-
nefles over and over again, Did you never fee it ?
No, fay they: Nor did not you, faith he, fay
you faw it? No, faith the Witnefs, I faid, that
Capt. Kidd faid, he had a French Pafs, but I ne-
ver faw 1t. Now after all, the taking the Qune-
dagh Merchant is brought down to Mr. Kidd, and
the Prifoners with others, and the Diftribution of
the Money produced by the Sale of the Goods,
among Mr. Kidd and his Crew, whereof every
one of thefe Prifoners were prefent at the fame
time, and had Proportions.

Now, Gentlemen, this muft be obferved s If this
was a Capture on the High Sea, and thefe were
the Goads of Perfons in Amity with the King,

and had no French Pafs, then it is a plain Piracy,
And if you believe the Witnefles, here is a tak-

ing of the Goods and Ships of Perfons in Amity,
and converting them to their own Ufe: Such a
taking at Land as this would be Felony, and be-
ing at Sea 1t will be Piracy ; for this is a taking
the Ship from the right Owners, and turning it
to their own Ufe. So that you have Evidence
as to the feizing of the Ship, and dividing the
Money rifing from the Goods fold, and fharing
the Remainder according to the Atrticles.

Now, what does Captain Kidd fay to all this?
He has told you, he acted purfuant to his Com-
miffion 5 but that cannot be, unlefs he gives yon
Satisfaction, that the Ship and Goods belonged to
the French King, or his Subjeéts, or that the Ship
had a French Pafs; otherwife neither of them wil]
excufe him from being a Pirate; for if he takes
the Goods of Friends, he is a Pirate s he had no
Authority for that; there is no Colour from ci-
ther of his CommifTions for him to take them :
And as to the French Palles, chere is nothing of
that appears by any Proof, and, forought I can fee,
none faw them but himfelf, if there were ever any,
It 15 proved, That the People that were Owners
of the Goods made him very large Offers to re-
deem the Ship ( Twenty thoufand Raupees, as] re-
member); but he would not accept theirPropofal,
but faid, T2at is a finall Sum,. the Cargae 1s worth

2

a great deal more, or to that efiectr And furthe,
faid, He muft anfwer thefe People, that bis Mey vijy
not part with it : And a Freich Man was to b
fer up for o mock Bufincfs, as you have heard
and if the Witnefles fay true, they were faid by
the Captain of the Ship to be, and were repygeg
to be, the Ship and Goods of Friends, and ng;
of Enemies; and if they were fo, and had p,
Freneh Pafs, then1s he, and thofe that were cop.
cerned with him, guilty of piratically taking this
Ship, and of piratically feizing the Goods in gy
Ship 3 and neither of his Commiffions will jufir;
fuch an A&ion as this. If he had aced purﬁun}
to his Commiffion, he ought to have condemney
the Shipand Goods, if they were a FremehInterep,
or failed under a French Pafs s but by his not coy.
demning them, he feems to fhew his Aim, Ming,
and Intention, that he did not a&t in that Cy
by virtue of his Commiflion, buc quite Contrary
to it 3 for he takes the Ship, and fhares the M,.
neyand Goods, and s taken 1n that very Ship by
my Lord Bellamont, and he had continued in t);
Ship tifl that Time ; {o there 1s no Colour or Pre.
tence appeats, that hie intended to bring this Ship
to England, to be condemned, or to have cop.
demuned it in any of the Englifh Plantations, .
ving difpofed of the whole Cargoe as aforefyiy,
Here 1 mult leave it to you, to confider wheths,
according to the Evidence that appears, thereis
any Ground for him to fay, he has acted by his
Commiffion in taking the Quedagh Merchans ang
Goods tn her, or whether he has not ated con
trary thereunto,

Now, for himfelf, he has called fome Pei{on;
here, to give an Account of his Reputarion, and
of his Servicesdonein the IVeft-Indics 5 and ong of
them fays, about ten or twelve Years he did good
Service there, Why fo he might, and mighc hare,
and ’tis very like he had, fuch Reputation when
the King trufted him with thefe Commiffions,
elfe I believe he had never had them; fo thy
whatever he might be fo many Years ago, thatis
not a Matter to be infifted on now, but what he
hath been fince, and how he hath acted in this
Matter charged againft him : So that, Gentlemen,
as to Mr. Kidd, I muft leave to you, whether he
1s guilty of Piracy or no ; and if you believe him
guilty upon the Evidence, you will find him fo;
if not, you will acquit him.

Now for the other Prifoners, it is proved they
were alf concerned in taking and fharing the Ship
and Goods in the Inditment ; yet their Circum-
ftances differ pretty much among themfelves.
There are three of them, that it has been made
out to you, and owned by the King’s Witnefles,
that they were Servants. Robert Lamby, Will. e
kinsy Richard Barlicorn. Al thefe are made ot
to be Servants, and you have had the Indentures
of two of them produced, and the King’s Wit
nefles prove them fo, and they were admitied to
be Servants. Now, Gentlemen, there maft go an
Intention of the Mind, and a Freedom of the
Will, to the committing a Felony or Piracy. A
Pirate is not to be underftood to be under Con-
ftraint, buca free Agent; for in this Cafe, the
bare A& will not muake him guilty, unlefs the
Will make it fo. Now a Servant, it is crue, :f he
go voluntarily, and have his Propofition, he mult
be accounted a Pirate; for then he acts upon his
own Account, and not by Compulfion. And thele

Perfons, according to the Evidence, received Ighmr
' drly
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part, but whether they accounted to their Ma-
fters for their Shares afterwards, yea or no, as
they preterd, but make no Proof of it, I muft
leave that to you; and therefore there is a Con-
ideracion to be had of them: For if thefe Men
did go under the Compulfion of their Mafters,
to whom they were Servants, and not voluntarily,
and upon their own Accounts, it may difference
their Cafe from others, who went and alted wil-
lingly 1n this Matter, and upon their own Ac-
counts. o that as to thofe that were Servants
under the Command of their Mafters, that were
prefent with them, I muft leave it to you, whe-
her vou will diftinguith between them and the
others, thatwere not Servants, but free Agents.
[t is true, & Servant 1s not bound to obey his
Mafter, but in lawful Things, which they fay
they thought this was, and that they knew not to
the contrary, but that their Mafters aéted accord-
ing to the King’s Commiffion 5 and therefore their
Cate mult be left to your Confideration, whe-
ther you think them upon the whole Matter
Guilty or no.  If you believe them Guilty, you
will find them f{o, otherwife you will acquic
them.

For the other Perfons, fome of them pretend
they came in on his Majefty’s Proclamation, and
for that youmuft confider the Evidence, and take
itall together, and confider whether you are fa-
tisfied by what they havefaid or prov’d, thac they
havebrought themfelves within theBenefit of the
King's Favour by that Proclamation.  You have
heard itread, and obferv’d the Qualifications and
Direttions by 1t, and the Terms upon which the
Pardon was promifed, which are not made out to
you, to becomplied with by them  they may ap-
ply another way for the King’s Mercy ; this Court
mult proceed according to the Rules of Law and
Juftice: But then all of them hold on this; We
were, {ay they, under the Captain, and acted un-
der him as their Commander : And, Gentlemen,
{o far as they acted under his lawful Commands,
and by Virtue, and in Purf{uance of his Commifii-
ons, it muft be admitted they were juftifiable,
and ought to be juftify’d : But how far forth thac
hath been, the A@ions of the Captain and their
own, will beft make itappear. It is not conteft-
ed, but that thefe Men knew, and were fenfible
of what was done and ated, and did take Part in
it, and bad the Benefit of what was taken fhared
amongft them: And if the taking of thisShipand
Goods was unlawful, then thefe Men can claim
1o Advantage by thefe Commiflions, becaufe they
had no Authority by them to do what they did,
but afted quite contrary to them. What had
they to do to enter into fuch Articles, and to act
1s they did? You muft confider the Evidence gi-
ven here, according to the Rulesof the Law; and
It you are fatisfied, that they have Knowingly
and Wilfully been concerned or partaken with
Capt. Kidd, in taking this Ship, and dividing the
Goods, and that Piratically and Felonioufly, then
they will be Guilty within this Indi@ment, It
is worthy of Confideration what appears upon the
Evidence, that they met with one reputed to be g
notorious Pirate, cail’d Culliford; he was eftcemed
an Arch-Pirate, and known to be fo; yer this
Cap. Kidd, that was commiffion’d to take Pi-
rates, inftead of taking him, grows to fuch an
Intimacy wich him, that he faid he would have

his Soul fry in Hell, before he would hurt him,
VoL v,

or to that Effect ; and fo they made Prefents one
to another; and Capt. Kidd left three of his Men
with him.  Whillt Men purfue their Commiffi-
ons they muft be juftify’d ; but when they do*
Things not authorized, or never ated by them,
it 1s as if there had been no Commiffion at all.
I have diftinguithed the Evidence as well as my
Memory ferves me, and muft leave it to you to
determine upori the whole Matter, whoare Guilty,
and who not ; and fuch as you are fatisfied to be
Guilty, you will find fo, and fuch as you are not
fatisfied to be Guilty, you will acquit.

[Then the Furywithdrew, and after Half an Hour's
Stay, brought in their Verdifl.]

Clof Arr. Gentlemen of the Jury, anfiver to
your Names, 7obn Cowper, &¢.

7. Cowper, Here, &,

Cl. of Arr. Are you agreed of your Verdict *

Omnes, Yes.

Cl.of Arr. Who {hall fay for you?

Omnes, Foreman.

Cl of Arr. Will. Kidd, Hold up thy Hand.
(Wiich be did,) How fay you, Ishe Guilty of the
Piracy whereof he ftands Indicted, or not Guilty ?
(And fo of the roff.)

Foreman, Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Is Nicholas Churchill Guilty, or not
Guiley?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl.of Arr. Is Fames Howe Guilty, &c. ?

Foreman, Guilty.

Cl.of Arr. Is Robert Lamley Guilty, {Fc. 2

Foreman. Not Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. 1s William Fenkins Guilty, &¢. ¢

Foreman. Not Guilty.

Cl.of Arr, Is Gabriel Loffe Guilty, &¢. ¢

Foreman, Guilty.

Cl of Arr. Is Hugh Parrot Guilty, &¢.?

Foreman, Guilty.

Cl of dArr. IsRichard Barlicorn Guilty, (e, ¢

Foreman. Wot Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Is Abel Owens Guilty, &c.?

Foreman. Guilry.

Cl.of Arr. 1s Dayby Mullins Guilty, (¢, 2

Tgreman, Guilty,

Then William Kidd, and the other nine Perfons,
were further Arraigned upon four Indifi-
sents, in mamer following :

Cl. of Arr. William Kidd, Hold up thy Hand.
(I¥hich be did, and fo the other Nine.)

You ftand indifted by the Name of Willia
Kidd, late of London, Mariner, {Je.

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King
do, upon their Oath, Prefent, That P7lliain Kidd,
late of Londen, Marinery Nicholas Chuychill, late
of London, Mariner 5 Fames Howe, late of London,
Mariner; Robert Lamley, late of London, Mariner;
William Fenkins, late of London, Mariner ; Gabriel
Loffe, late of London, Mariner; Hugh Parrot, late
of London, Mariners Richard Barlicorn, late of
London, Mariner; .Abel Owens, late of London,
Mariner s and Dardy Mullins, late of London, Ma-
riner; the 20th Day of Seprember, n the Ninth
Year of the Reign of ourSovereign Lord #illiam
the Third, by the Grace of Gob, of England,
Scotland, Fraunce and Freland, King, Defender of

S{2 the
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the Faith, &¢. by Forceand Arms, c. upon
the High Sea, ina certain Place, diftant about
Fifty Leagues from the Port of Carrawar, in the
Eaft-Indies, and within the Jurifdiction of the

Admiralty of England, did piratically and felo..

nioufly fetupon, board, break and enter a certain

Ship call’d A Moorifb Ship, then being a Ship of
certain Perfons (to the Jurorsaforefaid unknown)

and then and there piratically and felonioufly
did make an Affault, in and upon certain Mari-
ners (whofe Names to the Jurors aforefaid areun-
known) in the fame Ship in the Peace of Gob,
and of our faid now Sovereign Lord the King,
then and there being, piratically and ﬁ:loniou_ﬂy
did put the aforefaid Mariners of the fame Ship,
in the Ship aforefaid then being, in corporal Fear
of their Lives, then and there in the Ship afore-
faid upon the High Sea, in the Place aforefaid, di-
ftant about Fifty Leagues from the Port of Car-
rawar aforefaid, inthe Eaft-Indies aforefaid, and
within the Jurifdi@ion aforefaid, piratically and
felontoufly did fteal, take and carry away One
hundred Pound Weight of Coffee, of the Value
of Five Poundsof lawful Money of England, Sixty
Pound Weight of Pepper, of the Value of Three
Pounds of lawful Money of England, Onehundred
Weight of Myrrb, of the Value of Five Pounds
of lawful Money of England, and Twenty Picces
of Arabian Gold, of the Value of Eight Pounds
of lawful Money of England, the Goods, Chattels
and Moneys of certain Perfons (to the Jurors a-
forcfaid unknown) then and there upon the
High Sea aforefaid, in theaforefaid Place, diftant
about Fifty Leagues from the Port of Cairacvar
aforefaid, n the Eaft-Tndics aforefaid, and within
the Jurifdi¢tion aforefaid, being found in the
aforefard Ship, in the Cuftody and Pofleffion of
the fud Mariners in the faid Ship, from the faid
Mariners of the faid Ship, and from their Cufto-
dy and Pofleflion, then and there upon the High
Sea aforefaid, in the Placeaforefaid, diftant about

50 Leagues from the Port of Carrawar aforefaid,
in the Lugfi- fndizs aforefaid, and within the Jurif-
diction aforefaid, againft the Peace of our faid
now Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and
Dignity, &,

How lay’tt thou, I#liam Kidd, Art thou guilty
of this Piracy and Robbery, whereof thou fland-
eft Incitted, or not guiley

Iilliam Ridd. Not guilty.

Cl.of Arr. Culprit, How wilt thou be tried ?

Kiad. By God and my Country,

Cl of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.
{ Aitd fo of toe other Nine.)

Cl. of drr. William Kidd, Hold up thy Fand.
FVbich be did : And jo the other Nine.)

You {tand indiéted by the Name of /¥ illiam
Kidd, late of London, Mariner. (And fo of the reft. )

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King,
do upon their OathPrefent, That William Kidd,

late of London, Mariner s Nicholas Churchill, late
of Lendon, Mariner 3 Fames Howe, late of London,
Mavinery Robert Lamley, late of London, Mariner;
Willsiam fenkins, late of London, Mariner s Gabriel
Loffe, latc of London, Mariner 5 Hugh Parrot, late
of London, Mariners Richard Barlicorn, late of
London, Mariner; Abel Owens, late of London, Ma-
riner s and Darly Mullins, late of London, Mari-

ner ; the 27th Day of November, in the gth Yeqr
of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord #illiam the
Third, by the Graceof Gop, of England, $ep
land, France and Ireland, King, Defender of (he
Faith, &, by Force and Arms, &¢. upon the
High Sen, in a certain Place, diltant abour foyy
Ieagues from Calficut in the Eaff- Indies, and wih.-
in the Jurifdiction of the Admiralty of Euglang,
did piratically and felontonfly fet upon, board,
break, and enter a certain Ship called, 4 Moorifh

" Ketch, then being a Ship of certain Perfons (1o

the Jurorsaforefaid unknown) and thenand thera
piratically and felontoufly did make an Ay
in, and upon certain Mariners (whofe Name;
to the Jurors aforefaid are.unknown) in the fame
Ship, in the Peace of God, and of our {aid noy,
Sovereign Lord the King, then and there bej ng,
piratically and felonioafty did put the aforefaiq
Mariners of the fame Ship, 1n the Ship aforefaig
then being, incorporal Fear of their Lives, thep
and there in the Ship aforefaid, upon the Hig),
Sea, in the Place aforefaid, diftant abour foyr
Leagues from Callicut aforefaid, in the Eaf- Idies
aforefaid, and within the JurifdiGtion aforefuid,
piratically and feloniouy did fteal, take and car-
ry away the fame Ship, and the Apparel ang
Tackle of the fame Ship, of the Value of Five
hundred Pounds of lawtul Money of Esgland,
Eleven Bales of Cotton, of the Value of Sixty
Pounds of lawful Money of England; two Horfts,
cach of them of the Price of Twenty Pounds
of lawful Money of Eusland 3 and Fifty Ludsian
Quilts of the Value of I'ive Pounds of |awful
Money of England (the Goods and Chartels of
certain Perfons-to the Jurors aforefzid unknown)
then and there upon the High Sea aforefaid, inthe
aforefaid Place, diftant about four Leagues from
Callient aforefaid, in the Eaff- Tndies aforefaid, and
within the Jurifdiion aforefaid, being found
in the aforefaid Ship, n the Cuftody and Poffef-
fion of the faid Marirers in the fame Ship, from
the {aid Mariners of the {aid Ship, and from their
Cuftody and Pofleffion, then and there upoa the
High Sca aforefaid, 1n the Place aforefaid, di-
ftant about four Leagues trom Callicur aforefaid,
in the Eaft-Indies atorefaid, and wichin the Ju-
rifdition aforefaid, aganft the Peace of our {aid
now Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and

Dignity, .

Hou fuy'lt thou, William Kidd, Art thou
Guilty, of this Piracy and Robbery whereof
thou ftandeft indilted, or not Guilty ?

Will. Kidd. Not Guiley.

Cl. of Arr. Culprit, How will thou be tricd ?

Kidd. By God and my Counury.

Cl.of Arr. God fend theea gond Deliverance.
(And fo of the other Nine.)

CL of Arr. William Kidd, Hold up thv Hand.
(Which be did: And [o the other Nine.)

You ftand indited by the Name of Williai
Kidd, late of London, Mariner. (And fo the rft.)

““’ The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King,
““ do, upon their Oath, Prefent, That JPutlivi
“ Kidd, late of Loudon, Mariner; Nicholas Char-
““ ¢chill, lateof London, Mariner 3 Fames Howe,

““ late of London, Mariner 5 Robor Lamfey, latz ot
'Y Lﬂﬂ'
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7 ondon, Mariners William Jenkins, late of Loin-

« Joy, Mariner; Gabriel Loffe, late of London,

« Mariner s Hugh Parrot, late of London, Mari-

(d
£é
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ners Richard Barlicorn, late of London, Mari-
ner 5 Abel Owens, late of London, Mariner ; and

Darby Mullins, late of London, Mariner; the

Twenty-eighth Day of December, inthe Ninth

« Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord /73-
« Jigm the Third, by the Grace of Gop of Eup-
«« Joud, Scorland, Erance and Irclaud, King, De-
« fender of the Faith, (¢, by Force and Arms,

‘f

¢, upon the High Sea, in a certain Place,

« diftant about four Leagues from Callicut, 1n che
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Eaft- Indies, and within the Jurifdiction of the
Admiralty of England, did piratically and felo-
nioufly fet upon, board, break and enter a
certain Keteh, call’d, A Moorifh Ketch, then
being a Ketch of certain Perfons (to the Ju-
rors aforefaid unknown ) and then and there
piratically and felonioufly did makean Affault
in, and upon certain Mariners (whofe Names
to the Jurors aforefaid are unknown) 1n the
fime Ship, in the Peace of Gop, and of our
(1id now Sovercign Lord the King, then and
there being, piratically and felonioufly did put
the aforefaid Mariners of the fame Ketch, in
the Ketch aforefaid then being, in corporal
Fear of their Lives, then and there in the
Ketch aforefaid, upon the RHigh Sea, in the
Place aforefaid, diftant about four Leagucs
from Callicut aforefaid, inthe Eaft- Indies afore-
(aid, and within the Jurifdiflion aforefaid, pi-
ratically and felonioufly did fteal, rake and car-
ry away the faid Ketch, and the Apparel and
Tackle of the fame Ketch, of the Value of Fif-
ty Pounds of lawful Money of Exgland 5 thirty
Tubs of Sugar-candy, of the Value of Fifteen
Pounds of lawful Mouey of England 5 fix Bales
of Sugar, of the Value of Six Pounds of law{ul
Money of England; and ten Bales of Tobacco,
of the Value of Ten Pounds of lawful Money
of England, the Goodsand Chattels of certain
Perfons { to the Jurors aforefuid unknown )
then and there upon the High Sea aforefaid,
in the aforefaid Place, diltant about four
Leagues from Callicut aforefaid, mn the Kaff-
Iindies aforefaid, and within the Jurt{diction a-
forcfaid, being found in the aforsfaid Ketch,
in the Cuftody and Pofleffion of the faid Ma-
riners 1 the fune Ketch, from the faid Mart-
ners of the fald Kerch, and from their Culto-
dyand Pofleflion, then and thereupon the High
Sea aforefaid, in the Place aforefaid, diflant a-
bout four Leagues from Callicut aforefaid, in
the Eaft- Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurif-
dition aforefaid, againil the Peace of our fuid
now Sovercign Lord the King, his Crownand
Dignity, &',

How fay’ftthou, 2Villiai Kidd, Artthou Guilty

of the Piracy and Robbery whereof thou ftand-
clt indicted, or not Guilty?

31T
You ftand indicted by the Name of 271 Kidd,,
late of Lendon, Mariner, Jc. (And [o of the i4ft.)

““ "The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King,
““ do, upon their Oath, Prefent, Thac Filiem
““ Kidd, late of London, Mariner; Nichelas Chyr-
““ ¢hifl, late of London, Mavincr; Famzs Fewe, late
““ of London, Mariner; Rebert Lamizy, late of Lon-
““ don, Mariner 5 Willian; Fenkins, late of Loxdon,
““ Mariner; Gabriel Loffz, late of Londen, Mariner,
““ Hugh Parrot, lare:of London, Marinér; Richard
““ Barlicorn, late of Landyn, Mariner ; 4%l Owens,
““ late of Lowdon, Mariner ; and Darly Muilins,
““ latve of London,Mariner; the Twenticth Day of
““ Fanuary,in the Ninth Year of the Reign of our
““ Sovereign Lord, Willham the Third, by the
““ Graceof God, of Engiand, Scotland, I'rance,and
““ Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, &r. by
““ Force and Arms, ¢, upon the High Sea, in
““ a certain Place, diftant about twelve Leagues
““ from Callicut in the Laff-Iudies, and within the
““ Jurifdi¢tion of the Admiralty of England, did
“ piratically and felonioufly fet upon, board
‘“ break, andenter a certain Ship, call’d, A Poriu-
<« guexe Ship, then being a Ship of certain Perfons
«“ (to the Jurors aforcfaid urknown) and then
¢« and there piratically and felonioufly did make
¢« an Affault in and upon certain Mariners, Sub-
‘¢ jeéts of the King of Poriugal (whole Namesto
¢« the Jurors aforefard are unknown) in the fame
¢« Ship, in the Peace of God, and of our faid now
¢« Sovereign Lord the King, then and there be-
‘“ ing, piratically and felomoully did put the
¢¢ aforefaid Mariners of the fame Ship, 12 the
¢« Ship aforefaid then being, in corporal Fear of
¢« their Lives; then and there in the Ship afore-
« {1id, upon the High Sea, in the Place ator<faid;
<« diftant about twelve Leagues from Callicut a-
¢« forefaid, in the Eaft- Indicsaforefaid, and within
«¢ the Jurifdi®ion aforefaid, piratically and felo-
<« pioufly did fteal, take, and carry away two
<« Chefts of Opium,ofthe Value of Forty Pounds
«¢ of lawful Money of Englends cighty Bags of
«« Rice, of theValue of Twelve Pounds of lawiul
<« Money of Englands one Tun of Bees-wax, of
«« the Value of TenPounds of lawful Morney of
« Kaeland; thirty Jarrs of Butter, of the Value
<« of Ten Pounds ot lawiul Money of Znglanas; and
¢ halfa Tun of Iron, of the Value of Four Pounds
« of lawful Monc,y of Eupland, the Goods and
¢t Chartels of certain Perfons (to the Jurors a-
o« forefaid unknown) then and there upon the
¢« Hiah Sea aforefaid, in theaforefaid Place, di-
¢+ ftantabout twelve Leagues from Callicu: atore-
«¢ faid, in the Egft-Tndies aforefaid, and within the
<« Jurifdiction aforefuid, bemng found in the a-
«« forefaid Ship, in the Cultody and Poflefficn of
¢¢ the faid Muariners in the fame Ship, from the
«¢ faid Marinersof the fame Ship, and from their
Cuftody and Poffcflion, then and there upon
the High Sea aforefiid, in the Place aforefaid,
te diftant about twelve Leagues from Cailicnt -

™
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Will. Kidd, Not Guilty.
Cl. of Arr. How wilt thou be try'd ?
IVl Kidd. By God and my Country.

CLoof Arr, God fend thee a good Deliverance.
(And fo of the other Nine.)

c¢ {orefaid, in the Eqff-Iudies aforefaid, and wich-
¢« in the Jurifdi€tion aforefaid, againft the Peace
<« of our faid now Sovereign Lord the King, his
¢« Crown and Dignity, (. o

How fay’ft thou, #illiamKidd, Art thou guil-
ty of the Piracy and Robbery whereof tnou
ftandeft indicted, or not guilty *

Cl.of Arr, William Kidd, hold up thy Hand.
17ill, Kidd. Not guilty:

"hich be did : And fo the other Niue.) ]
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.l of Arr. How wilt thou be tried ?

will. Kidd, By God and my Country.

¢! of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

(And [o of the other Nine.)

[Then the Cour! adjonri’d till To-morrow Morn-
ing Eigot a-Clock. ]

-

The further Proceeaings againfi Willlam
Kidd, andtheother Nine Prifoners, on

the four Inaitiments, May the Vinth,

1701,

ALL William Kidd, Nicholes Chur-

chill, Fames Howe, Robert Lamley,
William Fenkins,Gabriel Loffe, Hugh Parrot; R.Bar-
licorn, cbel Owens, and Dardy Mullins to the Bar,

You the Prifoners at the Bar, 1William Kidd, &ec.
thofe Men that you fhall hear call'd, and perfo-
nally appear, are to pafs between our Sovereign
Lord the King and you, upon Trial of your fe-
veral Lives and Deaths: If therefore you, or any
of you, will challenge them, orany of them, your
Time is to {peak unto them as they come to the
Book to be f{worn, and before they be fworn.
Call WWilliam Smith. (Who appear’ds and theve being
no Challenges, the Twelve that were fwernare as fol-

lows.)

Cl. of Arr.

The Jury.

N Peter Gray,
Rob. Comfort,
Tho, Hollis,
S Will, Ford,

Wil Smit l?,
Bens. Hooper, L

%o. Hibbert,

Fo. Pettst,
Will. Hatch, J lTba. Stephens,
Fof. Chaplain, L7, Dodfon.

Cl.of Arr. Cryer, count thefe : Willian S,

Cryer. One, e
Cl.of Arr. Benjamin Hooper.
Cryer. Two, &¢c. Twelve good Men and true,

ltand together and hear your Evidence,

(Then the ufual Proclamation for Information was
made s and the Prifoners being bid to hold up their
Hands, the Clerk of Arraignments charg’d the
Fury with them thus. §

Gl. of Arr. ¢¢ You of the Jury, look upon the
«¢ Prifoners, and hearken to their Caufe. They
¢ ftand indicted by the Names of /Zilliain Kidd,
« &c.(asbeforeinthelndiciment.) Upon thisIndict-
<« ment they have been arraign’d, and thereunto
« have feverally pleaded, Not guilty; and for
¢ their Trial put themfelves on God and their
«¢ Country,which Country youare. Your Charge
¢t is to enquire, Whether they be guilty of the
¢ Piracy and Robbery whereof they itand in-
¢« dicted, or not guilty, &Je.

Nich. Churchill. May it pleafe you, my Lord, I
came in upon his Majefty’s Proclamation; and if
that do not do, I throw my felf upon the Mercy
of the Honourable Bench.

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. If they will withdraw their
Plea, and confefs the Indiétment, they may.

Nich. Churebill and Fames Howe. 'We refer our
felves to the King’s Proclamation.

Dr. Oxenden. But do you confefs the Matter of
the Indi@tment? You may do that if you will,

and then you need not be try’d,
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Abel Owens. My Lord, I came 1n upon the

King’s Proclamation, and enter’d my {e]f aboard
one of the King’s Ships.

Dr. Oxenden. You muft anfwer firft, and come

to your Defence afterward.

Abel Owens. 1 hope your Honours will granej;
me as well as the reft, Ienter’d my felf into the
King’s Service.

Cl. of Arr. Youof the Jury, lookon the Prify.
ners, and hearken to therr Caufe. They ftang
indicted by the Name of William Kidd, &c.

Mr. J. Turton. Youmay try all the Indiétmens
together, if they are the fame Perfons con

cern’d.
Cl. of Arr. Theyare the fame that are concern'd

in the two frft Inditments.

Mr. J. Turton. Then proceed upon thefe twoto-
gether.

Cl. of Arr, They ftand 2 fecond time indidted
by the Name of William Kidd, late of Lenda,
Mariner. (And fo of the reft.) Upon thefe twolr.
di@ments they have been arraign’d, and therer
have feverally pleaded, Not guilty 5 and for their
Trials have put themfelves on God and thei
Country, which Country youarc. Your Chare:
is to enquire, Whether they are guilty of the faid
Piracies and Robberies whereof they ftand in.
dicted, or not guilty, &e.

Mr. Knapp. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and
Gentlemen of the Jury, thefe are two feveral In.
dictments againtt #illiam Kidd, 8cc. and they are
both for Piracy. One fets forth, That the Pri
foners at the Bar, on the T'wentieth of Sepfember,
in the Ninth Year of his Majefty’s Reign, fifteen
Leagues from Carrawer, did piratically invade and
take a Ship call’d The Moorifh Keteb, and put the
Mariners in fear of their Lives. The other ln
dictment fets forth, That on the 27th of Novz-
ber, in the Ninth Year of his Majefty’s Reig,
four Leagues from Callicut, the Prifoners at the
Bar did feize and take another Moorifb Ship; to
both which Indi@ments they have pleaded, Nt
auilty.  If we prove the Fat, you muft find them
auilty, Wewillcall Witneffes. The Witneflesare
the fame. The whole Story you have heard b
fore, and we will apply our felves now to the:
Fads mention’d in thefe two Indictments.

Mr. J. Turton. Y ou muftopen your Matter firlt,
becaufe there is a new Jury. o

Mr. Kirapp. Then, my Lord, and Gentlemen o
the Jury, This Capt. Kidd went out of Englend in
a Ship call’d The Aduventure-Galley. e firfl went
to New-2urk, and there he fet out Articlestopro-
cure Men, and promis’d them that would come
in to him a Share in the Adventures they fhould
oct, From thence he goes to Babs-Key, and Lies
sbout three Weelks there, watching for the Mo
Fleet : He fent his Boat out three times to fec &
what condition the Ships were.  IJe could get né
Intelligence the two firft times, buc the third
time he did 3 they brought him Word, they wer
fourteen or fifteen Ships ready to fail, and tha
heir Colours were Englifband Dutch, and Moorif:
He lay in wait for thefe Ships, and watch’d thems
and when they came down, he feil in with them
and fired at them but he found they were undes
an Englifh and Dutch Convoy, and fo away he went
and left them. And then he came O cruife on
the Coaft of Malabar, and there he met with his
firflt Prize, and that isthe Moorifh Ship mention’d

ia the firlt Indi@ment: They f¢iz’d and took this
> Moorifh




170]_', 0- B.

. fyrifb Ship, and entered her, and took {everal
?‘;ﬁm{{] out EF her, and then let the Ship goaway.
We will call ourWitneffesas to this Ship firft. Call
Rebart Bradinbam and Fofeph Pﬂlmer. (Who ap-
cared and were fworn.) Mr. Bradinbam, what
have you to fay as to this Matter. o
Mr. Bar. Hatfell. Tell it from the Beginntng ;
om the Time you went out of England, to the
Time of taking this Ship, becaufe there is a new
]ug'mz’z'nbﬂm. About the Beginning of Aay, 1696,
we went out of England, and went to Nm-.’l ork,
n the Adventure-Galley, whereof Capt, Kidd was
mandcr. ,
Coi'l‘:}r. Knapp. Whither did you go' |
Bradinbain. To New-2ork. We took a Ship by
the Way, and carried her to New-Zerk, where

we condemn’d her, |
Mr. Knapp. What Ship was that?

Bradinbam. A French Banker. At New-Zork
Capt. Kidd put up his Articles, That if any would
come ahoard his Ship, they fhould be welcome,
no Purchafe no Pay, mentioning that he had the
King’s Commiflion : From thence we went to 5.
Yanger, then to Aaderas, then to Madagafcar,
‘hien to Boiavis, then to Feanna, and then to the
Red-Sea, and then to Babs-Key 5 there he lay three
Weeks looking for the Mocea Flect,

Mr. Kiapp. Where ?

Bradinbasis. In Babs-Key.

Mr. Knapp. You fay helay there about a Fort-
night or three Weeks : How did he behave him-
felf there?®

Bradinbam. He fent out his Boat threeTimes 3
and the two firft Times they could get no Intel-
ligence,

Mr. J. Turton. Tell whofe the Mocea Fleet was,

Bradinkam. They belong’d to the Moors ; they
were Merchant-men belonging to the Moors.

Mr. Knapp. What News did they bring the
third Time ?

Bradinbam. The third Time they brought
Word, that there were fourteen or fifteen Ships
in the Harbour ready to fail.

Dr. Newton. What did he fay then?

Bradinbam. That he would take as many of
them as he could ; and did not doubt but to make

a Voyage out of them. |
Mr. . Turton. What Account did the two

firft Boats bring ?

Bradinbam. No Account at all, my Lord.

Mr. J. Turton. What Notice did they bring
the third Time ¢

Bradinbam. They brought Word, that there
were about fourteen or fifteen Ships in the Har-
bour ready to fail.

Mr. ]. Turron, Which Time was it that they
brought that Word ?

Bradinbasm, T he third Time, Then the Fleet
came down, and Capt. Kidd followed them.

Mr. Knapp. Were there any on Shore to watch
this Fleet ¢

Bradinbam. There were fome fent to the high
Laud of the Ifland, to fee if the Fleet came ;5 and
when they faw it, they were to give a Sign with
a Half-pike and Flag, and then the Boat was to
fetch them off. At laft the Fleet came down, and
Cupt. Kidd went among them, and fired at them
but finding they were under a Convoy, and oo
ftrong for him, he was forced to leave them.

Mr. Kuapp. Whither did you go thent
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Bradinham. From thence we went to Carawar,
and by the Way we met with a Moorifh Ship, of
which Capt.- Parker was Commander.

Mr. Knapp. My Lord, that is the Ship that
they are indited for, Where was it that you met
with that Ship ?

Bradinbam. About fifty Leagues from Cara-
war,

| Ml;. Knapp. Pray, what did they do with that
Ship:

Bradinbam. We took Capt, Parker’s Ship, and
took him aboard, and the Porsupueze for a Lin-
guifter 5 and he took out fome of the Men, and
bound thetr Hands behind them, and ordered
them to be drubb’d with a naked Cutlafs ; and
he took out of her fome Pepper and Coffee, and
Arabian Gold, and wearing Apparel, and feveral
other T hings.

Mr. Knapp, What did he do with thefe Men,
after he had plundered the Ship ?

Bradinbam, He let the Ship go, and kept
Parker and the Portugnsze aboard.

Dr.Newton. How many Men were there aboard
the Ship ¢

Bradinbam, About thirty.

Dr. Oxenden. What Countryman was this
Parker 2

Bradinbam. He was an Englifbman,

Dr. Oxenden. How do you know that?

Bradinbam, He told me fo.

Mr. Kuapp, What Ship was 1t ¢

Bradinbam. A Moorifb Ship.

Mr, Knapp, What Time was this done ?

Bradinbam. In September, 1697.

Mr. Knapp. What did he do with the two Men
he took out of this Ship?

Bradinbam. He kept them aboard this Veflcl,
| M;.Iﬁfapp. What Ship was Captain Kidd in
then s

Bradinbam, He was in the AdventuresGalley.

Mr. Knapp, Tell us whether any other of thefe
Prifoners at the Bar were in that Ship when this
was done ?

Bradinbam. Every one of them.

Cl of Arr. Was Capt. Kidd himfelf there

Bradinbam. Yes,

Cl of Arr. Was Nicholas Churchill there 2

Bradinbam. Yes. |

Cl. of Arr. Was Fames Howe there ?

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Was Robert Lamley there 2

Bradinbam. Yes,

Cl. of Arr. Was William Fewkins there £

Bradinbam. Yes.

CL. of Arr. Was Gabriel Loffe there ?

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Was Hugh Parrot there?

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Was Richard Barlicorn there 2

Bradinbam, Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Was dbel Owens there?

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of drr. Was Darby Mullins there?

Bradinbam, Yes.

Cl. of Arr, You fay, you are fure they were all
there ?

Bradinbam, Yes, I am fure they were.

Mr. J. Turton, What Goods did they take out
of that Ship ?

Bradinbam, Several Bales of Pepper, feveral

Bales of Coffee, and fome Myrrh, which isa Gum.
Mr, Solt,
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Mr. Soll. Gen. What did they do with it ¢
Bradinbam. Capt. Kidd made ufe of the Myrrh

to make Pitch of.
My, Soll. Gen. What was the Value of the

Myrrh?
Bradinham. About fifteen Pounds,
Mr. Soll. Gen. Where did they po after “the

taking of this Ship?

Bradinbam. To Carrawar. |
- M, Soll. Gen. What did they do there !

Bradiubain, There the Captain wooded and
watered his Ship.

Dr.Oxenden. What is Carrawar ¢ Tell the Court.

Brradinbai. There is an Englifh Faltory 5 they
fent fome Men aboard, and demanded this Park:r,
and the Portugueze y and the Captain denied them,
and kept them in the Hold, and would not let
them know he had them on board.

Dr. Oxenden. Had they any notice of Parker’s
being on board Capt, Kidd’s Ship?

Bradinbaw. 1 {uppofe they had Information
from Bombay, by the Mariners that went away ;
for Capt. Parker’s Veflel belonged to that Place.

Mr. 8oll, Gen. How far is that Carrawarfrom
Bombay ¢

Bradinhain. About forty Leagues.

Mr. Soll, Gen. Where did you go after that?

Bradinbam, They cruifed on that Coaft, and
they went to one of the Malader Hands.

Mr. Soll. Gen. W hat was done there?

Bradinbam. Wewooded and watered our Ship,

Mr. §oll. Gen, Did they take any Ships there?

Bradinbam. Capt. Kidd went afhore there, and
burnt fome Houlfes, and plundered feveral Boats.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Was there any Ship taken there ?

DBradinbam. Yes.

Mr. 85/l Gen. What Ship?

Bradinhain. Some time in Nevember, (about the
17th of Nevember) they took a Moorifh Ship,
Skipper Mitchel was the Commander.

Mr. B. Hatfell. You need go no further now.

Mr. Kinapp. We will call the other Evidence,

if you pleafe, Mr. Sollicitor.
Mr. Soll. Gen. We will give our Evidence upon

both Indi¢tments together.

Mr. Knapp. They ftand charged with taking
another Ship, You have heard how far we have
carry’d it. Now they went and took another
Ship about the 17th of Nevember.

Bradinghamn. ‘They took a Moerifh Ship four
Leagues from Callicnt,

Mr. J. Turton. Now go on.

Bradingham. Capt. Kidd took this Moorifh Ship
on the Coaft of Malabar, Skipper Mitchel was the
Commander s fhe was a Moorifh Ship : He took
out of her two Horles, fome Bales of Cotton,
and fome Quilts.

Mr, B. Haifell. 'What Countryman was this
Skipper Mirchel 2

Bradinbam. A Dutchman.

Mr. B, Hatfell. What Ship was it ?

Bradiuham. A Moorifb Ship 3 fhe belong’d to

Surail.
Mr, Soll. Gen., What Burthen was [he ?

Bradinbam. About 150 Tun.
Mz, Solf. Gen, What was found in her?
Bradinham. Two Horfes, and about eleven or

twelve' Bales of Cotton.
Mr. J. Turton. Was this on the Coaft of Calli-

(it ?
Bradinham. It was on the Coaft of Malabar,

2

Mr. Knapp. How far from Malibar ?

Bradinbain. Seven or eight Leagues.

Mr, Soll. Gen. What did they do after ;s
with the Ship, and Goods, and People?

Bradinbam, The People they fet afhore, and
kept the Ship, and carry’d her to Madasafeay,

Mr., Soll. Gen. What was the Value of e
Horfes raken out of her ¢

Bradinbam T he Horfes were worth about 507

Mr, Sell. Gen. What the Cotton ?

Bradinbam, About an Hundred Pounds,

Mr. B. Hatfell. How do you know this Skipper
Mitchel was a Dutchinan ¢

Bradinbam. He told me {o 3 he came afterwards
aboard Capt, Kidd, and took Arms under him.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Were all thefe Perfons aboayd
this Ship when fhe was taken ?

Bradinbam. Yes, my Lord, -

Mr. B, Hatfell. You fay, this Ship was aboy:
150 Tun ; What might {he be worth 2

Bradinham, About 500/ -

Mr. B. Hatfell. To whom did fhe belong ?

Bradinbam. To the Moors.

Mr. B, Hatfell. What Moors ?

Bradinbain, The Moors that belong®d to Surayy,
as I was inform’d by the Moors,

Mr, Sell, Gen. What did he do with the Ship
afterwards?

Bradinham. She was carried to Madagafcar,

Mr. Soll, Gen. What did they do with the Ship?

Bradinbam. They funk her.

f Ngr. Soll. Gen, Do you know why they funk
1CF ¢

Bradinbam. She was funk voluntarily,

Gdd, This Man contradicts himfelf in an
hundred Places.

Bradinbam. ‘The Ship was funk purpofely.

Dr. Newton, What was done when you camg
to Madagafear?

Bradinham, When we came to Madagafiar,
there came off a Canoo with white Men aboard,
that belong’d to the Mocco Frigate : Some of
thefe Men belong’d formerly to Capt., Kidd, She
was {uppos’d to be a Pirate Ship.

Mr. Soll. Gen. What was the Reafon of fink-
ing that Ship?

Bradinbam. They funk her in the Harbour,
that fhe might be convenient for Vefltls to co-
reen by. Some Men came off in this Caroo,
and they told him, they heard he was come to
take them, and hang them. He faid, it was no
luch Thing,

Dr.Newton. Who was the Captain of the Mo
Frigate ?

Bradinbam. Captain Culliford,

Dr, Newton. Was he a Pirate ?

Bradinbam. Yes, he was reputed fo.

Mr. §ofl. Gen. Well, go on.

Bradinbam. Capt. Kidd {wore he would be true
to them, and that he would do them no ldarn.

Mr. §oll. Gen, Did you hear all this?

Bradinbam, Yes, he {wore to be truc to them.

Mr. Kuapp., Was there any thing faid about
Caprain Kidd’s taking her?

Bradinbam. Nothing,

Dr, Newton. What pafled afterwards between
Caprain Kidd and Culliford ¢

Bradinbam. They were very friendly togethers
and they made Prefents to one another.,

Dr, Newton. What Prefents were there made?

B?'ﬂdiﬁ!f}ﬁ}.‘h
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Bradinbam. szl!g”ard gave to Capt. Kidd fome
Pieci:: ;F China Silk, and Kidd bid Culliford take

any thing he had

Mr. Soll. Gen. Did Capt. Kidd give Cullifordany
Guns ?

Bradinkamn. He fupply’d him with two Guns,

Dr. Newton. Was there any Divifion of Goods
or Money ?

Bradinbam. After we came to Madgafiar,

Capt. Kidd ordered the Goods to be hoifted out,
and fhared, and Capt. Kidd had forty Shares for

himfelf.
Mr. Soll. Genr. 'What became of the Goods of

thofe Ships ?

Bradinbain. They were fold.

Mr. 8ol Gen. What was done Wl[h the Pro-
duct of the Goods ?

Bradinbam. Capt. Kidd kept it; and when there
was fomething worth fharing, he fhared it, and
he had forty Shares for himfelf,

Cl of Arr. Had N. Churchill any Share: >

Bradinkam. He had a whole Share.

Cl. of Arr. Had Fames Howe any Share ?

Bradinham, IHe had a whole Share,

Cl.of Arr. Had R. Lawmley any Share ?

Bradinbam. He had half a Share,

Cl.of Arr. Had W7, Fenkins amy Share ?

Bradinbam. He had half a Share.

Jeneins. How can you, atte[t thefe wicked LlcsP
I had nothing.

Mr. Bar. Hatﬁll Who ﬂmred it ?

Bradinbam. The Caprain.

Kidd. Hex ‘13 a thoufand Lies.

ICf of Arr. Look on Hugh Parrot; Had he any
Share ?

Bradinbam. Yes, halfa Share of Mnncy, q.qd A
whole Share of Goods.

Ol of Arr. Had R. Barlicorn any Share 2.,

Bradiham. He had half a Share?

Cl. of Arr. Had Abel Owens any Share ?

Bredinbam. He had a whole Share ? .

Cl. of drr. Had Darby Mullins any Sh‘li‘(‘.:

Bradinbam. He had half a Share.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Now if any of you will afke hII’l’l
any Queftions you may?

Kidd. Mr. Bradinbam,Pray wh&tSharehad yfavu;I

Bradinbam.If my Lord afk me, Iwillanfwer: lnm

Kidd. Had you any Share ? | o

Bradinbam. Yes.

Kidd. Did not you come aboard my Shlp, and
rob the Surgeon’s Cheft? +

Bmdrz:lamu No, I did not.

Kidd, Did not I come to you, when you went
away,and met you on the Deck, and ﬁud Why
do you take the Cheft away? = . . -

Bradinbam. No, 1 did not do it.

Kidd. You are a Rogue.

Mr. J. Turten. It were the fame thing far him
0 confefs it, as to deny ity, if he had dene it

Kidd. He did certainly do it.

Mr. B. Hatfell, Buthe fays he did not.

Mr. ]. Turton. Would any of you afk hlmany
Queftions ? -

Cl. of Arr. Nich. Churchill, =W:ll you afk him-

any Queftions? -
Conrehill. T came in on the ng SPI‘DC]HH]'I[I-

on, and depend wholly oa it.

Kidd. Were tller{: not any, Freuch Pafles aboird

that Ship,

Bradinbam, 1 heard fav thyre v-f..rf’:
ver fee them,

VoL V.
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Kidd. 1did not dmde the 'I'hmgs‘, but: the
Men did what they pleafed, and -you-took «your
Shire, and faw the French Paﬂcs o

Mr. B. Hatfell. What Ship is that you mean ;
that taken in September, or thatin November ?

Bradinbam. The Mooriy Ship, that Parker
was Commander of. - '

Mr. B. Haifell. There were two mentioned.

Kidd. Juft now he told youof twoin Noveinber 5
now he fays one in November, another in September.

Mr. B. Hatfell. He fays, that in 6£p!e:::£rer, that
Parker was Commander of. ,

Kidd. There was no fuch Thmg in November ;
he knows no more of thefe Things than you do.
This Fellow ufed to fleep 5 or 6 Months toge-
ther in tlie Hold.

M. J. Turton. L aflure you, he givesa very good
Account of the Matter.

Mr. B. Hatfell. Why.did you give hima Share
then

Kidd. Becaufe he was Surgeon. As for the
Goods, they took it amongft them, and did what
they pleafed, I wasnever near therh, They 1 -
Wait for me to kill me. They took away what
they pleafed, and went ro the Ifland ; and I, with
about 40 Men, was left 1n the Ship, and we
might go whither we pleafed.

Mr. Soll. Gen, Mr. Kidd, Will you afk him any
Queftions !

Kidd, No, no, fo long as he fwears it, our
Words or Oaths cannot be taken, .

Cl. of Arr. Will you afk him any more Que-
flions ¢

Kidd. No, no, it fignifies nothing.

. Gl of Arr. N. Churchill, Will youafk him any
Quef’cmns P

.. Chtrehill, 1 came ihupon his Majeﬁ‘y s Proch-
mation, and rely upon that.

Gl of Arr. F..Howe; Will you ifk him any
Queftions?

Hose. 1 furrendered my felf upon the ng S
Proclamation, and plead Guilty. -

. Gl of Arr. R. Lamley, Will you afk this Wlt-
néfs any Queftions ?

Lamley. Do you fay, I had half 4 S"nre of
Money?‘

Bradinbam, Yes

Lamley: No, I had none.

Gl of An It was your Share, and you muﬂ:
make it appear, if you accounted for it to your
Mafter. -

Laiiley. If your Lord hip pleafe, Iwas an Ap-
prentice.

- Mr. B. Hmﬁlﬁ To whom was youaServant ?

Lamley, 1 was an Apprentice to 4. Quweéns.

Mr. J. Turterr. Was Lamleyan Apprenticee to

Owens ?
Bradinkam. My Lord he was a- Servant to

. Owens, who was aboard them

Mr. J. Turton, He had half a: Share, but per=
haps he might accour:t for it to his Maftcr after-
ward, ;

Clof Arr. W, Jenkins; Will you a{k the Wll:-
nefs any Queftions ?

Fenkins. My Lord, I beg he inay fpeak thf:.
Truth, whether I was a Servant.

Bradinbam. My Lord, he was a Servant to
George Bullen.

Mr. J. Turton. Was this Bullen aboard then 2 ?

Br aa’m}mm Yes,

Mr. J. Turton, Wllén both S}ups were tiken ?
Tt Bra-
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-

"~ Bradinbam. Yes. -
Cl. of Arr. Will you afk the Witnefs any Que-

{tions, G. Loffe?

Loffe. My Lord, when I came aboard, the
Captain open’d his Commuflion there: Did I ever
difobey his Commands ?

Bradinham. Not, that I know of.

Loffe. Did you fee me receive any Share?

Bradinbam, Yes, half a Shareof Money, and 2
whole Share of Goods. -

Loffe. Where? -

Bradinbam. In the great Cabin.

Cl.of Arr, What Queftions will you afk him,
Hugh Parrot? o '

Parrot. May it pleafe your Lordthip, I will
give you an exact Account from the Time of my
going out of England, in the Month of Ofober,

1695.- *
2’? of Arr. You may make your. Defenceafter-
wards; 1n the mean time will you afk him any
Queftions now ?

Parrot. 1 appeal to him, Whether he cver faw
me do any fuch Cruelty as he mentions?

" Mr. J. Turton., You hear what he fays, anfwer
him, | | '

Bradinbem. 1 cannot fay you were the very
Man that did it, but thofe Men were ufed fo ;
they were hoifted up, and drubb’d with a na-
ked Cutlafs, o
" Parrot. AndthenI afk him, Whether 1 ever
wentany further than my Commander order’d me,
or againft the King’s Commiflion, as I thouglic ?

Bradinbam. 1 cannotfay you did any thing con-
trary to your Commander’s Orders.

Parrot. 1 aflkk him, Whether, when Imight have
went aboard this Pirate, I did notftick clofe to my
C'apmin, and come home ' with him ? and Wherher
I had any Inclination to leave him? .
«Mr. J.-Turton..Fle knows not-your Inclination,
Where did you leave Capt. Kidd 2 Will-you-afk
him that? I

Parrot. I came home to Boflon wich Cipt: Kidd.
‘Dottor, Did I goaway with them that left Cipt.
Kidd ? : Preor
- Biradinhem. You went with Capt. Kidd to Ma-

dagafcar. EESNRUTE

Parrot, 1 camechome wich Capt. Kidd, and"fur-

render’d my felf to my Lord Bellamone.. =
- Cloof drr. Abel Owens, will you afk the Wit-
nefs any Queftions ? L

Owens. 1atk the Witnefs, Whether I-did not
{urrender my felf?” 5 SRV

Bradinbam, Icannot fay any thing to that, -.

Ch. of Arr. Will you afk him any more Que-
{iions? - o 0

-Quwens. No, Iftand to his Majefty’s- Proclama.

tion, and the Mercy of the Honourable Bench, *
' Cl. of Arr. Darly Mullins, will you afk the
King’s Witnefs any. Queftions ? L
- Mullins.”No :* May it pleafe you, my Lord,
I came in upon: the King’s: gracious Proclatha-
tion, as the King’s Evidence knows. Do’ you
not’know I came’athore with you aboit thie 28th
of May ¢ T R

Bradiwban: 1 know he went afhore. R

Mutlins. 1 went afhore. I came home tipoh the
King’s Proclamation. . We went athore atCipe
May. 1 was very fick of the Bloody-Flux, .and
not able to travel, and was like o die ever‘y Di‘iy_

Bradiubam. My Lord, T know this Man Wis
very fick in the Paffage, = b

 Mullins, 1 was a Paflfenger abourd Capt, Shel.
fy’s Ship. '

Mr. J. Turton. How came he to come abogyg
Capt. Shelly 2 Where did he leave Capt. Kids 2

Bradinbam. Ple left Capt Kidd av bMadagq  frar
and took his Paflage with Capt. Shelly afterwaygs
after thefe were taken. ’

Mr. Soll. Gen. How came he to leave Caprain
Kidd at Madagafcar ?

Bradinbam. He went aboard Capt. Cullifyyp,
Ship.  There was about 60 or 70 Men wep; 4.
board Culliford.

Mr. Kuapp., Call Fofeph Palmer.

Dr. Oxenden. Fle fays, he came in upon
King’s Proclamation to Cape May: Do v,
know any thing of that ? ‘

Bradinbam. Yes.

Dr. Oxenden. Where is that Cape Moy ?

Bradinham. OR of Marylend, where Capt. 8.
ly’'s §hip wasat Anchor; and Capt. Gravespe;;
came on board Capt, Sk2/ly’s Ship, and faid, [4;
heard his Majzfty’s Proclamation was out to re.
ceive Pirates that would come in; and the M
rejoyc’d that there was fuch a Thing, and they
went afhore, and furrender’d themfelves,

Dr, Oxendenn, Where ?

Bradinbam. At Gape May.

Dr. Oxenden. Did he go to the Governor

Bradinbam, 1 did-not'fee him go afhore.

CL of drr. D. Mullins, Will you afk him any
more Queltions? ‘

Mullins. Youwas aboard when I wen: afhor.

Bradinbam. 1did not fee you go athore.

' Mr. Soll:Gen. Was he - fick when he wenr 2
fhore ? |

‘Brodinban. He was fick.

Mutins. Twas fick, and expected todie every
Momenr, - "’ 0 '

Cl.of Arr. All was done before that Time.

Mr. §oll. Gen. Did he rejoice when he heard
the King’s' Proclamation was out,

Bradinbam. 1 heard him fay the King’s Prachi-
mation was out, and he rejoyc’d with others.

Mr:$oll-Gen. Did he furrender himfelf to the
Governor ? | I

' Bradisham. 1 cannot fay that; he went afhorz,
- Mr.Bar. Hatfell. Now fevup-Fofeph Palner.

Mr. J. Turton. Gentlemen, I would not have
youunder any Miftake, that furrendering him-
felf commes not under your Confideration 5 it was
after all the Faéts were done that tie Prifoner is
charg’d with, T
- Mr. Knapp, M. Palmer, give my Lord and the
Jury-an Account of what you know concerning
Capt. Kidd’s Voyage from England in the Adyen-
ture Galley, when -he went out of England, and
his Procedings afterwards.

Palmer. About the laft of April, or beginning
of May, he went from Plymonth ro New-Zurk, and
in the Way took a French Banker, and carried her
to New York, and condemn’d her there : Andat
Negy-York he fec up Articlesto invite Men to come
aboard his Ship; That if any would come aboard,

= theyfrfhbu]d have a Share of fuch Treafure as he

fhould take: He was to have forty Shareshimfelf,
and every Man a half or whole Share. And abou:
the firft of September following, he'went from Neso-

York to Maderas, from thence to Bonavss, fron:

thence to 8¢, Yanuger, then to Madagafcar, then

to Malabar, then to Foanna, then to Mabala, then
to foanna again, then to the Red-Sea. |

2 PVII'. I f?ﬁ'ifﬁ_ f.
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M. frﬁépj’. Pray give an. Account of what was .

done there. i o
Pamer. There he water’d, and took Guinea

Corn to Vittual his Ship; andthen to Babs-Key,

near the Red-Sea. . .
Mr. Knapp. Give an Account of what he did

1ere. .
: Palner. He fent out his Boat three times, to
difcover the Fleet, and likewife fome Spies on
the high Land, to look out on both Sides; to fee
that the Ships did not pafs by. |

Mr. Soll. Gen. What Ships ?

Pafmer. Moorifb Ships from Mocce,

Mr. Soll. Gen. Whofe Ships were thofe Moorifh
Ships? . .
}galmer. They were Turks and Moorstogether.

Mr. Knapp. What did he do then ?

Palner. He call’d the Men by Lottolook out,
and he fent his Boat out twice, and they return’d
without bringing any Tidings. And he fent the
Boat the third time, with Orders to take a Pri-
foner, or to fee what Ships lay there.  And the
third time Word was brought,
about 14 or 15 Ships lay in the Road ready o
ail, with Duteh, Englifh, and Moorifb Colours
And when this News came, Capt. Kidd order’d
the Men to go on the other Side, on the high
Lands, to fee that the Ships did not pafs by in
the Nizht 5 and in 4 or 5 Days the Ships came
down, about the 14th of Auguff. The Fleet came
down in the Evening, and Capt. Kidd went after
them: And fome of the Men faid, We will go
among them To-night: No, fays Capt. Krdd, we
will go in the Morning, and then we will take
our Choice.

Kidd. Did you hear me fay fo?

Paler. T heard you fay fo.

Kidd. I am fure you never heard me fay fuch a
Word to fuch a Loggerhead as you.

Palmer. Thefe are the Words I heard him fay.
And the next Morning he fell in with this Fleer,
and went through them ; and there wasa Duvehand
Luglih Convoy 5 and chey fired at one another.

Kidd. Hear me———

Mr. Kinapp. You fhall afk him what Queltions
you wil] prefently,

Mr. ], Turton, Who fired firlt ¢

Palmer. The Dutchand Englifh fired fir{t. When
we lay between the Englifb and Dutch, a Moorifh

- ohip came by, and he fired feveral Shot after her:

And the Exglifh Ship flung a Shot alinoft home,
and then he made fail, and went out of the Fleet :
And from thence he went to Carrawar, and in the
Way met with a Ship, whereof Parker was Com-
mander, and there was one Antonso, a Portuguefe.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Where wasthis done?

Palicr. About Afty Leagues from Carratwar.

Mr. 8o/, Gen. W hat Timeof the Year was ic?

Palier. To was about Septemiber.

Mr.Bar. Hatfell, The Witnefs is now come to
Ipeak to the Ship for which the Prifoners are in-
diéted,

Mr. Soll. Gen, Go on 3 What did they do with
that Ship ?

Palmer. He fought the Ship, and took her, and
to_nl{ out of her {everal Bales of Coffee, and here-
tun’d only one Bale, and fent the reft back again :
And he took a Bale of Pepper, and fome Myrrh
to ufe inftead of Pitch.

) Mr?. Soll. Gen. What Quantity of Pepper was
1ere ¢

VoL, V.

that there were -
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Lalmer, Abont fixty Pound Weight:
Mr. Soll. Gen, “Wibiat Myrrh-? ...
Pafmer. About thirty Pound Weishr.
Mr. Soll, Gen. Wlhiat Value was irtof ?
Palmer, 1 cannottell'thar, .
Mr. Soll. Gen. What' Arabian Gold ?
Pdlmer. ¥did-notffee it: I did not'{ee any ta-
ken-out then 3 but a ipretty while afterwhrds,
when Capt. Kidd came to Carrawar, he gave ‘cve-
ry Mefs two Pieces-of Arabicn Gold,
Mr. Knapp. How long was this after the Ship
was taken? .
Palner. Ten or twelve Days. .
Mr.-Soll, Gén. How was the Pepper difpoed of ?
Palmer: Tt was divided among the Meffes.,
Mr. 8o/-Gen. Had'thefe Prifoners their Part:?
Palmer, Yes: -
g Ml; Kuapp, How did they ufe the Menof this
1p
Palmer; There were feveral hoifted up, and
drubb’d with a naked Cutlafs.
rdd. Where was this done ?
Pdlmer. In your Ship.
Kidd, What Ship?
Palmer. The ddventure Gally.
~ Kidd. Did not a Parcel of Rogues go aboar
their Ship, and do it ?
Mr, Knepp. For what Purpofe was this done ?
Paliner, Becaufe they thought they had more
Money in the Ship.
Mr. Knapp. What Country-man was Parker ?
Palmer. An Englifb-man, bornin the North of
England.  He faid fo.
Mr. J. Turton. Who elfe was detain’d befides
Parker ?
Palner. One Autounio, a Portuguefe. Parker was
detain’d for a Pilot; the other for a Linguifter.
Mr. J. Turton, What do you mean by a Lin-
ouifter? |
Palmer. To fpeak Moorifb and Portuguefz.
M. §oll. Gen. Where did they go then?
Palmey. From thence we went to Carrawar,
and water’d and svooded the Ship; and a great
many of his Men left him there: And when he
{aw his Men leave him, he went to Sea; he would
not trult any more to go alhore, And the next
Evening he meta Portuguefe Man of War, and
fought her, but did not take her.
Mr. J. Terton. Did you know any that left
him ¢
Palmer. Peter Lebairand Churchill, and others ;
they went to the Englifh Faltory, to know whe-
ther they would entertain them, or no.

Mr. J. Turton. Who went ?

Palmer, Mr. Lebair, Nicholas Churchill, and a-
nother ; they went to know whether they thould
be entertain’d, and they told them, They were
loth to entertain them, for fear Capt. Kid4 fhould
know of it, and do them an Injury.

Kidd, My L.ord, a Parcel of chefe Men went a-
fhore to run away with this Ship.

Mr. J. Turton. Were there any more of thefe
Prifoners at the Bar, that would have gone off,
belides Churchill ?

Palmer. No, but he would have gone off.

Mr. J. Turton. How do you know that ¢

Palmer. He rold me fo.

Mr. Bar. Gortld. Had they an Opportunity to
go off ?

Palmer. Some more were taken going after-

wards, and had got a Boat for that Purpofe, but

Tt they
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they were taken, and Capt. Kidd order’d them to

be brought aboard, and whipp'datthe Gun.

Kidd, Certainly you have not the Impudence
to fay that ! _

Palmer, 1 fay, youorder’d them to be whipp'd,
for attempting to go afhore. -

Mr. Soll, Gen. W hither did you go then ?

Palmer. That Evening we went and met with
a Portuguefe Man of War,

Mr. Soll. Gen. Youmay goon from that. Whi-

ther did you go then?
Palyer., To the Malabar Iflands.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Whattodo?
Palmer. To take in Water, His Cooper went

athore, and the Natives cut his Throat: And
Capt Kidd fent his Men afhore, and order’d them
to divide themfelves into Squadrons, and to burn
all the Houfes they came near, except the Houfes
that had white Flags upon them.

Mr, Soll. Gen. Why not them ?

Palmer. Becaule they help’d us to water the
Ship.

I\If)Ir. Knapp. And were thereany Houfes burnt ?

Palmer. Yes, a great many.

Mr, Knapp. What did he more ¢

Palper. 1 heard what he did 5 I did not fee it,

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. ' What do you know of any o-

ther Ship?
Palmer. About the 27th of November he took

the Ship Maiden, near Callicnt. We {py’d aShip
in the Night, and chaced her all Night, and the
next Morning he took her,

Mr, J. Turton. What Ship was that ?

Palmer. Skipper Mitchel was Commander ; 1t
was & Moorifi Ship, fhe belong’d to Suratt; fhe
was taken 1n November, and after that fhe was
called the November.

Mr. Saoll. Gen. How was fhe taken?

Palmer. Capt. Kidd chaced her under French
Colours, and this Ship had French Colours; and
when he haled her, 1t was in Fresch, and this
Skipper Mitchel anfwer’d 1n French.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Had the Moorifh Ship French Co-
Jours before Capt. Kidd put up French Colours,
or after?

Palmer. After.
Mr. Soll. Gen, What Colourshad fhe when fhe

was chaced at firlt ¢

Paliner. Tt wasin the Night: In the Morning
Capt. Kidd hoifted up French Colours, and then the
Moorifh Ship likewife hoifted up French Colours.

Mz, Soll. Gen. What follow’d 2

Kidd. Speak true.

Palmer. [ will.  He fired three or four Shot
at the Ship, and commanded them aboard ; and
Muechel did fo, and fome of his Men with him ;
and he order’d Monlieur Le Roy to be as Captain ;
and he came from below Deck, and receiv’d him
as Captain.

Kidd. Did you fee that ?

Palmer. 1did not fee that; but I know he was
order’d to do fo,and he receiv’d him asCaprain 3
[ was not in the Cabin at that time. Monfieur
Le Rey receiv’d him as Captain, and carried him
aft, "U'hey haled this Ship in French, and bid him
come aboard in French, and this Frenchman receiv-
¢d him as Captain; and Theard him fay, That he
brought a French Pals along with him.,

Mr. Soll, Gen. Who did you hear fay fo?

Palier. 1 heard People on board fay fo.

Ridd. Palmer, Did you fec that Pafs ?

Paliner. Indeed, Captain, I did not. -

M. Soll. Gen. Whatdid youdo with the Ship?

Palmer. There were two Horfeson board, g
ten or twelve Bales of Cotton, and fome Qujlrs,
and Capt Kidd {old them at Malabar.

Mr. §oll. Gen. What Goods were there ?

Palwer. Two Horfes.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Whar befides?

Palmer. Ten or twelve Bales of Cotton, apg
fome Quilts.

Mr. J. Turion. What Country man was Skippsr
Mitchel the Captain?

Palmer. A Dutch-man,

Mr. Soll. Gen. What was the Ship worth ?

Palmer, 1 cannot tell the Value of her.

Mr. Soll. Gen. What Burden was fhe ?

Palmer. About 150 Tun,

Mr. Soll, Gen, What did they do with thofz
Horfes, and the Cotton ¢

Palmer. They fold them to the Banians.

M. Soll. Gen. What did they do with the Pro.
duce of thofe Goods ¢

Palmer, Capt. Kidd keptic till they had a pretty
deal of Money together, and then they fhared
it.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Flad the Prifoners at the Bara
ny Shares of 1t ?

Palmer, Yes,

Cl. of Arr. Had Capt. Kidd himfc!f any Share?

Palmer. Yes.

C1, of Arr. Had Nicholas Churebill any Share ?

Palmer, Yes, he had a whole Share.

Cl. of Arr. Had Fames Howe any Share ?

Palmer. Yes, a whole Share,

Mr. J. Turton. Where did they fhare 12

Palmer. On the Coalt of Malabar,

Cl. of the Arr. Had Robert Lamley any?

Palmer. Yes, haif a Share.

Cl of Arr, Had William Fenkinsany Share?

Palmer. He had half a Share.

Cl. of Arr. Flad Gebriel Loffe any ?

Palmzr, He had half a Share.

Cl. of Arr. Had Hugh Parrot any ?

Palmer. He had a whole Share,

H. Parrot, Did you fee me have any Share!
Can you fpeak that to my Face now? Did you
fee any of us have any?

Palmer. When Capt. Kidd thared this Money, |
did not actually fee him pay their Shares; buthe
call’d every Man by the Lift, and they came with
their Hatsin their Hands, and he gave them thei
Money, and they fwept it up, and went away.

Mr. Soll, Gen. Were thefe Men call’d by the Lift?

Palmer. Yes,

Mr.Soll, Gen. And did they mifs none ?

Palmer. Not, that I know of,

Cl.of drr. What fay you to Richard Barlicorn!
Had he any?

Palmer, He had half a Share: Whether his
Mafter had it or no afterwards, I know not.

Cl. of drr. Had Abel Owens any Share ?

Palmer. He had a whole Share.

CL. of drr. What had Darby Mullins ?

Palmer. He had a half Share.

Mr. Knapp. Ithink you were fpeaking of Ara-
bian Gold, cthat they had in° Mefles: Had thele
Prifoners their Share of that?

Palmer. Yes, therewasno Difference; theyhad
all their Shares, _,

Mr. Kuapp. Now, if you will afk this Witnels

any Queftion, you may. -
_I *
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Kidd, What fignifies it to afk him any Quefti-
ons? We have no Witnefles, and what we fdy

fignifies nothing. | |
Cl. of Arr. N. Churchill, Will youafk himany

Qu:[l:ion_s? ‘ . |

Churchill. No, I have acknowledged all chefe
Crimes; and furrender’d my felf; and rely on
the King’s Mercy. ' |

Cl. of Arr. J. Howe, Wil you afk him any
Thing ?

Hiwe. Nos _ . ‘

Cl. of Arr. R. Lamley, Will you afk him any

Thing? .
Lamley. Mr. Palmer, How can you tell [ had a

half Share? |
Palmer. Thete was a hdlf Share dire@ed for

ou, .
/ Lamky. I had not a Farthing, ,

Mr. J. Turton. Was he an Apprentice?

Palmer. Yes, he was Servant to Mr. Oweis,

Fenkins. Can you fay, I had any Share?

Palmer. 1know there was a half Share appoint-
ed for you; I know not whether your Mafter
had 1t.

Mr; J. Turéen. Was his Mafter aboard then ?

Palmer. Yes, his Mafter was aboard then.

Cl. of Arir. Gabriel Loffe, have you any Que-
ttions to afk him? _

Loffe. Had I any Share ?

Palmer. Youhad a half Share 5 I did not fee you
take it, but you were in the Lift.

Cl, of Arr. H. Parroty Have yotiany Queftions
to afk him? ,

Furyeman. Did you fee them come out with
the Money in their Hats ?

Palner. Yes. .

Mr.Soll. Gen. Did Gabriel Loffe come onit as
contented as the reft ?

Palmer. No, becaule he had but half 2 Share.

Lyffe. Did you fee me come out with my Mo-
ney !

}})ﬁffﬂﬂ‘. I faw you come out with Money
in your Hart; and I heard you fay, you had half
2 Share,

Loffe. As 1 live, T had no Hat then.

(I of Arr. Have you any Queftions 1o afk
him, H. Parrot ?

Parrot. Did you fee me have any Share ?

Palmer. I did not fee you receive any Share,
but you was called among the reft.

Mr. J. Turton. He fays, they were all called,
Man by Man, to take their Shares.

(L. of Arr. R. Barlicorn, Have you any Thing
to afk him ? |

Barlicorn. 1 defire of him, Whether he faw me
have any Goods, or take any Share ? .

Palmer. My Lord, when the Goods were fha-
red at Madagafear, 1 was at Bonavis 3 1 was not
prefent, but I heard of it afterwards,

]_Barﬁcarﬁ. I hope the Jury will take notice of
(his,

Mr. B. Hatfell. Mr. Bradinbam, Did any of
thefe Men complain, that they had not their
Share,

Bradinbam. No, no, I heard nothing of tha.

Mr. J. Turton. Were thefe Shares fuch as were
agreed on in the Articlesat New-2ork.

Palimer. Yes, Capt. Kidd ordered the Godds
to be hoifted out ? |

: K;dd. Did I order the Goods to be hoifted
ug ¢

1
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Pabner. Yes, you did, A
. Kidd, It was the Mutinous Men thit did
1T,

Parrot. How do you know that I had any
Share ? You did not {ee me in a Yedr after.

Palmer. 1 do not fay, | faw itgiven you.

Kidd, My Lord, there were 95 Men that de-
ferted my Ship, and took away what they plea-
fed ; we could not ftand in Defence of any
Thing. . _

Barlicorn. Was not I an Apprentice to Capt.
Kidd; and waited on him continually in the
Ship ?

Palmer. Yes, ybu were; L

Mr. Soll. Gen. Had he a Share allotted him 2
. Palmer. Yes; but I amapt to think his Mafter
had it. , .

Mr. J. Turtin. Who was his Maltet ?

Palmer. Capt. Kidd.

Cl. of Arr. A.Owens; Have youany Thing to
fay for your felf?

Owens. I refer my felf to the King’s Procla-
mation; _ ‘

Cl. of Arr. Darly Mullfins; Have you any
Thing to fay for your felf ?

Mullins: 1 came to Cape May, where I heard
of the King’s Proclamation: Did notyouand [
tome athore together ¢

Palmer, Yes, we did; the fame Day:

Mullins. Did not we come afhore on the King’s
Proclamation; | _

Palmer, We did hear of it . ,_,

Mullins. Did not you hear, that all the Men
were glad at the News, when they heard of the

Proclamation? == ,
Dr. Oxenden. What did thefe Men fiy then?

. Palmer. They all rcjoiced to hear of fuch a
Thing. , L
Mullins. Frdm the Timé I came from Mada-

gafear I was f{ick of the Bloody-Fluxs I could

not walk a Mile in a Day.

Palner. 1 know you was fick.

Midling. 1 have no more to fay: I fland to
your Lordfhip’s Mercy, and the King’s graciocus
Proclamation: L

Mr. J. Turton. If you have any Witnefles to
call for your felves; you may call them. Cape.
Kidd, what have you to fay for your felf?
You may make your Defence, firft for that
Ship taken in September 5 then, for that in Nevem-
ber.

Kidd, What is it the near for me to fpeak ?
I have no Witnefles for thefe Things.

Mr. B, Hatfell. Yefterday you produced your
Commiffions; if you will; they may be read
now. , 1

Kidd. Tt availed nothing then, Here is all
thefe Men faw the French Pafs:

Palmer. Indeed, Captain, I never faw it.

Kidd. You left my Ship, with g5 Men more,
and you went a roguirg afterwards.

Mr, 8o/l. Gen. Why did you go aboard that
Pirate. | |

Kidd. My Lord, I had a Defign to take that
Frigate, and then I defigned to come for Eng-
land. 1 would not go with fuch a Roguifh
Crew as you were. Was not I threatned to be
fhot in the Cabbin by fuch Villains as you, 1f 1
would not go along with you? This was the Rea-
fon I could not come home. Did not you, with

others, fet fire to the Boat, to deftroy my Ship ?
Palmer.
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Pahner. T know nothing of that; but I am
fure I faved your L.ife on the Malabar Ifland,
when you burnt the Boat.

Kidd. My Lord, they took what they pleafed
out of this Ship, and I was forced to flay by my
felf, and pick up here a Man, and there a Man,
1o carry her home. |

Cl. of Arr. Nicholas Churchill, What have you
to fay for your {elf?

Churchill. My Lord, I plead Guilty, and rely
on the King’s Proclamation.

Cl of Arr. Fames Howe, have you any Thing
to fay for your fclf ?

Hewe. 1 plead Guilty, my Lord.

Kidd. Flere are fome Gentlemen here, 1 de-
fire they may be heard as to my Reputation.
Here is Col. Hew/on,

Mr. §. Turton. What do you afk Col. Hew/fon ?

Kidd. 1afk him what he knowsas to my Repu-
tation in the Jeft-lidies ?

Col. Hewfon. My Lord, he was a mighty Man

there,
fent to me by the Order of Col. Codrington.
Mr. §olf. Gen. How long was this ago ?

Col. Hewfon, Aboutnine Yearsago. He was

with me in two Engagements againft the French,
and fought as well as any Man I ever faw, ac-
cording to the Proportion of his Men, We had
lix Frenchien to deal with, and we had only mine
and his Ship.

Kidd, Do you think I wasa Pirace?

Col. Hewfon. 1know his Men would havegone
a Pirateering, and he refufed it, and his Men
feized upon his Ship. And when he went this
Voyage, he confulted me, and told me they had
engaged him in fuch an Expedition 5 and I told
him he had enough already, and might be con-
tented with what he had: And he faid, 1t was
his own Inclination s but my Lord Bellainont told
him, if he did not go the Voyage, that there
were Great Men, and they would ftop his Bri-
gantine in the River, if he did not go.

Mr. J. Turton. Who told you fo ¢ Did he?

Col. Hewfon. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. J. Turton. If he had kept to the honeft De.
fign of that Expedition, he had done very well.
Did you apprehend that his Intention in thar
Undertaking was to be a Pirate?

Col. Hewfon. No, my Lord. IHe told me his
Buflinefs was to go a Cruifing, and furprize Pi-
rates.

Mr, Soll. Gen. Did he tell you he had no fuch
Defian.

Col, Hewfon. Yes, he faid he would be fhot
to Death before he would do any fuch Thing.
I know he was very ferviceable in the 77yf}-
fudies,

Cl.of Arr. Robert Lamley, Have youany Thing
morc to fay ?

Lawley. 1 can fay nothing, for I have none of
my Friends here.

Kidd. Call Thomas Cooper. (Who appeared.)

Mr. J. Turton. What Queftions do you afk
him ?

Kidd, Sir, pray tell my Lord what you knew
of me 1n the [udies.

Thomas Cooper. 1 was aboard the Lyon, and this
Capt. Kidd brought his Ship from a Place that
belonged to the Drrch, and brought her into the
- King's Service at the Beginning of the War,
about Ten Years ago; and he took Service

He{erved undermy Command. Hewas

under the Colonel; and we fought Monficy
Du Cafs a whole Day, and, I thask God, we
got the better of it; and Capt. Kidd behaveg
himf{elf very well in the Face of his Enemies.

Fury-man. How many Years ago was this?

Tho. Cooper. About Ten Years ago.

Cl. of Arr. Robert Lamley, Flave youany Thins
more to fay? * ’

Lamley, 1have no Friends here, I am a *Prep.
tice, my L.ord.

CL of Arr. IPlliam Fenkins, Have you any mor,
to fay ?

Tenkins. T wasan Apprentice, my Lord,

Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, Flave you any Thip,
to fay for your felf? 7

Loffe. My Lord, I was a Servant under Capt,
Kidd, and always obeyed his Commands, ang
had no Share. I came home with Capr, Kigg,
to Boftonr, and went to my Lord Bellasmont, ang
the Men came and told us he had difchareed ys
and 1 went about my Bulinefs. And fome
Days aftcr, we were committed to Prifon, ang
I was fick, and my Lord let me be ia the Kee.
per’s Houfe, and I was trufted by him four ¢
five Months with the Keys to look after the Pri
foners. Mr. Davis can teftify this. I T had ha
a mind to have done any ill Thing, I might have
done it then, (Thei Mr. Davis apprared, )Pray, M,
Davis, declare what you know of me when |
came to Boffen, and how the Keeper introfted
me with the Prifoners.

Mr. Davis, I remember when we came ther
to the Rsad.[fland, Capt, Kidd fent him home:
And when he came to Boffon, he was trufted
with the Keys, and had liberty to go where he
plealed not out of the Yard.

Mr, J. Turten, Was this after he was a Prifo.
ner ?

My, Davis. Yes, my Lord.,

Gabriel Loffe. 1 hope the Jury will take notica
of this.

Kidd, Mr. Davis, Did you not hear of any
French Pafles that 1 had ¢

Mr. Davis. 1 heard of them, and I {aw them.

Mr. Soll, Gen, Flow do you know they wer
French Paffes?

Mr. Davis. He told me they were Fic
Pafles; I dil! not know it, I could not read
them,

Mr, J. Turton. They fhewed you the Papers;
Did you know what Ship they belonged
to !

Mr. Davis. No, my Lord, not I,

Kidd, 1 delire Capt. Humt may be called, t©
know what my Lord Bellumont faid of me.

Mr. B. Hatfell. That will fignity nothing.

Cl of Arr. Hugh Parrot, Have you any Thing
to fay for your felf

Parrot. My Lord, I had no Share of the
Goods. _

Kidd, My Lord, I delire this Commifiion
may be read.

Mr. B, Hatfell. 1s it under the Broad-Seal?

Mr. Grawley. It is a Letter of Mart and Re-

prifals, my Lord.

[Their the Commiffion was read, dated the 11th of
December, 1695.]

I%”Iriiﬁf
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William Kidd. Now, my Lord, in purfuance of
this Commiffion, T went and took thefe Ships,
which had French Pafles on board, and my Lord
Bellamont took them by force from me.

M. J. Turten. You took one French Ship, and
2ded in a regular manner to condemn her; but,
Did you do fo with the reft ?

Kidd. 1 could not carry thefe Ships home, by
reafon my Men had left me.

M, J. Turton. Mr. Bradinbam, with whatnum-
ber of Men did you go out of Englaund ¢

Bradimbam. With about {eventy Men.

Mr. J. Turton. What number had you when

you went from New-York 2

Bradinham. About 155,

Mr. J.Turton. So that your Number was en-
creas’d.

Bradinham. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. J- Turton. Was there any other Ship con-
demn’d, befides the French Banker?

Bradinham No, my Lord.

Kidd. Thefe Men were fome of them that
Ieft me, and took the Goods; what was lefe ]

carried with me.

Cl.of Arr. Hugh Parrst, have you any more to
fay ?
yParrar. The Evidence cannot prove that I had
any Share : I came with my Commander from
Madagafear, and he paid me an hundred Pieces
of Eight, and my Lord Bellamont {eiz’d all: And
I had Opportunity enough to have gone a pira-
teering with Capt. Culliford, but I told them I
would not : And I came to my Lord Bellamont,
and furrender’d my felf,

Clof Arr. Robert Barlicorn, have you any thing
to fay in your own Defence ?

Barlicorn. 1 defire Witnefs may be call’d, to
know whether I was not a Servant aboard?

Mr. J. Turton. The King’s Evidence fay you
were,

Cl.of Arr. Abel Owens, what have you to fay ?

Owens. 1 own my felf Guilty 5 1 came in upon
the King’s Proclamation.

Cl.of drr. Darby Mullins, what have you to fay?

Mullius, 1 did what T did under the King’s
Commiflion 5 I obey’d my Captain, and came
nome with him 5 I durft not for my Life do other-
wife, Examine the Wicnefles, and they will not
Ly otherwife. Mr. Bradinbam, did 1 do any
Thing againft the Captain’s Command ?

Bradinbam, 1 cannot fay but he did always
obey the Captain’s Commands.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Did he not go aboard Capt. Cu/-
liford afterwards ?

Bradinbam. Yes, my Lord.

Mullins. 1 went for Want.

(/. of Arr. Flave any of youany more to fay ?

Parrat. My Lord, 1did not go out of England
with Capr, Kidd, but I fhipp’d my felf on board
3 Merchant-man bound for Necwfound-land, and I
was taken by a French Privateer; and afterwards
Coming to Madagafcar, Capt. Kidd was there, and
he 100k a Piftol to fhoot me, but I avoided it:
Bt}t hearing afterwards that Capt. Kidd had the
King’s Commiffion, I went aboard him.

Mr. J. Turton, Had he any Commiffion to take
any Goods from the King’s Subjeéts ?

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. Capr. Kidd fays, the Seamen
forced him from the Ship, and you fhared the
Goods your {elves.

Pariot, He does not fay fo of us. My Lord,
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with Submiffion, be pleas’d to atk my Comman-
der, whether I ever difobey’d his Commands,
or was forward to attempt any ill Thing, or
did any Thing of that which is alledg’d againit
me ?

Kidd. Mr. Bradinbam, are not you promis'd
your Life, to take away mine? -

Mr. J. Turton. He is not bound o anfwer that
Queftion: He is very fit to be made an Evi-
dence for the King; perhaps there can bz no
other in chis Cafe, than fuch who are in his
Circumftances.

Parrot. With Submiflion, 1afk the Fvidence,
whether I ever difobey’d the Captain’s Orders?

M. J. Turten. The Captain’s Ord s will ex-
cufe you in honeft Things, but not in unlawfyl

Actions.
Parrot. Asforthe Ships that were taken, I had

no Hand in It
Mr. Knapp. But you receiv’d your Share, and

knew of the robbing of the Ships.

Mr. J. Turton. Gentlemen of the Jury, here is
William Kidd, Nicholas Churchill, Fames Howe, Rew
bert Lamley, William JFenkins, Gadriel Loffe, Hugl
Parrot, Richard Barlicorn, Abel Owens, and Darly
Mullins, the Prifoners at the Bar, who are all in-
dicted for Piracy, or piratical and felonious ta-
King a Moorifb Ship, on the High Seas, about fif-
ty Leagues from Casrawar tn the Eaft- Indies, and
feizing the Goods that were in that Ship, to a
confiderable Value. And they are alfo indicted
for the piratical and felonious taking another
Ship, which waslikewifca Mosrifb Ship, with the
Tackle and Apparel thereof, to the Value of an
Hundred and Five Pounds, four Leagues from
Callicut in the Eaft-Indies. Now to thefe Indiél-
ments they have pleaded, Not guilty : And whe-
ther they are guilty or no, you are to determine,
on the Evidence you have heard.

I need not tell you the Heinoufnefs of this
Offence wherewith they are charg’d, and of
what ill Confequence it isto all Trading Na-
tions. Pirates are call’d Hoffes bumani generis, the
Enemies to all Mankind 3 but they are efpecial-
ly fo to thofe that depend upon Trade: And
thefe Things that they ftand charg’d with, are
the moft mifchievous and prejudicial to Trade
that can happen. But as ic is not my Bufinefs
to aggravate the Oftence, fo it is yours to con-
fider, whether they, orany of them, are guilty

Or not,
Two Witnefles have been produced for the

King, and both of them were concern’d in all
the Tranfactions relating to the Prifoners; and
by their Evidence it appears, That in the Year
1696, about the beginning of May, Capt. Kidd,
who was Captain of The Adventire-Galley, was
fitted out on a very good Defign 3 for he was to
take Pirates, and to feize the Shipsand Effeés of
the King’s Enemies : That was the End of this
Expedition, He went out from Plymonth with
about Seventy Men from Eugland; they fail’d to
New-York, and intheir Paflage they feiz’d a French
Veffel, and that Veflel was condemn’d in a due
Manner, and that was purfuant to their Coms
miffion.

When they came to New-2ork, there were
other Things in Contemplation. Then he made
a Proclamation, to gtve Notice, That if any
would come aboard him, he propos’d Terms for

their Encouragement 5 That they (hould be Sha-
rers
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rers in all they could acquire; he himfelf would
have Forty Shares, becaufe the Ship, Arms, Am-
munition, and Provifions were his, and the reft
fhould be divided proportionable to thofe that
fhould be aboard him. And whereas they went
out with feventy Men, there their Number was
encreas’d to 155, for with that Number he ful'd
from New-2ork.

Gentlemen, The Witmnefles tell you whither
they went afterwards 3 [ will not mention ali the
particular Places, but only fuch whereany Thing
remarkable was done.  They {ay, they came to
a Place call’d Babs-Keys and there, it {eems,
they had an Intention to obferve a Flect, call’d
The Mocca-Fleet : There they ftay’d about Three
Weeks, and in that Time Capt. Kidd fent lus
Boat three times to Mocea, where this Fleet was ¢
The two frlt umes they brought no certain Ac-
counts but the laft Boat that was fent broughit
Intelligence, that there were fourteen or fifreen
Ships Iay in the River or Ifarbour there, and
were ready to fail; and, that they had Dusch
Colours, Euglifh Colours, and AMoserifh Colours.
And Caprt. Kidd faid then, He exp:€ted to make
a confiderable Advantage of them. And afrer
this Advertifement, he fent {fome Men to the
high Lands, to obferve the Motion of this Fleer;
who, after fome Time, gave Notice that the
Fleet was coming ; and then he went out with
his Veflel ; and, as they tell you, he went into
this Fleet, and difcharg’d fome Guns at them
but, they having a Convoy, he found he was not
a Match for them, and that 1c woull be 1n vain
to attempt any thing furtier on fo great a Dif-
advantage; and fo that Delign was fruftrated.
But itmult be obferv’d, That thefe Ships were all
Englifb, Dutch, and Moorifh, and none of them
French ; which fhews Capt. Kidd’s Inclination to
take fuch Ships, for which he had no Authoricy
by any Commffion.

But chey tell you, -after this, when he had met
with this Difappointment, then he fail’d to.
wards the Coaft ot Carrawar, and there they met
with the firlt Moorifh Ship, that he 1s now cliarg’d
with 3 and this Ship they feiz’d, and took one
Parker, who was the Captain : They feiz’d him,
and alfo a Poriuguefe, whom they made ufe of as
an Interpreter; and fome of the Men, whom
they treated in a barbarous manner,  They tell
you, That there happening to be an Enlifh
Factory near that Place 5 they of that Fattory
underftanding that this Parker and the Portuguefe
were on board the Ship, they fent to demand
them, and Capt. Kidd deny’d them, and faid,
There were no fuch Men on board, and yer
he had hid them under the Deck.  You are alfo
told by the Witnefles what they found and {eiz’d
on board this Ship, viz. Pepper, Coftee, Myrrh,
and fome Gold, They have told you, the
Gold was fhar’d among(t them, and in Specie,
as I remember ; every Mefs had two Pieces,
and the reft ot the Goods were divided amongft
them in proportion, according to their Origi-
nal Agreement, or they had their Shares of the
Money for which they were fold,  This was
the firft Ship that he ftands charg’d with. the
prratical taking of 5 and this Ship was a- Moorifh
Ship, and did belong to the Natives of that
Place,

And then it appears they went to the Coaft.
of Malabar, and there they took thz other Ship

that he is charg’d with by the other Indictmen,,
the firft was taken in Seprember, and this in .
vember.  There was on board thac Ship g
Horfes, and feveral Bales of Cotton, and fom,
other Goods ; and this alfo belong’d to the My,
and one Skipper Mitchell, a Dutchinan, was Cap-
tain of her. When they had taken this Ship,
they went to Madagafiar, and there, 1t is toj
you, they funk this Vefiel: And they ]mvi“g
feveral other Goods that they had taken oy of
another Veflel, the Goods were fold, and divided
between the Caprain and the reft of the Men,
according to their feveral Proportions,  And i;
is prov’d to you, that every one of thefe Prio.
ners had fome Share of the Produét of thof
Goods. And now, to fhew what Captain i/
was, and that he was a Favourer of thofe hy
ought to have oppos’d, there wasanother Pirae
there, one Capt. Culliford, who had a Veflel thy
he us’d to the fame Purpofe, call’d T%e Grear M
bemet; and he having heard of Kidd’s Commif.
flon, had a Jealoufie that Capt, Kidd had a De.
fign to tzke him and his Company 5 but he told
them, he had no fuch Defign 5 he was {o far fron
that, that he affur’d them, nay {wore, he would
be true to them : And there were grear Appess
rances of Friendfhip between Capt. Kidd and
Capt. Culliferd s they made mutual Vifits ro each
other ; and Capr. Kidd did accommodate Cull-
ford with fome Guns, and gave him liberty to
take any Thing he had ; and Capt. Culliford like-
wife prefented him with China Silks.  Now this
alfo is given in Evidence, to thew that Capr. Kidl
had a Piratical Defign in all this, and that he
did alift thofe that were engag’d in the like
Defign with him, inltead of endeavouring to fug.
prefs then.

Now, Gentlemen, the fArflt Witnefs, Robert
Bradinbam, has declar’d al] this to you ; and like-
wife Fofcph Palnier has {fpoken to the fame Pur-
pofe, tho’ fomething more than the other ; and
he tells you, how they went athore on one of the
Moalabar Ilands, and how they burnt fome Houles,
and did other very barbarous Things; but that
concerns not this Matter for which they are now
indicled. He tells youalfo, That when they took
one of thefe Ships, whereof Capt. Parker was Com-
mander, they took two of the Men on board that
Ship, and hoifted them up, and us’d them fevere-
ly ;5 which they did, to caufe them to difcover
what Things of Value they had on board ; bus
it feems they had nothing of any confiderable
Worth on board: However, this fhews, that
Capt. Kidd had a Defign to a&t Piratically. The
Witnefs gives you an Account of all the Tranl
a&ions in taking the two Ships, and difpofing of
the Goods, and dividing of the Money : Indeed
he fays, when the Diftribution was made, he
was notin the Cabbin, but tells you, he heard the
Lift call’d over, and all the other Prifoners feve-
rally went in, and brought ouc their Shares I
their Hats, or otherwife, and did not hear any
one complain that he had not his Share.

Gentlemen, there are three Perfons that were
Servants, that is, Rebert Lamiey, he was Ser-
vant to Owens the Cook ; William Sewkins, he
was Servant to the Mate; and Richard Bﬁ?‘ﬁfﬂrﬂ:
who was Servant to Captain Kidd : Now, tho
thefe might have their Shares deliver’d them, ye
it is to be prefum’d that they were to be ac-

countable to their Mafters: And they being
Servants,
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Gorvants, 1 fuppofe you will think to diftinguifh
Jhem from the reft. |

Gentlemen, this is the Sum of the Evidence
oiven for the King ; and, indeed, this feems to
te as ftrong an’ Evidence againit the Prifoners
.t the Bar-as can be: Theydid endeavoyr to take
the Mocca Fleet, but they were too ‘ftrong for
them: And they could have no Sufpicion that
they were French, for they had Euglifh, Dutch,
.nd Moorifh Colours 5 {o that Capt.-Kidd could
nive no Pretence from his Commiffion to ook
Jfter thefe Ships : There were no French among
chem, and yet there he lay three Wecks waiting
tor them s but they did actually take thefe two
Ships mention’d in the Indiétments, and difpos’d
of the Goods, and fhared the Product among
themfclves,  Here 1s all the Evidence that can be
oiven of Piracy.

Now Capt.Kidd, when he comes to make his
Defence, tells you, He had a Commiffion, and it
was produced (and that 15 no more than what is
common in Time of War) whereby he is au-
thoriz’d to take the Ships and Goods of any of
the Subjeéts of the French King 5 -but it is penn’d
with great Caution 3 "he s to take none-but the
Goods and Ships of the Freach King, or his Sub-
jeétss and he is to keep an exat Account of al]
that he takes, and to procure them tobe condemn-
ed in the Admiralty. Now, if he had purfued
this Commiflion, and gone no further, it had
been well; he had done juftly, and anfwered the
End on which he was fent out.  And itdoesap.

pear, that the firft Veflel that he took in his Paf. -
fage to New-2ork was thus condemn’d: But -

afterwards I do not find that he had any Regard
to his Commiflion, but waited for that great

Mocea Fleet a confiderable time, I think abour :

thrce Weeks 3 and being difappointed there, he
afterwards did take thefe two Ships mention’d
in the Indi€tment; and it does not appeat that
they were Freach Ships, neither were there any
French Paffes on board.  One of the Witnefizs
indeed fays, e heard of French Pafles s but net-
ther he, or any other Perfon that has been pro-
duced, has {een one of them. Now Ido not
obferve that his Commiffion does any manner of
way tend to excufe the Caprain 1n taking both,
or either of thefe Ships : One of them was un-
deran Englifh Commander, which was Paiker,
the other under a Dutch-man; there were no
Erench men aboard, only Le Rey, who was made
1kind efa Mock-Captain by Kidd, to ferve a pre-
lent Turn.  But what Capt. Kidd has faid from
his Comumiffion, is fo far from juftifying him, that
It feems rather an Aggravation of his Crime:
For he that will go out with the King’s Com.
miflion on 2 juft and laudable Defign, to take the
Ships and  Liftedts of the French King. in War,
and alfo to deftroy Pirates (which were.the. prin-
apal Ends of his being fitted out toSea) and inw

ftead thercof will turn Pirate hiunfelf, *make ufe -

of the Force with which he was intrufted, for the
promoting his Piratical Purpofes, and for the
felonious wking the Ships and Goods of ‘thefe
that were 113 Amity with the King of Eugland,
QEpuur‘s to be guiley of a manifeft Breach and
iolution of his Truft, attended with very ag-
gravating Circumitances. :

Pjﬁw, for thofe Three that were Setvants, ]
muitleave it to you, whether they did aét other-
Wil :{;an they might do. A Seivant is to obey

0L, V. | T
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his Mafter, but it muft be in Things lawful~and
honeft 3 if they 'did’any Thing elfe, - you, who

Have'heard the Evidence, will confider 'of * their
Guilt, and whether their Cafes differ from the

reft: But there is fome Probability, ‘thir their
Shares-might be-accounted for to'their fefpective

‘Matfters,

Now, as to the reft, there are fome of them

‘that 'do pretend they did furrender- themfelves ;

one of them to Mr. Ritkes, a Juftice of Peace i
Surrey 3 others, to Colonel Bafs who wasa Com-
mander in Eqft-Ferfey ;5 and it does appear, that
they did furrender themfelves accordingly : Bur
that does not come under your Confideration
youare to confider only, whether they are Guilty
of the Fafts they are charg’d with; or no. Asg
to what Effect their {urrendring themfelves may
have with his-Majefty, muft be left to the King’s
Royal Pleafure, but we are to confider the Evi-
dence. “Now they generdlly fay, They did obey
the Caprain, and, .that they underftood he had
the King’s Commiflion. Truly, fo far as he
purfued the King’s Commiffion, they were to
obey him; but when he adts contrary to the
King’s Commiffion, in Acls of Piracy upon the

Ships, Goods and Effefts of the King’s Friends,

and thofe in Amity with the Crown of Eugland,
they fthould have been fo far from obeying and
affifting him, that they fhould have obftruted
him, and feiz’d him, that he might have been
brought to- Juftice, and that would have been
arcater Vindication of their Innocencies. By,
as the Matter now appears,: 1 do not fee that
any thing they. have faid tends to their Defence,
and therefore I muft leave it to your Conlidera-
tion. .

" Indeed, there are fome Witneffes appear for
Capr, Kidd, Colonel Hewfon gives you this Ac-
count of Capt, Kidd, That he was under his

‘-'Cﬂmm;md 'in [h{: beginning_of’ thﬁ \:V-':lr'l ﬂ.ﬂd,

that he fought, and behav’d himfelf very well,
and was ferviceable in the 2Veff-Indies; and he
fays, he difcours’d - hin about his going out on
the Expedition he was fent 5 and, that Kidd faid
he had no Inclination to go. And Mr, Cogper
likewife tells you, That about ten or twelve
Years ago he knew him, and, that he fought
the French, and behav’d himfelf very well at
that Time; and, that {everal of his Men
ran away with his Ship when he was at Ai-

Then there isGabiiel Loffe, he has produced a
Witnefs for him{elf, one Davis 3 and. Davis tells
you, He wasa Prifoner in New-2ork, by Order
from my Lord Bellamont 5 and at firlt chey were
fome Days there before they were taken into
Cuftody ; and there was fo little Apprehenfion
of his being a dangerous Man, that he had
fome Favour allow’d him, and had a great deal
of Liberty. This 15 that-he fays. 1 find not
that- any of the reft- have produced any. Evi-
dence, only they fay they were under the Com-
mander, and were to obferve him 3 but if that
would excufe them, then all Pirates would be
excus'd. Now, as to Capt. Kidd, it feems he
has wofully tranferefs’d the Bulinefs of his Com-
miflion, and acted contrary to the Lnd m}d De-
fign of his being fent out, and in the pratcal ra-
king the Ships and Goods mention’d in the fn-
ditments, in which the other Prifoners at the

Bar have join’d with hims and they were o far
U u from
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Fom being the Ship and Goods of the Freuch
King, or his Subjects, or Pirates, that they were
the Ships and Goods of Perfons of other Na-
rions in Amiry with the Kingof England. Now
if you believe thefe W inefles, that Capt. Kidd

has mken thefe Ships ina pirancal Manner, and,

hat the other Perfons affifted him mnit, and
had their Shares of the Money and Goods, which
is an Evidence of their confenting to, and {pon-
tancous acting, I believe you will think fit to find
them Guiley; but I leave it to yon. And asto
thefe three Perfons thar were Servants, I mufk
jeave their Cafe to your Confideration, whether

you will think fit to diftinguifh them from the

reft, or not.
Tz an Officer was forn 1o keep the Fury.

And after abous Half an Hozar the Fury return’d,
and brought in thiir Verdid,

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen, anfwerto your Names:
Hillians Smith.
Williem Smith. Here, &,

(I. of Arr. Gentlemen, Are you all agreed of

vour Verdifts

Omes. Yes.

Cl.of Arr. Who fhall {ay for you?

Oimrzs. Foreman.

Cl. of Arr. William Kidd, Hold up thy Hand.
(IWhich b2 &id.) Look upon the Prifoner: How
fay you? Is he Guilty of the Piracy and Rob-
bery whercof he flands indifted by the firft In-
diGment, or not Gulty?

Foreman. Guailty,

Cl. of drr. Is Nichsles Churchill Guilty, or not
Guilty?

Loreman. Guily 2

Clof drr, Is Fames How: Guilty, or not
Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Is Ropert Lamley Guilty, or not
Gulty ?

Feremen. Not Gulty.

Cl. of Arr. Is William F:nzins Guilty, or not
Guilty ¢

Eoreman. Not Guilgy.

CL of Arr. 1s Gabril Lsffe Guilty, or not
Guilry ?

Foreinan. GL'! 1] 'i?.

CL of Arr. Is Hugh Perrot Guilty, or not
Guiley ?

Fereman. Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. 1s Richard Barlicorin Guilty, or not
Guiley ?

Foreman. Not Guiley.

Cl. of Arr. Is Abel Owens Guilty, or not
Guiley.

Foreman, Guilty. .

Cl. of drr. Is Darby Mullins Guilty, or not
Guilty.

Foreman.- Gulty.

I like manner Kidd, and Sixmore, <were found
Guilty on the other Indiliment, and the Thre:
Seroants dequitied,

The Trial of #illiam Kidd, and the

other Nine Perfons, upon Twg
more Indi¢ments of Piracy :

One committed on a Moorz/b Ship, four
Leagues from Caliscut 5 the other, on 4
Portuguefe Ship, twelve Leagues from
Callicut. |

HE Prifoners beiig call’d to the Bar, ayg
the Jury call’d, and_ Capt. Kidd challenging
thofe that had Try’d him for the Murther, e

Twelve that were {worn are as followeth; vz

JuRr vy, .
Fof. Watfen, N (Tho. Plaiftd,
Fof. Villers, Sam. Rown,
Geo. Afbby, J Mayrm. Bludder,
Ed. Lenwick, Fo. Scot,
Gilbert Eaft, I I Fo. Reynolds,

Tho. Humfrevil, 3 LRich. Drew.
Cl. of Arr. Cryer, count thefe : Fo. Wafom.
Ciyer. One, 8. Twelve Good Men and True,
ftand together, and hear your Evidence. |
Mr. J. Turton. With what will you proceed on
oW ?
Cl. of Arr. With the two other Ships.

Then the ufual Proclamation for Information
was made 5 and the Prifoners being bid ts
bold up thesr Hands, the Cl. of Arr. charg'd
the Fury with them thus

Clof Arr. You of the Jury, look upon the
Prifoners, and hearken to their Caufe. They
ftand Indited by the Names of Hilliam Kidi,
late of London, Naxinery, &e, (As before in lix
Indiciment.) Upon this Indictment they have
been arraign’d, and thereunto have feverally
pleaded Not Guilty, and for their Trial have
put themfelves on Gop and their Couny,
which Country you are. Your Charge is, ©

_enquire, whether they be Guilty of the Piracy
and Robbery whereof they ftand indicted, orno
Guilty, {oc. .

Churchill. 1 plead Guilty, my Lord, T fubmit
my felf to the King’s Proclamation.

Cl. of Arr. Fames Howe, Do you ftand to your
Plea? t

Howe Guilty, my Lord, I fubmit to his Me-
jefty’s gracious Proclamation.

Cl. of Arr. Robert Lamley, what do you-fay?

Lamley. Not Guilry. |

Mr. J. Turton. You mayenter their rerracting
their Pleas in Court.

Cl. of Arr. William Fenkins, what fay you? Do
you {tand to your Plea?

Fenkins, Not Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, what fay you ¢

Loffe. Not Guilty. .

Cl.of Arr. Hugh Parrot, what fay you?

Parrot. Not Guilty. -

Cl. of Arr.” Richard Barlicorn, what {ay you?

Barlicorn. Not Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Abel Owens, what fay you!

Ozt



1701 O.B. ~ for Mutder a#d Piracy. 331

Owens. Guilty. I came upon the King’s Pro-

clamation.

Mr. Kuapp. The Jury is not to be charged
with them three chen. | N

Cl,of Arv. Here is 2 fecond Inditment againft
chem, wherein they {tand indited. by the Name
of Williain Kidd, late of London, Mariner, {c. (as
o the former Charge.) What muft I fay now ?

Mr. I, Turton. Afk them three, Whether they
gand to their Plea to this Indictment, or re-

tract 1t ? o |
Cl. of Arr. Nicholas Churchill, Do you contefs

s Indiétment?

Churclill. Yes, my Lord.

Cl. of Arr. Fames Howe, What fay you

Hizoe. Guilty of that, and all the other.

Cl. of drr. Abel Owens, What do you fay?

Owens. Guilty of that, and all the other.

Cl. of Arr. Set them three by. Gentlemen of
the Jury, Here isone #illiam Kidd, Robert Lamley,
William Fenkins, Gabriel Leffe, Hugh Pairot, Ki=
thard Barlicorn, and Darly Mullins, have been in-
ditted upon two feveral Inditments that have
been read 5 and for T'rial have pur themfelves
on God and their Country; which Country you
are,

Mr. Knapp. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the
Jury ; thefe are two feveral Indi€tments of Pi-
racy, againlt /Pilliam Kidd, and the Six other
Prifoners at the Bar. The Firft fets forth; That
thefe Prifoners, the 28th of Decemper, 1n the
Eichth Year of his Majefty’s Reign, about four
Leagues from Callicut, did piratically enter a
certain Ship, called a Moerifh Ship, and that
they took her, with the Apparel and Tackle,
and eok out of her feveral Goods that have been
read to you in this Indi¢tment.  To this Indicta
ment they have pleaded, Not Guilty. If we
prove them guilty, you muft Find them fo. The
other Indi®tment fets forth, That on the gth of
Fannary, &3¢, they took another Ship, a Portu-
ouefe Ship 5 and to this alfo they have pleaded,
Not Guilty. If we prove them gutty, you
muft Vind accordingly. Call Rebeit Bradinbain,
;nd Fofiph Pelici.  (Who appeercd, and wwere
Woii. )

Mr.Sol{,Ger. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the
Jury, Iam Council for the King againft the Pri-
foners at the Bar : They ftand indicted for feveral
Piracies committed on two Ships; and our Evi-
dence againft them will be to this Purpofe : Capt.
Kidd had two Commiflions, one was to take Pi-
rates, the other was to take French Ships.  Hil-
liai Kidd, in his Ship, The ddventure-Galley, went
out of England in the Year 1696 : He afterwards
went to New-2%7k, and there he increafed the
Number of his Men : And from thence went
away with a Refolution to commit the Piracies,
tome of which he has been convicted of already:
Then he went to Babs-Key, and laid n wait to
intercept the Mocca Fleer ; but was difappointed
of that, they being well guarded : He went at-
terwards to other Places, and took two Ships,
which were not the Ships here mentioned, After
that, he feized a Ship, called a Moorifb Ship, ten
Leagues from Callicut, and there feizes one of the
Ships for which he is now indicted, a Moorifh
ohip, and takes out of her Sugar-Candy, and
other Goods, to the Value of about Five and
Fwenty Pounds, In anmuary following, he meets

another Ship, and feizes her too, and takes out
Vor. V,

of her to the Value of Sixty Pounds. Thefe
Goods he difpofes of, and divides the Proceed of
it between himfelf and thie Crew of the Ship. And
this 1s the Piracy for which he is now indicted.
The Matter ydu are to enquire into, is, Whether
they be guilty of Piracy on thefe two Ships, of
no. Wewill call our Witnefles ; and; if ive prove
them guilty, I doubt not biit you will do Right to
your Country and them: Mr. Bradinbam, thefe
Gentlemen have not been upon the Jury before ;
therefore you muft give an Account of the whole
Matter from the Beginning, from your going our
of Plynouth.

Bredinbam. In the Year 1696, the Beginning
ot May, we went from Plymouth 1o New-York,

Mr. Soll. Gen. What Ship did you go in?

Dradiiham. The Adventure-Galley: And by the
Way he took a Freach Ship, which he condemn-
ed when he came to New-Fork. At New-2ork he
put up his Articles, to get Men aboard his Ship,
and they were to have a Share of what was taken,
About the Sixth of Sepresber we failed.

Mr. J. Gould, What Number of Men had you
when you went from Exgland ?

Bradiubam. About feventy Men,

Mr. J. Gonld. How many had you when you
went from New-2ork?

Bradinbam. About an hundred and fifty. The
Sixth of Septeinber we failed from New-2ork, and
went to Maderas, then to Bonavis, then to St.Fau-

ger, then to Madagafcar, then to Feama, then to

Mabala, then to Feanna again, then to Meta in
the Red-Sea, and then to Bads-Key.

Mr. Sofl. Gen. What did you do there?

Braditham. He lay there about a Forwmight or
three Weeks, to wait for the Mocca Fleet, and
fent out his Boat three times to make a Difco-
very s the two firft times they made no Difcovery ;
but the third time they brought Information, that
they were ready to fail.

Mr. B. Hatfell, What was the Mocca Ileet ?

Bradinham, They were Moorifb Ships,

Mr. B, Hatfell. To what End did he wait for
them?

Bradinbam. He faid, he would make a Voyage
but of them.

Mr. Soll. Gen. What happened on that?

Bradinbam. Heordered fome Men to look out
for them on the high Lands ; and when they faw
them coming, they were to give Notice, and he
was to ferch them off i the Boat. This Fleet
came, and he fell inwith them, and fired at them ;
but they being under Convoy, he was forced to
quit them: And then going to Carrawar, he met
with one Parker’s Ship; he took this Parker's
Ship, and took him for a Pilot, and the Portugucfe
for a Linguifter.

Mr., Soll. Gen. How did he ufe the Men there?

Bradinbam. Two of them were brought on
board the Adventure-Galley, and they were heifted
iip, and drubb’d with a naked Cutlafs.

Mr. Sull, Gen. Why did he do that?

Bradinbam. That they might make Difcovery
of their Riches.

Mr. Soll. Gen. What did they take out of that
Ship!?
gmdiﬂbrzm. Some Coffee, Pepper, (¢,
Mr. Soll. Gen. What did he do with the two
Men?
Bradinbam. He carried them with him to Car-
rawar 3 and when he came there, they were de-
Uu 2 manded
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manded by the Englifb Faltory there, and he de-
nied them, and faid, He had no fuch Men aboard.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Where had he put them ?
Bradinham. He confined them aboard in the

Hold.
Mr. Soll. Gen. Where did he go then?

Bradinbam. He put to Sea, and the next Day
he met with a Porfuguefe Man of War, and
fought her.

Kidd, He tells nothing but meer Lies.

Bradinbam. Then he went to the Malsbar
Iflands, and watered and wooded, and caufed
his Men to burn feveral Houfes, and plunder fe-

veral Boats, and afterwards burnt them.

Mr, J.Turton, Did you fee them burnt?
Bradinbam. 1 was not afhore, but I faw the

Smoke.

Kidd, 1t is 2 fine Trade, that you muft take
away fo many of the King’s Subjects Lives, and
know nothing at all of the Marter !

Mr. So/l. Gen.Whardid you do with that Ship ?

Bradinbam. He took her, and difpofed of the
Goods, and carried her to Madagafear.

Mr. Soli, Gen. What did he do after that?

Bradinbam, We went to the Malabar ands

fome time in December, and he took a Meorifh

Ketch.
Kidd, How came you to keep this Account,

when for five or fix Months together you were

under Deck ?

Mz, Soll. Gen. Go on, Mr, Bradinbam, and give
an Account of your further Proceedings.

Kidd. 1 hope the King’s Council will not
put him in the Way. It is hard, thata couple
of Rafeals fhould take away the King’s Subjetts
Lives: They are a Couple of Rogues and Raf-

cals,
Bradinbam, This Ketch was taken by the

Ship’s Crew, about December, 1697. and one of

the Boat’s Crew was wounded at the Taking of
this Ketch.
Mr. Soll, Geir. What was there in this Ship?
Bradinbam. Some Tubs of Sugar-Candy, To-

bacco, 9.
Mr. Sol, Gen, What did he do with thefe

Goods ?

Bradinbam. They were carried aboard, and
fhared into Meffes, two Tubs and a half of Su-
aar-Candy to a Mefs.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Had the Prifoners at the Bar
any Shares? -

- Bradinbam, Yes and then he fet the Ship on
ire.

CY. of Arr. Had Capt, Kidd himfelf any Share ?

Bradinbam. Yes,

Cl. of Arr. How much had he?

Bradinbam. He had forty Shares,

Mr. B, Hatfell. You thould tell this Jury how
many Shares the Whole was divided into.

Bradinbam, 1t was divided into one hundred
and {ixty Shares, and Capt. Kidd was to have forty
Shares, lct them be as many as they would, and
the reft were to be divided among the Men.

Cl. of drr. Had Robert Lamkly any Share ?

Bradinbam, Yes,

Cl. of Arr, Had Williain Fenkins a Share?
Bradinbam. Yes.
Cl. of Arr. Had Gabriel Loffe any Share?
Bradinham. Y es.
Cl. of drr. EHad Hugh Parrot any Share?
Bradinbam, Y es.

Cl. of Arr. Had Richard Barlicorn any Shay,;

Bradinbam. Yes.

Cl. of drr. ad Darby Mullins any Share?

Bradinbom. Yes.

Mr. Soll. Gen, What was done afterwards?

Bradinham. After they had done thefe thipae
they burnt the Ketch. 27

Knapp, What did they do then ?

Bradinham. The Moors were driven aore by
the Ship’s Crew.

Kidd, Flow did you know they were Azors 2

Bradinbam. By Intormarion of the Ship’s Cray

Kidd He was not within five Leagues of ;e
Place.

Kuapp. What did you meet with afterwards>

Bradimbamn. A Portuguefe Ship.  Some time iy
January, 169%, we met with o Porfugue Ship
on the Coaft of Mialebar, and he took her 5 ang
he took out of her fome Opium, fome Eqf-Judi,
Goods, fome Powder, and fixcy or feventy Bag
of Rice.

Mr. Sofl. Gen. My Lord, this is the other Ship
for which they are indifted, Whar was the Valy.

of thefe Goods?
Bradinbam. T here were fome Eaff- India Goods,

Opium, Powder, and Rice,
Kidd. Did you {ee them brought aboard ?
Bradinbam. 1 am anfwering the Bench,
Mr. Soll. Gen, Were there any other Gools?
Bradmbam. Yes, there was Bees-Wax, and
thirty Jarrs of Butter.
Mr. Sofl, Gen, What was the Value of thefs

Goods?
Bradizham., About Four or Five Hundred

Pounds.
Kidd. 1t 1sa fine Trade indeed, that he muft

be inftruéted what to fay!

Bradinbam. After he had plunder’d this Ship,
he was purfued by fome Dutch Ships 3 feverd
Ships gave him chace, and he was forced to leave

this Ship,
Mr. Sofl. Gen. What did they do with the

Goods ?
Bradinham. He fold the Opium on the Coaft,
and the reft he kept for Provifion,
Mr. Soll. Gen. What became of the Money?
Bradinbam. Captain Kidd fhared i,
Mr. Soll. Gen, Who had thetr Shares? Give

an Account of that,

Bradinbam, The Prifoners at the Bar,

Gl of Arr. Had Capt. Kidd any Shares?

Bradinham, Yes,

Cl. of Arr. Had Robert Lamley any Share?

Bradinbam, He had half a Share.

Cl of Arr. Had William Fenkins any Share?

Bradinbam. He had half a Share.

Cl of Arr. Had Gabriel Lsffe any Share?

Bradinbam. He had halfa Share.

Loffe. How do you know that ¢ Did you fi2
me bring 1t out?

Bradinbam, 1 did not {ce you take it ; but you
brought it our, and acknowledged it.

Kidd. Before, you fwore, I paid them firft, and
now you fay they paid me firft

Bradinbam. They had a Share as before.

Mr. Kuapp, Now proceed in your Voyagt
What did you do after this?

Bradinbam, After this, we went a Cruizing oR
that Coatt, and we met with the QuedaghMerchaniy
and took her; and afterwards, about fifry Leagies

from the Cape, we met with a Moorifp Velld! d
< af
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e Capt. Kidd fent his Men on board that Vef-
lfcl, .nd they took out of her ten Jarrs of Butter,
ond 2 Main fail 3 and he took out two of the Men
(that he carried to Madagafcar) becaufe he wanted
T

”{I:»I’%r Kiapp. Can you tell of any Thing clfe?

Rradinbair, e took about a Dozen Malabar
poats, and plunder'd ’em, and then let “em go.

Mr, Erapp. Go on.

Bradinham. Then we came to Madagafear.

Mr. Fnepp. What happen’d there?

Bradinbam. There came a Canoooft's fome of
the Men in this Canoo belonged to the Mocca
Frigate 5 they came oft to Capt. Kidd, and they
rold him, They heard he was come 1o take them,
and hang “em.

Mr. Knapp. What were thofc Men ?

Bradmbam. They were fuppos’d to be Pirates,

Mr. Kiapp. Who was the Commander of that
Ship?

ﬁ'ﬂdfnbam. Capt. Culiiford.

Kidd. How came you to know this? He fays

any thing. | _

Mr. Knapp. Go on with this Story, and give
an Account what pafs’d between them.

Bradinbam. This Canoo came aboard Captain
Kidd, and they told him, they heard he was come
to take them, and hang’em 5 but he affur’d them
it was no fuch thing : And he went aboard the
Frigate, and fwore to be true to them, and, that
he would aid them in any thing he had: And
Capt. Culliford came aboard him, and they made
Prefents to one another.

Mr. Knapp. What Prefents did Captain Kidd
make Culliford ¢ .

Bradinbam. He gave him {ome Shirting-ftuff.

Kidd What! Did I give him Shirting-ftufi?

Bradinbam. Yes s and he gave him two Great
Guns.

Kidd. Did 1 go aboard him, you Rafcal ¢

Mr. Soll, Gen. Mr. Kidd, afk him what Queftions

you will.

Mr. J. Turton. Captain Kidd, will you afk this
Witnefs any Queftions? '

Kidd. My Lord, what fignifies it? Were there
not Ninety of the Men that mutinied ? T faid,
Let us take this Ship; and, Did they not all con-
fult and fay, Where there 1s One that will fire
againft the Pirate, there are Ten that will fire
againft you, And fo they went and took the
Goods, and left me. [ afk you, whether this be

not true? '
Bradinbam. My Lord, he never {poke any thing
like it, that he would take Celliford; but he fwore.

to be true to them.

Kidd. Did not I propofe to myMen to take
Capt, Culliford 2 Did you never hear any body
iy fo?

Bradinham. No,

Kidd. Did you not fay Yefterday, that I was
come to take them?

Bradinbam. 1 faid, they cameand told you they
heard fo; and you affur’d them, you intended no
fuch thing.

Kidd. You fwore I gave them four Guns Yefter-
day, and-now you fay but two.

Mr. Soll. Gen. 1t was Palier that faid Ifour,

Bradinbam. 1 faid bur 1T wo, and no more.

Cl. of Ay, Captain Kidd, have you any thing
more to afk him ?
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Kidd. It fignifies nothing to afk him any
thing.,

'Cl. of Arr. Robert Lamley, will you afk this
Witnels any thing ?

Lamley. 1only afk him, whether I was not an
Avpprentice ?

Mr. J. Turton. Anfwer that Queftion.

Bradinbam. My Lord, he was a Servant,

Mr. J. Turton. To whom?

Bradiuham. 'To Mr. Owens.

Mr. J. Turton. Was his Mafter aboard then ?

Bradinbam. Yes, my Lord.

Cl. of Arr. William Fenkins, will you alk the
Witnefs any thing ?

Jenkins, I defire him to fay, whether 1 was a
Servant, or not?

Bracinkawm. Yes, my Lord, he was Servant.to
the Mate ?

Mr. J. Turion. Was us Mafter aboard then?

Bradinbam. He was aboard then,

Cl. of drr. Gabricl Loffe, will you afk himany
Queftions ?

Loffe. No, Sir.

Cl.of drr. Hugh Parrat, will you atk him any
thing ?

Parrot. No.

Cl. of Arr. Richard Barlicorn, will you afk this
Witnefs any thing ?

Berlicorn. 1 have nothing to afk him, but de-
fire him to {peak the Truth, whether I was not
the Captain’s Servant ?

Bradinham. He was, my Lord.

Cl. of Arr. Darly Mullins, will you afk him
any thing ?

Mullis. T have nothing to fay but what I faid
before. I fubmit my felf to the King’s gracious
Proclamation.

Kidd. He has perjur’d himfelf in many Things.

Mr, J. Turion. In what? Give an Infiance.

Kidd. In a great many Inftances : About the
Guns, that is one Thing : And then he fays,
the Ship went from Plyouth the Beginning of
May, and before he faid, it was in April, that
is another Thing: And, my Lord, the Mari-
ners came and took Anchors, and Cables, and
what they would, and, he fays, I gave them to
them, and thisis falfe. And now he fays con-
trary to what he did befores for then he faid,
we went out in April, and now in the Beginning
of May.

Mr. J. Zurion. He did not confine himfelf to
a Day; he faid, about the Beginning of May.

Mr. Soll. Gen.  Call Fofeph Palmer, (1Vho ap-
pear’d.) Mr, Palmer, Pray, give my Lord and
the Tury an Account of Capt. Kidd and his Crew,
where they went, and whart chey did,

Palmer. We went from Plymouth to New-2ork,
in the Year 1696, and in the Way took a French
Ship, and carried her to New-2ork, and fold her;
and there he put up Articles, to invite Men a-
board his Ship, and what they took was to be di-
vided into fo many Shares, whereof Caprain Kidd
was t0 have Forty, the reft to be divided among
the Men 5 and in September following we went
from thence, and we had then about one hundred
and fixty Men : From thence we went to Maderas,
from thence to Bonavis, then to §t. Fauger, then to
Foanna, then to Mabala, then to Joauna again,
and then to Meta in the Red-Sea, where he water-
ed and wooded his Ship, and then to Babs-Key, a
fmall I0and in the Red-Seas and when he came
there,
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there, he ordered hisMen to look out on the high
Lands for the Mocca Fleet, and expefted the Fleet
to come that Way 3 and he fent fome Men in his
Boat, with Orders either to take a Prifoner, or
to bring word what Ships were there, He fent
his Boat twice, and they made no Difcovery; but
the third time they went, they came within fight
of the Ships, and brought word, that there were
fourteen ot fifteen Sail lying there with Dutch,
and Englifh, and Moorifb Colours, and a great
Ship with red Colours, ready to fail : And then
Captain Kidd order’d his Men to look out on
the other Side the high Lands, for fear the Ships
thould pafs him : And at laft the Ships came
down,

Kidd. There is no great Occafion for this,

Palmer. There were Moors and Turks belong-
ing to thefe Ships, And about the 15th of Au-
guft the Fleet came down, and Captain Kidd fell
in with them : His Quarter-mafter, and fome of
his Men, were faying, Let us go aboard *em To-

night : No, fays he, we will take our Choice of

them in the Morning ; and in the Morning he
went among them, and fired at them, but took
none of em 3 he found they were too ftrong for
him, and went away @ And, after this, going to
Carrawar, he took a Ship, call’d The Maiden
it was between Carrawar and this Place ;s they
reckon’d they were not far from the Ifland of Sz
Yobn : He took this Ship, and took out of her
lome Pepper, a Bale of Coffee; and fome more
Bales of Coffee came on board, but he retained
only one Bale, and the Pepper, and faid, He
would not cumber his Ship with fuch Stuff : And
Parker and a Portuguefe he took out, one for a
Pilot, the other for a Linguifter 5 and two of the
Men he order’d to be hoifted up, and whipp’d
with a naked Cutlace.

Kidd. 1 afk this one Thing; Did the Mocca
Fleet fire firlt at me, or I at them ?

Palmer, No, they fired firft.

Kidd, And juft now the other faid, I fred

firft 1 Is not he perjured ?

Mrt. J. Turton. Mr. Bradinham, did he fire firft,
or no?

Bradinbam. He fired at them. T only faid,
you fired at them; 1 did not fay firflt or latt,

Palmer. After this, he went to Carrawar, to
an Lnglifh Fatory, and wooded and warter’d his
Ship, and one Harvey came and demanded thefe
two Men ; and Capt. Kidd denied that he had
any fuch Men on board, and kept them in the
Iold.

Mr. Sofl. Gen. Is that an Englifh Faltory ?

Palmer, Yes: Scveral of Capt. Kidd’s Men
feft him there, and feveral more would have left
him, 1f they could have conveniently gone a-
fhore : And the fame Evening he put to Sea, he
met a Porirguefe Ship, and foughe her.

Kidd. Who fired there firft ?

Palmer, The Portuguefe fired firft.

7dd. You do not tell that Story right.

Palmer.  After he left this Portuguefe Ship, he
went to the Ifland of Malabar, and robb’d the
Natives, and fct their Houfes on Fire, and rook
onc of the Natives, and bound him to a Tree,
and fhot him to Death,

Mr. Soll, Gen. Did you fee the Houfes on Fire ?

Palmer. Yes; and afterwards we went to Cal-
lient, and met with a Moorifh Ship in Nevember,
Skipper Mitehel was Commander ; and there were

taken out of her two Horfes, and Cotton, apg
Quilts 5 and this Ship he carried to Madagafzar
Some time in December following we came to the
Coaft of Malabar.

Mr. Knapp. Can you tell what Year it was?

Palmer, It was in December, 1697,

Mr. Knapp. Where was this ?

Palmer. About twelve Leagues from Calliyy

Mr. Knapp. What fort of Ship was it ?

Palmer. A Moorifl Ketch.

Mr. Knapp. What Burthen was fhe ¢

Palmer. About fifty Tun,

M. Knapp. What did you do there?

Palmer. Capt. Kidd was lying at Anchor, and
this Ketch came between him and the Shore, ang
he fent the Boat, and they brought the Ketch g
the Ship, and took out of her thirty Bales of Sy.
gar-Candy, Tobacco, Sugar, and Myrrh.

Mr. Kuapp. What did they do with thefe
(zoods ?

Palmer, When they had taken them out, they
were fhared between the Men in Mefles, fevep
Men to a Mefs, for their own {pending.

Mr, Knapp, Had the Piifoners at the Bar any
Share ? |

Palmer. All the Men had.

Mr. Knapp. "What Share had Capt. Kidd?

Paler. T cannot tell whether he had his forty
Shares of that, or no.

Mr. Knapp. What did they do with the Ship?

Palmer. They burnt her.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Pray now ¢o on. What did
they do next ?

Palmer. Some time in Fanuary they met witha
Portuguefe Ship.

Mr. §oll. Gen. Where ¢

Palmer. Of of Anfingo, an Englifb Faltory : I:
was a pretty way off Shore.

Mr. Soll. Gen. What Ship was 1t ?

Palmer. A Portuguefe Ship.

Kidd, You faid, it was jult by Caflicut Ye-
iterday.

Mr. Soll. Gen. W hereabouts was it ?

Palmer. On the Coalt of Malabar 3 it might b
about ten or twelve Leagues from Callicus,

Mr. Soll. Gen. What Goods were in the Ship
when fhe was taken?

Palmer. There were two Chefts of Indian Goods,
two Chelts of Opium, fome Rice, Butter, Way,

and Iron.
Mr. Sofl. Gen. What was the Value of thofe

Goods:

Palmer, Traly I cannot tell the Value of them.

Mr, Soll. Gen. What did they do with thok
Goods ?

Palmer. The Wax and Iron he put on boarl
The November, and fome on board his own Ship,

Mr. Soll, Gen. Did he fell any of thefe Goods’

Palmer. No, but he fold the Opium on the
Coaft.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Did he keep the Ship?

Palmer. No, but feven or eight Days, and
then he quitted her ; there were fome Dutchumsn
coming, and he funk that Ship, The Producc
of the Ship was fhared.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Had the Prifoners at the Bir
any Share?

Palmer, Yes.

(1. of drr. Had William Kidd any Share?

Palmer. Yes.

Cl, of Arr. Blad Robert Lamley any Share?
Palmer.

1



isor. O.B. for Murder and Piracy.

mer. Yes. o
gfﬂay" Arr. Had Willians Fenkins any Share ?
Palimer. Yes. |
Cl. of Arr. Had Gabriel Loffe any Share?

Palimer. Yes.
C. of Arr. Had Hugh Parrot any Share?

Palmer. Yes. | |
Cl. of Arr. Had Richard Barlicors any Share ?

Paler, Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Had Darby Mullins any Share ?

palmer. Yes ;3 thefe Goods were fhared, and
we bought Provifion with them.

Kidd. You fay, thisShip was taken off of A=
0. and that it was twelve Leagues from Calli-

{1170, - was .
{Iffa, and this Ayjingo 1s fifty Leéagues from Calli-

(il .
Paliser. It is all upon one Coaft,

Mr. Soll. Gen. Give an Account of your coms
ing to Madagafear, and what followed.

Palmer. They found a Ship, called The Refolu-
tien, Capt. Culliford was Commander 5 and feve-
ral of the Men came off to Capt. Kidd, that
were formerly acquainted with him; and they
f1id, We hear you are cothe to hang us : fays he,
It is no fuch Thing: And afterwards they went
aboard each other, and Capt. Kidd made Pro-
teftations to be true to them. There were four
Guns in the Ship, and he prefented thefe Guns
to Cuiliford.

Kidd. Did I prefent him with my Guns?
Becaufe I wottld not turn Pirate, you Rogues,
you would make me one.

Mr, Bar. Hatfell, What did Capt. Kidd {ay
to Culliford, when they were drinking toge-

ther ?
Palmer. They madea Tub of Bomboo, as they

call 1t, (it is made of Water, and Limes, and Su-
gar) and there they drank to one another ; and,
lays Capt. Kidd, before 1 would do you any

Damage, I had rather my Soul fhould broil in
Hcll-fire,

Mr. Soll. Gen. Was you there then ?

Palzer. This was on the Quarter-deck of the
Mecea Frigate,

Mr., So/. Gen, What were thofe M=n 1n that
Ship? What did you apptehend them to be?

Pahisr. They were Pirates.

Mr. 86!, Gen. Thd Capt. Kidd or his M:a of-
br 1o take them.

Palinzr, Fle did never propofe any fuch Thing,

Mr, Sell. Gen. Now you may alk him whao
Quettions you will.

Kidd. There were twenty of them on board,
and left me.
| !’ahnsr. Capt. Kild and Celliford were as great
[riends as could be.

Mr, §52, Gen. Afk him what Quefti:ns you
pleafe,

K4l T fignifies nothing to afk any Que-
flions 3 a couple of Rogues will fwear any
Phing.

Mr. S5l Gen, Will you afk him any Quefti-
ong ¢

Kidd No.

Cloof Arr. Robert Lamles, Will you afk him
10y Queltions ?

T.rzmk_r. No,

CLoof vy 1illiasi Seaking, \Will you afk him
any Quettions ?

Jeikins. Nos 1 have no more €0 fily, but
what T f2id before, ‘
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Cl of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, Have youany Thing
toalk him?

Laoffe. No. |

Cl.of Arr. Hugh Parrot, Will youafk the Wit-
nefs any Queftions ?

Parrot. No. | |

Cl.of Arr. Richard Barlicorin, Will youafk him
any Thing,

Barlicorn. No

Cl. of Arr. Darby Mallins, Will you afk him
any Thing ?

Mudlins, Nosy but only i fay, I came home
upon his Majefty’s Proclamation; Icame volun-
tarily, expeting to have the Benefit of it with
the Evidence. :

M. J. Turton. That does not fall under the Ju-
ry’s Confideration.

Cl. of Arr. You, the Prifoners at the Bar, Will
you fay any Thing for your felves upon thefe
two Indictments ?

Kidd. T will not trouble the Court any more,
for it 1s a Folly.

Cl. of Arr. Robert Lamley, What have you to
fay for your felf ?

Lamiey. Nothing, but that T was a Ser-
vant.

1‘ Cg. of Arv. William Feukins, What have you to
ay !

Feukins, I was a Servant, my Lord.

?l. of drr. Gabriel Loffe, Have youany Thing
to ;ly?

Loffe. My Lord, Ialk him, Whether I ever a&-
ed any Thing in taking thefe Ships, but only un:
der my Captain’s Command:

Palmer. He alted as other Men did.

Cl. of Ary. Hugh Parrot, Have you any Thing
to fay ?

Parrret. I can fay ho more than 1 have faid.

Cl. of Arr. Richard Barlicorn, Have you any
Thing to fay ¢ *

Barlicorn, My Lord, I am a Servint.

l‘ Cl. of drr. Darly Mullins, What have you to
ay ? .
Mullins, Did not Capr. Kidd often fay; his
(]fommiﬂion would bear him out 1 what he
did ?
] Palmer. Yesy 1 bhave heard him often fay
that.

Mr. J. Turton. Buthow came you to go aboard
Culliford 2

Mullins., For Want, my Lord. .

Mr. J. Turton; Gentlemen of the Jury; Here
are feveral Perfons, wiz. Willam Kidd, Rsbers
Leinley, William Fenkias, Gabriel Loffe, Hugh Par-
rot, Richard Barlicorn, and Darby Mudlins, they
all ftand Indifted for Piracy : Indeed there are
three more Indited with them, wiz. Nickslas
Churchill, Fames Howe, and Azl Qwens; but
they have confeffed themfelves Guilty, and you
are row cafed of any Fnquiry concerning them,
and are only to confider of the other Seven,
who are Inditted upon two feveral Indictments ;
One is, for the piratical and felonious taking
away a Moorifs Ketch, to the Value of Fifty
Pounds, and the Goods therein to the Value
of One hundred Pounds; this was in Decesiter,
1697. And the Other is, for piratically {eiz-
ing and taking away Goods to the Value of Se-
venty Pounds from the Portugsl Ship, twelve
Leagues from Callicut in the Eaft-Indies. Now

to thefe two Indictments chefe Prifoners at the
Bar
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they are fo or no, you are to determiiie, upon
the Eviderce given you. . There have been two
Witnefles produced for the King, Rebert Bradin-
bam, and Fofeph Palmer: 1 will not tronble you
with the Repetition of their diftint Evidence,
becaufe they agree in all Things; and if I men-
don what onehas faid, it is, ineffe@, what the
other faid alfo.

Gentlemen, It appears, that Capt. Kidd, with
feventy Perfons aboard his Ship, called The Advei-
ture-Gallzy, went from England in the Year 1696,
having a Commiffion of Mart and Reprifal, to
take the Veflels, Ships and Goods of the French
King, or any of his Subjeéts, he then being at
War with the King of England 5 and another
Commiffion for feizing Pirates. e has not in-
deed produced thefe Commnffions to you now,
though he did on another Trial. But he went

out on a very honeft Defign, and in purfuance of

it he took a French Ship in his Paffage to New-
York, and brought her thither, and had her legally
condemned. But while he was there, 1t appears,
that he had other Thoughts poffeffed him, and
wicked Intentions to turn Pirate, and not to
take them ; and that he might be well mann’d,
he makes Proclamation amongft the Martners
there, that fuch of them as would come aboard
his Ship, and affift him in hisEnterprizes, fhould
have their Shares of what Prizes or Booties could
be taken; and he propoled, that he would have
forty Shares for himfelf, and the reft fhould be
equally diftributed amongft the Mariners accord-
ing to Agreement, the whole being divided 1nto
160 Shares, as I remember: By this means his
Number wasincreafed from 70to 150. They fet
fail from New-20ork, and (after many other Places
mentioned by the Witnefles) they came to 2 Place
called Babs-Key, which it feems is in the Red-Seas
and there they ftay’d a confiderable Time, Ithink
about three Weeks, and this was in Expectation
to meet with the Mocca Fleet, which he intended
to make a Prize ; and during his Stay at Bads-
Key, he fent his Boat three feveral times to get
Intelligence of this Fleer 5 the two firft Times
there wasno Account of any Thing, but the third
Time there was notice brought, that they were
ready to fail, and that they had Englifh, Dutch,
And Moorifb Colours: And when he had this In-
telligence, to prevent their efcaping him, he fends
Men afhore, to go on the high Lands, to obferve
when they did actvally fail, and when he had
notice that they were under fail, he likewife fail-
ed, and went through the Fleer, and made fome
Shots at fome of the Ships; but it appearing that
they had a Convoy, and that they were too ftrong
for him, he quitted the Prize there, of which he
had fo great Expeétation. But afterwards he went
on, and took his Courfe towards Cariawar, and
there he takes a MoorifhShips and Parker, an Lug-
lifbinan, the Commander of her, and a Portugrefe
alfo were taken out of her.  From thence they
went to Malabar, and there he fent fome Men
athore, and there they burnt fome Houlfes; and
afrer that took aMosrifh Ship, for which they have
been tried. Afterwards, in December 1697, (now
-{ come to the firft Indictment) upon that very
Coaflt, {ome Leagucs from Caflicut, they took a
Mosiifh Ketch, and this Ketch and the Goods a-
hoard it, which were fome Quantities of Sugar-

But have pleaded, Not Guilty 5 and whether

candy, Sugar, and Tobacco: It feems thefe Gogg
were fhared between them aboard the Ship; 4},
Witnefs is not confident what Share the Captain
then had, but what the Captain had not wy,
divided amongft them. The Witnefles fay, they
burnt this Ketch, becaufe fhe was not ufefy]
them, and the Men that went on board were
afhore. Now this is the Matter of the firlt 7,
diétment, the piratically feizing and plunderjy
this Ketch, and taking the Goods out of .
and dividing them among(t the Prifoners; 1,01;:
the Witnefles prove there was a Diftributiop of
them

They then come to the next Month, and tha
is Fannary; and this is the Matter of the fecong
Indi@ment, for piratically taking feveral Good,
to the Value of Seventy Pounds, from the Mari.
ners of the Ship called the Portugal Ship: And
thefe Witnefles prove the taking of this Ship o
the Coalt of Callicut; and there were aboard tlis
Ship feveral forts of Goods, Opium, Rice, Bes.
wax, Butter, and other forts of Goods, whic
they judge might be worth Four or ¥ive hundr
Pounds. Now after this, there were fome Dich
Ships that gave chace to the Caprain, and he was
forced to leave the Ship; but he took fome of
the Goods into his own Ship, and the reft wee
fold, and the Money divided among the Men:
The Captain called them one by one into hisCib-
bin, and fo they had their feveral Shares, accord:
ing to the Propofalsat New-2ork. It is not po:
fible for them to fay they faw every Man’s Share
paid, buc they fay, that they were all calied by
Name to receive their Shares, and they went i
to the Cabbin for that Purpofe, and they believe
they had all their Shares according to Agre
ment, becaufe none complained that they had
it not,

Gentlemen, There is but one Thing more thit
I will mentionto you. When they came to A
dagafear, there was one Cilliford, who wasa Pi-
rates and and he fent fome of his Crew aboard,
to know whether Capt, Kidd was not coms
with a Defign to feize them, and hang them;
and he declared, he had nofuch Defign: And h:
and Culliford were extremely kind to one ano-
ther, and made Vifits and Prefents to each o
ther 5 and Capt. Kidd gave two Guns to Culii

fordy as one of the Witneffes fays ; but the o-

ther Witnels fays, there were four Guns thathz
gave to Culliford, who was engaged in the fam:
Deflign of Piracy; and Culliford prefented other
Things to Kidd.

But now, Gentlemen, the Bufinefs you arc (@
inquireinto is, the piratical taking of thefe Ships:
And the Witeffes have pofitively and direétly
proved not only the taking the Ships, but ths
feizing the Goods, and felling them, and fhu-
ring the Money : And if thefe Witnefles ky
true, as nothing appears to the contrary, by
the Prifeners crols examining them, or other-
wife , they are not at all contradicled, or cheir
Credibility made queftionable: And they ar
fuch as are moft likely to know what was dont,
being with them in the whole Voyage, and er-
caced with themin thefe Enterprizes. And *
you can give entire Credit to the Witnefles, you
will probably find thefe Perfons guilty of ti¢
Piracy they are charg’d with; which I leavs
to your Conlideration,

) . AYY
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Now indeed there are three of them that are

Gevants, and perhaps you may think their Cafe

‘s different from the reft 5 Robert Lqm{qy, who was
2 Servant to Cwens the Cook s Williani Fenkin,
who wasServant to the Mate 3 and Richard Barli-
1o, who was Servant to Capt. Kidd, And though
(e Witneffesdo prove, that they had their feveral
Shares of the Goods and PZIoney 3 yet, notwith-
fanding, that they being Servants, their Mafters
might be entitled to their Shares:  So thatif you
welicve they were Servants, _and commanded to
irve and affitt their Mafters i what they did, I
muft leave it to you, whether you will think fit
to diftinguifh their Cafe from the reft. T do not
find, that the others fay any Thing material in
heir own Defence, they have called no Witnefles
at all.  The Captain lays the Blame on the Men,
and the Men feem to lay the Blame on him: He
went out on & good Defign, to take Pirates, had
he purfird irs but inflead of that; itappears, that
he turned Pirate himfelf, and took the Ships and
Goods of Friends inftead of [Enemies, which was
2 notorious Breach of Truft, as well as a mani-
it Violation of Law. The Evidence feems
frong againlt them, which I leave to you to

confider of.

Then the Jury withdrew, and after a fhovt Space
brotght in their Verd:l.

Cl. of dri. Gentlemen, anfwer to your Names:

Jo. Iatfsn.

Fo. atjen. Here, Ge.

Cl.of dir. Are you all agreed of your Ver-
dict?

Omues. Y es.

Cl. of Arr. Who fhall fpeak for you ?

Osinres. Foreman.,

Cl. of dir. William Kidd, Iold up thy Hand.
(Wiich e did.) Look upon the Prifoner. How
ay your Is Hilliain Kidd guilty of the Piracy
and Robbery whereof he ftands indicted in the
firlt Indi€tment, or not Guilty?

Fereman. Guilty,

CL of drr. Is Robert Lamly Guilty, or not
Guiley ?

Foreman. Not Guilty.

CLoof drr. 1s William Feakins Guilty, or not
Guiley 2

Forciitan. Not Guilty.

Clof div. Is Gabriz! Lafe Guilty, or not
Guilty ?

Foremen, Guilty.

CLoof drv. Is Hugy Parre! Guilty, or not
Guilty ?

Foreinan. Guilty,

Choof dre. Is Richard Barlicorn Guilty, or not
Guilty?

foreman. Not Guilty ?

U of dyr. Is Darby Mullins Guilty, or Not
Guilgy 2

Foreman, Guilty.

The fame Verdigt was given 1o all the Prifoners
"pon the other IndiGiients.

 Robert Culliford, Nicholas Churchill, Darby Mul-
fis, and Fob Eldridge, were arraign’d for taking
the Ship called the Grear Mabomet, and feizing the

Goods to a confiderable Value 3 to which they
Pleaded, Not Guilty.
VoL V.,
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Robért Culliford, Churchill, Howe and Mullins
were again indicted for another Ship taken pi-
ratically by them, to which they pleaded, Not
Guilty.

Robert Culliford and Robert Hickman were again
arraigned for piratically feizing another Ship, cal-
gd‘;he Satisfation, to which they pleaded, Not

nilty.

Robert Culliford and Rebert Hickiman were again
indicted for Piracy committed on a Maorifh Ship 5
to which they pleaded, Not Guilty.

Then the Court proceeding to the Trials of the Per-
Sens *forementioned; Robert Culliford refragied bis
Plea, and pleaded Guilly, and argued bis coming in
ttpon bis Majefly’s Proclamation 3 and bis Cafe be-
1ig particular, was argued by his Council, for the
Benefit of bis Majelty’s Pardon:  And Charchill,
Howe, Mullins and Hickman, likewife pleading
Guilty, John Eldridge was tried by himfelf, and
found Guilty.

After ihe Trialswere cuer, Fudgment againft Culli-
ford was refpited, and be fer afide 5 the other

Prifoners were called tothe Bar in order to receive
therr Sentence, as follows :

Cliof Arr. William Kidd, Hold up thy Hand.

(Which bz did.) What canft thou fay for thy felf?
‘Thou haft been Indiéted for feveral Piracies, and

Robberies, and Murder, and hereupon haft
been convited : What halt thou to fay for
thy felf, why thou fhould’ft not die according

to Law?
Kidd. 1 have nothing to fay, but that I have
been fworn againft by perjured and wicked Peo-

ple.

Cl. of Arr. Nicholas Churchill; Hold up thy
Hand, What haft thou to fay, &e.?
Churehifl. 1 came in upon his Majefty’s Procla-

mation.

Cl. of Arr. Fames Howe, W hat haft thou to
fay, (gc. ?

Hrse. 1 came in upon the King’s gracious
Proclamation, and hope 1 fhall receive the Bene-

fit thereof.

Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loffe, What haft thou ta
fay, &e. ?
Loffe. Not Guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Hugh Parrot, What haft thou to
fay, &c. ?

Parror. T cameand {urrendered my felf ro my
Lord Bellamont,

Cl. of Arr. Abel Owzns, What haft thou to fay?
Owens. I came in upon his Majefty’s Procla-
mation, and defire the Benefit of it.

Cl. of Ary. Darby Mullins, What haft thouto

fay, e ? o _
Mullins. 1 came home upon the King's gracl,

ous Proclamation,

Cl. of Arr. Fobu Eldridge, What haft thou to

fay, €c.?
RA Eldridge,
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Eldridge. I havebut littleto fays Iam accufed the Land, and convited 5 and nothing now re
but for one Thing, and that is all, and I'have mains, but that Sentence be pafled according
been fallty accufed ; Icaft my felfon your Lord- to the Law. And the Sentence of the Law -

fhips and the Honourable Bench. this :
Cl.of Arr. Robert Hickman, What haft thou to
fay, & ¢ You fhall be taken from the Place where von g,
Hickman. 1 came in according to the King’s and be carried to the Place from wheue yo
Proclamation; I came in within the Time li- came, and from thence to the Plece of Exeo
mited. tion, andtheve be feverally bang’dby your Necks
until you be dead.  And the Lord bave M yy
Then Proclamation for Silence was made, while on yor Seuls.

Sentence was pronouncing.
Kidd. My L.ord, Itisa very hard Sentence,

Dr.Oxenden, You the Prifoners at the Bar, For my Part, Iam the innocenteft Perfon of
William Kidd, Nicholas Churchill, Fames Howe, them all, only I havebeen fwornagainft by Per.
Gabriel Loffe, Hugh Parrot, Abel Owens, Darby jured Perfons.
Mullins, Robert Hickman, and Fobn Eldridge
you have been feverally Indifed for feveral Pi-  Capt. Kidd was afterwards Executed occridiiy
racies and Robberies, and you William Kidd for 10 the Sentence,
Murder, You have been tried by the Laws of

CLXX. Pro-
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CLXX. Proceedings in Parliament apainft Willam Ear/ of
Portland, John Lord Sommers, Edward Ear/ ofOrtord, and
Charles Lord Hallitax, wupow an Impeachment for High
Crimes azd Mildemeanors ; as alfo againft John Lord Ha-

verfham, for Words [poken at a Conference between the Lords
and Commons, 1701. 13 Will IIL.*

Die Martis, 1° Apirilis, 1701,

 Meflage was brought
2 from the Houfe of
.73 Commons, by Sir Johu
iy, Levifon Gower, and o~
4259 thers, who at the Bar
k3¥715Y of this Houfe, in the
Name of the Houfe of
Commons, and all the Commons of England, Im-
weach’d #illiam Earl of Portlandof High Crimes
1nd Mifdemeanors; and acquainted this Houle,
That the Houfe of Commonswill, indue Time,
exhibit particular Articles againft him, and make
oood the fame,

A Committee appointed to infpect the Jour-
nals of this Houfe, in relation to the Proceedings
of this Houfe in Cafes of Impeachments for Mif-
demeanors, and to report to the Houfe.

Farl Portland$ L
JI'IF:':H hd. {mﬁ

WY -~

1}! .

Die Martis, 1° Aprilisy, 1701,

A Meflage was brought from the
I‘;""“’ S“’?Pf” Houfe of Commons by Mr, Harcourt
PP E and others, who at the Bar of this
Houfe, in the Name of the Houfe
of Commons, and all the Commons of England,
Impeach’d  Fobu Lord Semmers of High Crimes
snd Mifdemeanors 3 and acquainted this Houfe,
That the Houfe of Commons, will in due Time,
exhibit particular Articles againft the faid Lord,
and make out the fame.
A Meflage was brought from the
“arlef Orford - Houfe of Commonsby Colonel Bier-
riach'd. ly, and others, who, at the Bar of this
Houfe, in the Name of the Houfe
of Commony, and all the Commons of England,
Impeach’d Edward Earl of Orfordof High Crimes
rujd Mifdemeanors ; and acquainted this Houfe,
That the Houfe of Commons will, in due Time,
exhibit particular Articles againft the faid Lord,
ind make good the fame.

A Meflage was brought from the
Houfe of Commons by Mr, Bruges,
and others, who at ths Bar of this
Houfe, in the Name of the Houfe

Lird Hallifax
fﬁq'vmrlr‘a'.

3 See State-Trals, Pol. "iii-. P 493,

Vor. V.

of Commons, and all the Commons of Lsngiand,
Impeaclh’d Charks Lord Hallifax of High Crimes
and Mifdemeanors 3 and acquainted this Houfe,
That the Houfe of Commons will, in due Time,
exhibit particular Articles againft the faid Lord,
and make good the fame.

Die Mercurii, 1° Aprilts, 1701,

The Houfe being mov’d, Thatan Addrefs be
made to his Majefty, That he will be pleas’a to
pafs no Cenfure or Punifhment upon the Lords
Impeach’d, during the Dependance of the Im-
peachment in this Houle,

After Debate, the Queftion was put, Thata
Committee fhall be immediately appointed to
draw up an Addrefs to his Majefty, That his
Majefty will be pleas’d not to pafs any Cenfure
or Punifhment againft the Four Noble Lords,
who ftand Impeach’d of High Crimes and Mii-
demeanors, until the Impeachments depending
againtt them in this Houfe fhall be try’d? It was
refolv’d 1n the Affirmatve,

A Committee appointed immediately todraw
up an Addrefs to his Majefty, Thac his Majelty
will be pleas’d not to pafs any Cenfure or Punifh-
ment againft the Four Noble Lords, who ftand
Impeach’d of Ligh Crimes and Miqulncanors,
unti! the Impeachments depending againft them
in this Houfe thall be try’d. .

The Houfe wasadjourn’d during Pleafure, and
the Lords went to the Committec.

After fome Time, the Houfe was refumed, _and
the Lord Steward reported, That the Committee
had drawn an Addrefs, as order’d 5 which was
read and agreed to, as followeth; wiz.

W E Your Majefty’s moft Loyal and Dutiful Szfé-

jets, the Lovds Spiritual and Temporal i
Parlianent affembled, beg Leave to repicfent to your
Majcfty, That the Honfe of Commons bave Jeverally
Impeach’d, at the Bar of onr Houfe, William Earlof
Portland, John Lord Sommers, Edward Earl of
Orford, and Charles Lord Hallifax, of High Gries
and Mifdemeanors : /nd tircy baving f{fg:mmzed Us,
That they willy in die Time, exhibit particular dylicles
againft the faid Lords, andmake good the fame, Ve

do

X x 2
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do moft bumbly befeech your Majefly, that your Majefty
awill be pleas’d not 1o pafs any Cenfure upon thein, tn-
ti] they are try'd upon the fae Inpeachments, and
Fudgme! be given according to the Ufage of Parlia-
ment, and the Latos of the Land.

Order’d, That theLc;rd Sreward and the Farlof
Romney do attend his Majelty with the Addrefs.

Die Lune 5° Mas, 1701,

A Committee appointed to draw a Meflage to
he fene to the Houfe of Commons, to put them in
mind of the Impeachments brought up by them
againft the Earl of Portland, the Earl of Orford,
e Lord Sommers, and the Lord Hallifax, and

report to the Houle. | '
‘Then the Toufe was adjourn’d during Plea-

e, After fome Time, the Houfe was refumed,
and the Lord Steward reported the Meflage s
which was read and agreed to, as followeth,
Viz.

A Meffage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by Sir Robert Legardand Sir Richard Holford, to
acquaint them, That they having, on the Firft

Day of April laft, {ent up to their Lordfhips an
Impeachment againf Willian Earl of Portland, of

High Crimes and Mifdemeanors ; and having

alfo, on the Fiftcenth Day of the fame Month,
feverally impeach’d Fobu Lord Sommiers, Edward

Earl of Orford,and CharlesLord Hallifax,o fHigh
Crimes and Mifdemeanors, their Lordfhips think

ART1cLES exbibited by the Knights, Citi-
zens, and Burgelles in Parliament affem-

bled, in the Name of themfelves, and of all
the Commons of England, againft Edward
Barl of Ortford, i Maintenance of toesr
Impeachment againft bim for High Crimes

and Miﬁ&wzmm*s.

L. AT whereas for many Years paft there

hath been a Jong and expenfiveWar,both
by Seaand Land, carried on by his Majefly and
his Allies againft the French King for the prefer-
ving the Ballance of Exrope, and for preventing
the Growth of the immbderate Power of the faid
French King s towardsthe Profecution of which
War great Sums of Moncy have been given and
levied by Authority of Parliament, and many
Debts have been contracted, which remaina very
heavy Burden upon the Peopleof England ; the faid
Earl being then of hisMajefty’s moft honourable
Privy-Council ; but always preferring his private
Intereft to the Good of the Publick, and taking
Advantage of the ready Accefs he had to his Ma-
1éfty’s Perfon, during the Continuance of the fuid
War, in Violation of his Duty and Truft, hath
procur'd from his Majely one or more Grant or
Grantsof feveral Manours, Meffuages, Lands, Te-
nements, and Fereditaments, within the King-
doms of England or Ireland, or elfewhere within
his Majefty’s Dominions, of a great Yearly Va-
lue;“and alfo of exorbitant Sums of Money to
be made to him, or others in Truft for him, but

ro his Ufe, the Profits whereof he now Cnjoys ;
whereby

themftlves oblig’d to put them in mind, thag g
yet no particular Articles have been exhibited ,.
gainft the faid Lords 3 which, after Impeachmenty
have been fo long depending, 1s due in Juftice ¢
the Perfons corcern’d, and agreeable to the M.
thods of Parliament in fach Cafes.

Die Veneris, 9° Mait, 1401,

A Meffage was brought from the Houfe of
Commons by Colonel Bierly, and others, with th
Articles of Impeachmentagainit Edwward Earl of
Orfords; and to acquaine this Houfe, That the
Matter of the Charge was contain’d in the Ar.
ticles; and alfo, That he was commanded to
pray ~nd demand, that the Earl of Orfarddo give
{ufficient Security to abide the Judgment of th

Houfe of Lords.
A Committeeappointed to confider of the Man.

qer of the Commons delivering Articles of Im.
peachment, and demanding Security to abide the
Judgmentof this Houfe, and report to the Houfe,

The Foufe was adjourn’d during Pleaiure, for
‘he Committee to meet prefently. After fome
Time the Houfe was refumed, and the Earl of
§ tamford reported, T hat the Commuttee had met,

and infpedted the Journals: That they do net
find any mention of the Commons reading the

Arricles at the Bar; and as for giving Security,

they find none.
Then the Articles were read by the Clerk, o

follows 3 V2.

The Axsw E R of Edward Earl of Orford,
40 the Articles exbibited againft bim by the
Knights, Citizens, and Burgeffes i Parla-
ment affembled, in the Name of themjelues,

and of all the Commons of England, 222 Main-

tenanceof their Inpeachment a cainft the faid
Earl for High Grimes and Mifdenieansrs,

Juppos'd to be conminitted by bim.  Delrver'd
in 14° May, 1701.

HE faid Earl, favirig to himfelf all Advan-
T tages of Exception to the faid Articles,and
of not beirg prejudiced by any Words or want of
Form in this his Anfwer’; and faving to him al
Privileges and Rights belonging to him as one of
‘he Peers of this Realm ; for Anfwer to the faid

Articles, humbly faich,

I Tothe Firft Article, That he having for fe-
veral Years render’d his Majefty his utmoft ¢r-
vice and Duty, asagood and loyal Subject ought
to do, his Royal Majefty wasgracioully pleas’d,
upon feveral Qccafions, to take notice of the fame,
and out of his wonted Bounty, and of his Free-
will, was pleas’d to give the faid Earl tvo Grants,
one whereof was a Reverfionary Graat fo* Years,
of fome Houfesdepending upon a then precedent
Eftate for about Nine and twenty Years; which
being a Reverfionary Intereftat fo greata Diftance,
altho’ the faid Earl thankfully receiv’d the fams
from his Majefty, as his Grace and Bounry; ¥
the fame was of no great Value: And the other
of them was a Grant of the Remainder of 4 grofs
Sum, amounting to about Two thoufand Pounds

2 Year, for Five Years: Whichare theonly Grants
of
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whereby the Standing Revenues o_f the Crown of oFany_Manours, Msffunges, Lands, Tenements,
Eyoland, which ought to be applied to the Ser- Hereditaments, or Sums of Money whatfoever,
f'h:: of the Publick, are greatly diminifh’d, and  which he, orany in Truf for him, hath had. from
T{i People of England thereby burthen’d with his Majefty 5 and which faid two Grants his Ma-
ED]L‘:b[’i and fubjected to grievous Taxes. Jelty was gracioufly pleas’d, after many Y ears Ser-
T . vice, freely to beftow upon him the faid Earl,
without any Surprize, finitter or indire® Means

of the faid Earl in obtaining the fame, and which

Grants he humbly conceives were not unufual jn

like Cales, the excepting whereof he humbly hopes

was not any Violation of his Duty, or of any

. Truft in him the faid Ear] reposd.

1. That in Breach of the Truﬁ_ repofed in him II. To th_e Second Article the faid Earl anfwer-
whillt he was Commander in Chict of the Navy cth and denicth, Thathe ac any timeconverted to
Rovyal of Eugland, in or near the Straights of G- his own private Ufe any Publick Money iffued o
braltarand within theTlmcaForcﬁud,_he, the faid hlp} for the Service of the Navy; or thar he the
Earl did receive great Sums of the Publick Money, faid Ear ever procur’d, or had any Privy-Seal, or
iffucd out to him for the Service of the Navy, Privy.Seals, to difcharge him from accounting for
which he hath converted to hisown private Ule,  the fame; but faith, That he the faid Earl did
and unlawfully and unjuftly prgcur’d 2 Prwy-St_z:l], make up, an'd upon Oath pafs his_Accounts for
or Privy-Seals, to difcharge him from accounting the Moneys imprefs’d to him for the Service in
o the Publick for the fame ; and alfo hath re-  this Article mention’d 5 which Account was Je-
ceiv’d other great Sums of Money Fgom his Ma- gjlly d_ecla_r’d and pafs’d, uponvery frictand oreat
jelty’sExchequer,asPaymafteror Recetver-General  Examination, by the Lords Commiffioners of the
of the Navy, without giving a duc and Jegal Ac- Tea_fury; and he, the faid Earl, hath his Quietus
count thereof, whereby he hath occalion’d great  gf, in due Courfe of Law upon the fame, But the
Clamours and Difcontents among the Seamen,  Commiffioners of the Vi€tualling.Office making
and others belonging to his Mnjcﬂ}:’s Navy, who fome unufual Objections to part of the faid Ac-
are thereby reduced to great Mileries and Necc_f- count, concerning fome Provifions furnifly’d to the
fities for want of their juft Dues, to the great I_)lf- F I_ee_c by the faid Earl, in the King of Spain’s Do-
couragement and Difcredit of the Publick Service.  minions, altho’ the fame were truly and really

had and fpent by the Seamen in the Fleet, and
paid for by him, the faid Earl; and whigh Obje&ions in Itke Cales had not been made or ftood up-
on, nor could be reafonably expelted ; his Majefty was pleas’d to diret and order a Privy-Seal to
difpenfe with the Form in that Particular; but the i_"aid EFarl did n}nke no Advantage to himfelf
thereby 5 nor was his Majefty, or the Government, in the leaft defrau.ded therein 3 it appearing,
upon a very {trit Examination, that lefs Rates were allow’d for the faid Provifions than had been
allow'd before in like Cafes; or, as the faid Earl is inform’d, hath been finceallow’d. And to the
Jatter Part of the faid Article faith, That for the Moneys by him receiv’d, as Treafurer or Receiver-
General of the Navy, he hath already deliver’d in his Accounts, and is ready to perfect the fame,
according to the ordinary Method, fome of ‘:em plying reagi y w:t'h the Auditors to be declar’d, and
the reft of *m being made up and deliver’d in to be examin’d, in order to be pafs'd ; and faich,
After juft Allowances had, he does not believe he fhall appear to be indebted upon the faid Ac-
counts: And alfo denies, That any Perfons are Sutferers for want of their Dues, in relpect of the
fud Accounts, or that the Publick Service is, or hath been, any ways dilcourag’d or difcredited
thereby, as in the faid Article is alledg’d.

IIl. That he the {aid Earl, while he was in III. To the Third Article the faid Ear] an-
feveral Porrs belonging to the King of Spasi’s Do-  fwereth, and denies, That he receiv’d any Moneys
minions, did receive from the faid King of Spain  whatfoever from the King of Spain, or any other
and others confiderable Sums of Money, and great  Perfon, as in the Article is alledg’d ; and faith,
Quantities of Wine, Oil, and other Provifionsfor That what Wine, Oil, or other Provifions were
the Fleet, to a very great Value; for all which he receiv’d from the King of Spain, or any others,
ought to have accounted : But the faid Earl did for the Fleer, were duly deliver'd and diftributed
convert the fame to his own Ufe, and did either amongft the Officers and Seamen thercof 5 and
embezzle thofeProvifions, or reckon’emasbought  denies he did embezzle any of the Provifions, or
with the Money allow’d for furnithing the Navy reckon’d them, or any part of them, as bought
with frefh Provifions ; and that for advancing his  with the Moneys allow’d for furnifhing the Navy
Own private Intercft, and fecuring himfelf from  wich frefhProvifions: And does alfo deny, That
rendering any Accountto the Publick, he, the faid  he the faid Earl did enjoy any Offices inconfiftent
Lar], during the faid War, procur’d, enjoy’d,and in their Nature (as he is advis'd ) one with the
pollels’d divers great Offices, which were incon-  other, or which were, or ought to be, Checksone
fftent, and in their Nature improper to be, execu- upon the other ; or, that he any ways fecur’d, or
ted by one and the fame Perfon, and which ought pretended to fecure, himfelf from rendering any
10 be, and by the Laws and Ufages of this Realm, Account to the Publick, by any Office or Offices
Were and are appointed and defign’d as Checks  whatfoever; or, that he is gwlty of the Breach
on¢ upon the other, in Breach of the faid Laws, ofany Laws, to his Knowledge, by executing any
o the Dithonour of his Majelty, and Prejudice  Office or Offices, or ever executed the fame to
of his People, the Difhonour of his Majefty, or to the Prejudice

of his People, as in the faid Article is alledg’d.
IV. That IV, To -
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1V. That he the faid Earl, within the Timea-
forefaid, hath clandeflinely, contrary to the Law
of Nations, fold and difpos’d of feveral Veflels,
with their Ladings and Cargo, taken under Pre-
cence of Prize by his Majefty’s Ships of War,
without Condemnation or judicial Proceedings,
and converted the Money to his own Ufe; well
knowing if they had been condemn’d, as by Law
they ought to have been, one Tenth (after Cu-
{toms allow’d) and one Third Part of the Value
thereof, the Cuftoms and the faid Tenth being
deducted, are by A& of Parliament appropriated
to efpecial Ufes: By which Proceedings the
Publick has been greatly endamag’d and defraud-
ed, and the Debts of the Nation encreas’d,

V. And whereas Complaints were made to the
Commiffioners for executing the Office of Lord
High-Admiral of England (where the faid Earl
at that Time prefided) by the Company trading
to the Eaft- Indies, of divers Piracies committed in
the South-Eaft Seas, to the Deftruction of their
Trade, defiring they might have Letters of Mart
granted to them, whereby to be impower’d (tho’
at their own Charge) to fupprefs fuch Pirates :
But the faid Earl, preferring his own Intereft,
difcourag’d and rejefted their Requeft and Pro-
pofal ; and, in fome fhort Time after, jointly with
others, did procure 2 Commiffion for one //llsans
Kidd s as likewife a Grant under the Great-Seal
of Esngland, to and for the Ufe of him the faid
Earl, and others, of the Shipsand Goods of cer-
t1in Perfons therein nam’d, and alfo of all Goods
found on board the faid Ships. And the faid
Company having Intimation of a Commiffion
granted to the faid Kidd, being apprehenfive of
the 11l Confequences of the fame, did apply thems-
felves to the faid Board of Admiralty, deliring to
know what Powers and Inftructions were given :
But fuch their reafonable Requeft was deny’d 3
and Kidd, who was known to be a Perfon of ill
Fame and Reputation, order’d to purfue the in-
tended Voyage; in which he did commit divers
Piracies and Depredations on the High Seas, be-
ing thereto encourag’d thro® the Hopes of being
protected by the high Station and Intereft of the
faid Farl, in Violation of the Law of Nations,
and the Interruption and Difcouragement of the

Trade of England.

V1, That thefaid Earl, within the Time afore-
faid, when an horrid Confpiracy was difcover’d
againtt his Majefty’s facred Perfon, and the King-
dom was under an Apprehenfion of an immediate
Invafion from France, and divers Ships of War
(particulatly the Ship Dutchefs) were Arm'd out,
Equipp’d and Mann’d in Defence of the Realm, to
oppofe the intended Invafion, did his utmoft ka-

deavour to prejudiccand weaken the Navy Royal
of

IV. To the Fourth Article the faid Farl ap.
fwercth, and faith, Hebehieves that the Prizese,.
ken in the late War were appropriated as by the
A& of Parliament in that behalf is provided ; by,
denies, that he did, at any T'ime, fell or dipof;
ofany Vellel or Veflels, or their Ladings or Carg,
raken as or under the pretence of Prize, by any
of his Majelty’s Ships of War, without Conden.
nation or judicial Proceedings, or converted the
Moneys arifing by Sale of any Veffel or Vefly
or their Lading or Cargo, taken as or under pre.
tence of Prize, by any of his Majelty’s Ships of
War, to his own Ule; but, on the contrary, dig
from time to time, in his Station, give Orders,
that the Prizes taken fhould be carefully preferyg
without Embezzlement, and duly proceeded a.
aainft, and the Produce anfwer'd as the Law ;.
re€s: And therefore humbly infiftech, thac the
Publick hath been no ways endamag’d, or e
Debts of the Nation encreas’d, by any Neglk::
or Default of the faid Earl.

V. To the Fifth Article the faid Earl fith,
That the Egff-Tadie Company, about the begir.
ning of Murch, One thouland Six hundred Nine.
ty and Six, did apply to the Admiralty Board, of
which the faid Karl was one, to impower ther
Ships and Officers to feize and take all Pirates in-
fetting the Seas within the Limits of thetr Char-
tery and likewife to ere¢t a Court of Admiralty
in thofe Parts, to try and condemn fuch Pirates
as they fhould take. Upon which Application
the Board of Admiralty did take Advice, and wer
inform’d, They had no Authority to grant the
fame ; and deries, hethe faid Earl, ever difcou.
rag’d or rejected the Company’s Requeft therein,
unlefs it were by telling them, T'hat the Admi-
ralty by Law could not grant the fame: And de-
nies, that the Company was ever deny’d Letters
of Mart in common Form, to the Knowledge of
the faid Earl : And faith, as to the Matter of

fdd, in the Article mention’d, IHe was gonc
upon his Expedition about twelve Months before
that Time. And as to his Commiffion, and the
Grant in the faid Article mencion’d, the fad
Earl humbly conceives, and is advis’d, the fame
were not contrary to Law ; but fure he is, the
faid Expedition was intended for the Publick
Good and Service 3 and faith, The faid Ardd had
no Powers or Inftrutions from the Board of Ad-
miralty, other than the ordinary and common
Letters of Mart, the Contents whereof are com-
mon, and well known to Merchants, And the
faid Earl doth deny, that he knew the fad Kidd
to be of ill Fame and Reputation : But in cafe
the faid Kidd hath committed any Piracies, he,
the faid Kidd, is anfwerable, and ought to anfwer
for the fame, he never being order’d by the fuid
Earl fo to do; nor had he ever any the leaft k-
couragement given him by the faid Earl. orany
other, to his Knowledge, to expeét or hope tor
any Protection therein, or in any illegal Action
done or committed by him.

VI. To the Sixth Article the faid Earl faith,
He believes it to be true, that there was a horrid
and barbarous Plot and Confpiracy againft his
Majefty’s facred Perfon, and that there was 20
Apprehenfion of an immediate Invafion 5 but the
faid Earl hopes, no Negle& of Duty in his Sta-
tion can be imputed to him to prevent the fame.
And as for the Ship Dutchefs, which was, amongh
many others, arm’d and cquipp’d in Defence of

3 the
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of England; for that he, the faid Earl, by Co-
our of his Office (being then Firlt Commiffio-
wer for executing the Office of Lprd H:gh-Ad-
iral of England) without the Privity of the o-
dier Commiflioners, contrary to l}is Qnth ;}tld
Duty, and preferring ‘his Hopes ::)f G:.'.ln_ to him-
(i, to the Safety of the Pub]tcli,_dld order
Capt. Storvard, Commander of the Ship Duledefs,
o0 deliver over, and put on board the faid Kidd,
mention’d in the foregoing Article, out of the
(iid Ship The Dutchefs, a great Number of able
Seamen, levied and provided at the Expznce of
the Publick, and then difcharging thetr Daiy in
Defence of their Country, and aganlt their own
Confent, to the Prejudice of the Publick Security,
and to theendangering of the faid Ship The Dutch-
ofis AT liad been attack’d by the Enemy.

VII. That the faid Earl, during the faid War,
and at a Time of the greateft Exigency and Ne-
ceflity, when Ships, Men, and Money were wan-
ting to guard the Seas, and protect our Trade,
did by Milreprefentations, and contrary to his
boundén Duty, and the Truft repofed in him,
procure a Grant or Order tor his Majefty’s Ship
The Dolphin, thenfitted out, mann’dand equipp’d
for the Service of the Publick, to be employ’d in
a private Voyage and Underraking, for the Ad-
vantage of himfelf and others concerned with
him. In purfuance whereof, and for their pri-
vate Gain, the Ship was, at the Publick Expence,
continued in Foreign Parts jfor feveral Months,
to the Deftrution and Lofs of his Majefty’s
Subjets on board the fame, to the weakening the
Navy, by rendering the faid Ship unferviceable,
and the increafing the Debts of the Publick.

VIII. That the faid Earl, during the Time of
his Cemmanding the Navy Royal of England, did,
through Negle®@, and in Contempt of Orders,
unncceffarily hazard and, expofe to imminent
D.nger the faid Navy; and, that during the
Time aforefaid, having had many Opportunities
of taking or deftroying the Ships belonging to
the French King, the faid Earl, contrary to Ad-
vice, in Difobedience to Orders, and in Neglet
of his Duty, did fuffer and permit the fad
Ships to return fafe into their own Harbours,

IX. That the faid Earl, well knowing our So-
vereign Lord the King to have been engaged in
feveral Alllances with the Emperor of Gerinaity
and other Princes and States, particularly in a
Treaty concluded with his Imperial Majefty
in the Year of our Lord One Thoufand Six
Hundred Eighty-Nine, the End and Intention
of all which Leagues and Treaties were to pre-
vent the Growth of the Powar of the Freuch
Klﬂ_g, and no fecure Englaind, -and the ancient
Allies of England, againft the fame, did-not-
1'.*1thﬁnncling, in concert with other Falfe and k-

Lord Sommets d#d Lord Hallifax:
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the Realm, the faid Earl faich, that the Men in
the faid Article mention’d to be raken from on
board her, were but fome of the very Perfons
that were juft before taken from on board Capr,
Kidd, and retarned by their own Confent on
board Capt. Kidd again, not being above twenty
wr Number 3 and (ich, all Fears of the Invafion
were chen over and at an end 5 and denies, thae
the fame was intended to weaken, or did weu-
ken the faid Ship, or the Navy Royals or thac
the faid Seamen, fo returning on board the fiid
Kidd, were levied or provided at the Expence of
the Publick, or did return or were put on board
the faid Kidd agawnft their own Confent, or to
the Prejudice of the Publick Szeurity 5 or thac the
Ship Dutchefs was thereby endanger’d, if fhe had

been attack’d, as inche faid Articleis alledg’d,

VIL. Tothe Seventh Article the faid Earl an-
{wereth, and denies, That hedid, by Mifreprefen-
tation, or otherwife, obtain or procure a Grant
or Order for his Majefty’s Ship Dolobin to be
employ’d in a private Voyage or Undertaking ;
but what was done therein, was done upon the
Peace concluded, and by his Majefty’s Command,
at the Inftance and Requelt of other Perfons,
and not of the faid Earl, but contrary to his O-
pinton : Nor was the faid Earl any way cons
cerned in Intereft therein, till after his Majelty’s
Orders were given about the faid Ship ; and then,
and not before, fome of the Perfons concerned in
the faid Advencure, defired the faid Earl to take
fome Shares therein (the Number whereof he
doth not remember) which the fuid Earl accord-
mgly did 3 but humbly inlifts, that his Actings
therein were not conirary to his Duty, or the
Truft in him repofed, or the Debis of the Na-
tion thereby increas’d.

VIIIL. To the Eighth the faid Earl anfwereth,
and dentes, T'hat at ar any Time while he com-
manded the Navy Royal, he did, through Neg-
le¢t or Contempt of Orders, unneceflarily ha-
zard or expofe to Danger the faid Navy; and
alfo denies, that upon any Opportunity of ta-
king or deftroying the Ships of the Irench King,
he did, contrary to Advice, or in Dilobedicnce
to Orders, neglet to do the fame: And alfo
denies, that he did fuffer or permit any of the
French King’s Ships to return into their own
Harbours, when he had Opportunity to prevent
the fame; and humbly infilts, he is not guilty of
any Neglet or Omiffion of his Duty heretn,
nor did expect in this Particular to be charged
therewith, confidering his faithful Services ren-
dered againft the Freuch Fleet.

IX. Tothe Ninth Article che faid Earl farch,

He believes it to be true, thac h's Majefly hath

been engaged in feveral Alltances with feveral
Princes, and particularly with the Emperor, mnthe
Year One Thouland Six Hundred Eighty-Nine;;
and that the End of thofe Alliances was to prevent
the Growth and Power of France, and to fecure
this Kingdom and its Allics : But the faid Earl
does deny, that he did advile his Majelly to enter
into the Treaty of Partition, charged upon the
faid Earl in this Article; and fo far as the faicd
Earl was any ways acquainted therewith, he ob-

vil Counfelfors, advife our faid Sovereign Lord jefted to, and gave his Opinion againit the fame.

the King in the Year One Thoufand Six Hun-

dred Ninety-Eight, to enter into one Treaty for dividing the Monarchy and Dominions of Spain;

2

X. To

in
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in purfuance whereof, in the Year One Thoufand Six Hundred Ninety-Nine, onc other Treaty

was entered into to the like Purpole;

by which Treaties great Injultice was done to the Emperur,

an ancient Ally of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, and 2 large Part of the faid Spanith D.

minions were to be added to the Crown of France ;

both which Treaties were Prejudicial g ¢),.

Interelt of the Proteftant Religion all over Europe, Ruinous to the Trade of Englend, and Difho.

nourable to our Sovereign Lord the King,

and the People of thefe Kingcoms.

A1l which Crimes and Mifdemeanors were committed and done by him, the fud Earl, aoying
* . » L L )_1‘ i . - 1‘ » -
our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, the Peace and Interelt of this Kingdom,

+nd in Breach of the feveral Trufts repofed in him the faid Larl.

X. And he the faid Farlof Oiford was Onc
of the Lords Juftices, during his Majefty’s Ab-
fence beyond the Seas, the Firft Commiffioner
for cxecuting the Office of Lord High-Admi-
ral of England, Commander in Chief of his Ma-
efty’s Navy Royal, One of his Majelty’s Privy
‘Council, and Treafurer of his Majefly’s Navy,
or in fome or one of the faid Stations during the
Time that all and cvery the Crimes before fet

forth were done and committed.

That the faid Commons, by Proteftation, fa-
ving to themlclves the Liberty of Lixhibitmng, at
any Time hereafter, any other Accufation or Im-
peachment acainft the faid Earl, and allo of
Replying tohis Anfwers, or to any of them, and
of oftering Proofsof allthe fuid Premilles, or any
of them, or any other Impeachment or Accufa-
tion that fhall be exhibited by them, as the Cafe
thall, according to the Courfe of Parliament,
Require ; Do Pray and Demand, ‘That the faid
Farl may be put to Anfwer for all and every of
the Premifies ; and that fuch Proceedings, Exa-
minmations, Trialsand Judgments, may be upon
every of them had and ufed, as is agreeable to

Fawand Jufbice.

After Reading in the Floufe the Articles of
Impeachment brought up againft Edward 12arl of
Oiford, for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors, his
Lordfhip humbly defired to have a Copy of the
faid Articles, and that he would put in his An-
fiver to them in as fhort a Time as the Houfe
{hould cthink fit: It 1s thereupon ordered by
the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament
affembled, That Edward Earl of Orford may
have a Copy of the faid Articles,

A Meflage was fent to the Houfe of Com-
mons by Sir Richard Holferd and Mr. Pitt, to
acquaint them, That upon Search of the Jour-
nals of this Houfe, they do not find any Pre-
cedent of Security given to abide the Judgment
of this Houfe by any Peer, upon an Impeach-
ment of High Crimes and Mifdems=anors.

Die Mercuiiy 14° Maij, 1701,
This Day Edward Larl of Orford delivered his

Anfwer to the Articles of Impeachment of the
Houfe of Commonsagainft him, which was read
by the Clerk.

* The Committee appointed to confider of the
Manner in delivering Articles of Impeachments

¥, To the Tenth Article the fail Ear] gy
{wereth, and faith, That true it1s, his M'.lj:.'ﬂ}f
was pleafed to employ and mtrult him in )
feveral Offices and Stations 1 this Article mep.
tioned, for feveral Years, as his Majefty’s Oce,.
fions required, although not for all the Time
the faid Article mentioned ; and hopes, and hup.
bly infifteth upon ir, that he the fard Larl dj
from time to time, according to his Duty, ung
the Trufts in him repofed, difcharge the fajd
Offices and Employments with Loyalty, Faith.
fulnefs and Zeal to his Majelty and his Pe.
ple. |
And thus having Lud his Cafe before your Lord.
fhips, he the faid, Iiarl, does humbly infif,
and anfwer to the faid Impeachment, and g
and every the Articles atorefaid, exhibit
againft him, That he is not Gulty of alt o
any of them, or of all or any the Matters or
Things by the faid Arucles charged, in Man.
nerand Form asthe fame are therein, and chere-
by alledg’d againft him 5 and that the Matrers
by him before {et forth to be done and tranfac-
ed, orany of them, were not done or commitrel
by him, the faid Earl, againft our Sovercian
Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, or
the Peace or Intereft of this Kingdom, orin
Breach of the Truft repofed tn him, the fid
Earl; and humbly fubmits lnmfelf herein to
your Lordfhips Judgment.

ORFORD

by the Commons being Revived, the FHoufe was
adjourned during Pleafure; and the Lords went
to the Committee,  And fome Time, the Houle
was refumed, and the Earl of Stamford reporicd,
That they had infpected the Journals, and find
the firlt Step, after Anfwers to Impeachments
are delivered, is, to fend a Copy thercof to the
Houle of Commons. Whereupon it is orderel
by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliz-
ment affembled, That he Anfwer of Edward Kl
of Orford, delivered this Day to the Articles of
Impeachment depending againft him, be Copied,
1n order to be fent to the Houfe of Commars
To morrow Morning, by two Malfters of Ciai-
cery,

The Earl of Orford having this Day delivered
in his Anfwer to the Articles of Impeachment
againft him, defired thac Mr. Dsdd and Mr.
Pooley might be afligned Council for him upon
his Trial. It is ordered by the Lords Spiri-
tual ‘and Temporal in Parliament affembled;
ThatMr. Dodd and Mr. Pooley thall, and they are
hereby affigned Council for the Earl of Orfirds
as defired.

‘ D
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Die Fovis 15° Maii, 1701,

. A Meffage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by Sir Richard Holford and Mr. Pitt, to carry
Jown a Copy of the Earl of Orford’s Anfwer to
e Articles of Impeachment againft him.

A Meffage was fent to the Houfeof Commons
by Sit Richard Holferd and Mr. Pitt, 1o acquaint
hem, That they having on the Firlt, Day of
April laft, fent up to th:::_x:‘Lordﬂups an Im-
cachment againft 7Fillian Earl of Portland, for
Hieh Crimes and Mifdemeanors; and having
Afo, on the Fifteenth Day of the fame Month,
Gverally impeached Fobn  Lord Sominers and
Charls Lord Hallifax of High Crimes and Mif-
Jemeanors, their Lordfhips think themfelves
obliged to put them 1n mind, tha_t as yet no par-
veular Articles have been exhibited againft the
tid Lords, which, after Impeachments have been
o long depending, is due in Juftice to the Per-
fons concerned, and agreeable to the Methods of
Parliament in fuch Cales.

ARTICLES exhibited by the Kmghts, Ci-
tizens, and Burgeffes in Parliament affem-
bled, in the Nawme of themfelves, and of all
the Commons of England, agamft John
Lsrd Sommers, Baron of Evefham, 12
Maintenance of their Impeachment aganf?

bim for High Crimes and Mufdemeanors.

) HAT a Treaty and Alliance between

Lcopold, the Emperor of Germany, and
the States-General of the United- Provinces, was
made and concluded in the Year of our Lord
One thoufand Six hundred Lighty-nine, upon
their Confideration of the Greatnefs of the Com-
mon Danger, which then threaten’d all Chriffen-
Qo from the exceflive Power of France, and the
unconltant Faith of the Freach 1n the Obler-
varce of Treaties ; whereby itwas agreed, That
there thould be, and remain for ever, a conftant,
perpetual, and inviolable Friendihip and good
Correfpondence between his Imperial Majefty
and the States General;, that cach of them fhould
be obliged to promote the others Intereft, and,
smuch as in them lay, prevent all Damages
and Inconveniencics to each other.

That during the Continuance of the War,
there fhould be not only a Decfenfive, but alfo
an Offenfive Alliance between the faid Partiess
by Vertie wherceof, they fhould both of them
atin an hoflile Manner, with all their Forces
by Sea and Land, againft the French King, and
luch of his Allies as fhould refufe to feparate
themfelves from him : That, after the War
hould be ended, and a Peace concluded, there
lhould remain between his Imperial Majetty,
his Heirs, and Succeflors, and the States-General,
1 perpetual Defenfive Alliance againdt the Crown
of Frapce, and its Adherents. .

That if the Crown of France thould again at-
tack either of the faid Confederate Parties, at
what Time foever the fame fhould be done, they

thould fElIthfully affift each other.
Yor. V. ' That

The Meflengers fent to the Houfe of Com-
mons return Anfwer, wviz. That the Articlés
againft William Earl of Portland, Fobn - Iord
Sonmersy, and Charles Lord Hallifax, are prepar-
ing, and in a fhort Time their Houfe will fend
them up to the Foufe of Lords.

Die Lune 192 Maii; 1701,

A Meflage was brought from the Houfe of
Commions by Mr. Harcourt and others, with the
Articles of Impeachment againft Fobn Lord Som-
mers 3 and to acquaint thisHoufe, That the Mat-
ter of the Charge was contained in the Arti-
cles; and alfo, That he was commanded to pray
and demand, that the Lord Sommers do give fuf-
ficient Security to abide the Judgment of the
Houfe of Lords. :

‘The Articles were read by the Clerk, as fol-
lows; viz,

The AnsweR of John Lord Sommers,
Baron of Evelham, fo the Articls exhi-
bited by the Kmights, Citizens, and Bur-
gefles in Parliament affenbled, in the Nawe
of themfelves, and of all the Commons of
England, 2 Mamntenance of ther In-
peachment aganft bim for High Crimes
and Mifdemeanors, fuppos’d to be by hip:

committed, Deliver'd i 24 May, 1701,

HE faid Lord Sommers, faving to him-
felf all Advantages of Exception to the
faid Articles, and of not being prejudiced by any
Words, or want of Form in this his Anfwer;
and allo faving to himf{elf all Rights and Privi-
leaes belonging to him, as one of the Peers of

this Realm; for Anfwer to the faid Article hum-
bly faich:

I. To the Firft Article, That he believes the
now Emperor of Germany, and the States-General
of the United- Provinces, being in the Year One
thoufand Six hundred and Eighty-nine, en-
gaged in o War with France, a Treaty and Al-
liance was concluded between them, and a Sepa-
rate Article then made, to the Effeét in this Ar-
ticle mentioned; and that his Sacred Majefty
did afterwards enter into, ratify and approve,
the fame; to which Treaty, Separate Article,
and Ratification (for Cereainty chereof) he re-
ferreth himfelf : And further faich, That in the
Year One thoufand Six hundred and Ninety-
eight, his Majefty, belore he left England, was
pleafed to tell him, That fome Incimation had
been given to the Earl of Portland, when in
France, that the French King inclined to come
to an Agreement with his Majefty, concerning
the Succeflion to the Crown of Spain.  And af-
wards, in Augnff, One thoufand Six hundred
and Ninety-eight (his Majefty being then in
Holland, and the faid Lord Semmers at Tunbridge-
Wells, by his Majefty’s Permiffion, for Recovery
of his Health) Mr. Secretary Vernon commu-
nicated to him a Letter he had then received,

Yy writ-
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written by the Earl of Portland, by his Maje{’cy’s
Order, wherein it was mentioned, That Coype
Tollard (who was then Ambaflador from ()
French King to his Majefty) had declared an Ac.
commodation might be found out 1n Relation ¢

7That his Imperial Majelty and the States-Ge-
geral hould atall Times, by all Means, with all
their Forces, protect and defend all the Rights
of each other againft the Crown of France, and

its Adherents.

And other Provifions were thereby made for

their mutual Security, as well during the Conui-
muance of the War, as after the Conclufion of a
Peace.
~ That certain Scparate Articles were alfo at or
about that Time -made, whercby the States-Gre-
neral aturely confidering that France had open-
Iy declared in feveral Courts, that (notwithftand-
ing the moft folemn Renunciation) they continu-
ed their Pretenfions by Force of Arms to affert
tor The Danphin the Succeflion of the Spanifh
Monarchy, in Cale the King of Spain [hould
die without Iffue 5 and alfo confidering what a
Blow their State would receive, and what a Pre-
judice might happen thereby to the publick Af-
fairs, and Quict, did promife, That m Cale his
faid Catholick Majefly fhould die without law-
ful Iflue, they would with all their Forces aflift
his faid Imperial Majefty or his Fleirs, in taking
the Succetlion of the Spanifh Monarchy, law-
fully belonging to that Houle, togerher with 1ts
Kingdoms, Provinces, Domirions and Rights,
and in their obtaining and f{ecuring the quiet
Pofiefiion thereof, againt the Froneh, and their
Adherents, who fhould dircélly, or indireélly,
oppofe that Succeflion, and with Forces re-
pel the Force that fhould be brought againit
them.

That at the Inftance of the States-General, in
purfuance of the faid Treaty and Separate Ar-
ticles, our moft Gracious Lord and Sovercign,
his moft Excellent Majefty King #illiam I11. was
invited to enter into an Alliance of the aforefaid
Treaty, and into the Agreement of the faid Se-
parate Articles; and thereupon, for reftoring and
preferving the publick Peace and Quiet, did af-
terwards, in the faid Year of our Lord One thou-
fand Six hundred and Eighty-nine, enter into,
and under the Great-Seal of England, accept, ap-
proveand ratify, and in the moit folemn Manner,
engage and promife religioully and inviolably to
obferve the fame, without violating the faid
Treaty, or Separate Articlesin any Article, or
fuffering the fame to the utmoft of his Power to
be violated.

That in the Year of our Lord One thoufand
Six hundred and Ninety-eight, a Treaty was
projected and contrived in France, to be fet on
foot between his Majelty, the French King, and
the States-General, for a Partition of the Spanifl
Monarchy, whercby many large ‘Lerritories
thereunto belonging were to be allotted, and de-
livered up to France.

That the Tenor and Defign of the faid laft
mentioned Treaty, whilft the fame was in Nego-
tiation, was communicated to the fud Fobu
Lord Semmers, then One of the Lords Jultices
of England, Lord Chancellor of Exgland, and One
of his Majefty’s moft Honourable Privy Coun-
cil.

That che faid Lord Sommers, well knowing the
moft apparent evil Confequences, as well as the
Injuftice of the faid Partition, did not, accord-
ing to the Truft and Duty of his fuid feveral
Oftices, diffuade or endeavour to obftruct its tak-
ing effet 5 bur, on the contrary, having neither

regard

the Succeflion of Spain, in Cafe of that King’
Death : And that his Majefty had founded
France, upon what Terms an Agreement migl
he made ; and the Gonditions were near of thyg
Nature 3 (viz.) That the Elettoral Prince of
Bavaria {hould have the Kingdom of Spaiu; the
Indies, the Lowo-Countrics, and all that depend,
upon the Spanifb Dominions (except the King.
doms of Naplesand Sicily, Sardinia, the Provinee
of Guypufion, on this Sidc of the Pyicmeans, ey,
tarabia, and St. Sebaftian, Final, and the Plcesiy
Tufeany, of which Spain then ftood pofleiled).
In Confideration of which, [france was ablolute
ly to renounce the Right it pretended to the
Succeffion of Spain, and Milan was to be gives
to the Arch- Duke, fecond Son to the Emprror:
And that his Majelty commanded the {aid M.
Secretary to fpeak to him, the faid Lord Seer,,
rouching that Matter; and that his Lordfhip
fhould difcourfe it with thofe he thought he
might trult with that Secree, which 1o keep
with the utmoft Care, was by the faid Letters
mentioned to be of the higheft Imporrauce;
and at the fame Time, the faid Lord Sowmirs
received 2 Letter from his Majefty, figned by
himfelf, intimating, that Count Za/ard had made
fome Propofitions, touching an Agrecment with
his Majelty, concerning the Succeflion of the
Kingtlom of Spain, the which the faid Eurl of
Portland would write to Mr. Sccretary Vernow,
to the End his Majefty might have fome Op:-
nions upon that Affur, which required the
greateft Scerecy, and in which no Time was 1
be Joft, if that Negotiation were to be carried
on: And for that End his Majefty thereby com-
manded the faid Lord Sommers to fend full Pow-
ers to him under the Great-Seal of England, with
Blinks for the Names of Commiffioners to treat
with Count Tallard; which his Majefty, by his
faid Letter, was pleafed to fay, he believed
might be done fecretly: That none but the faid
Lord Sommers ard Mr. Secretary Pernon, and
thofe to whom the faid Lord Sommzrs and Mr.
Secretary fhould communicate it, might have
Knowledge thereof 5 and that the Clerks who
were to write the full Powers, might not know
what they were, or to the like Efelt ; and the
faid Lord Sommers did immediately return the
Earl of Portland’s faid Letter to Mr. Secretary
Vernon, and defired him to communicate the
Contents thereof to the Earl of Orfard, and the
now Lord Hallifax ('Two of the then Lord Juf
tices, who, as he wasaflured, were then in Towl,
and alfo to fuch others as they and Mr. Secretary
Vernon thould think fit 3 who, in regard of the
King’s Command to have that Affair kept 3
Secret, thought fit to impart it to the Dukeof
Shriwwsbury only (as the faid Mr. Secretary after-
wards acquainted the faid Lord Sommers ) : And
fome Time afterwards the faid Lord Hallifas
came down to the {aid Wells; and Mr. Secre-
tary Vernon coming thither alfo about the fame
Time, they, and the faid Lord Sommers, had Dil-
courfe together concerning the faid PerD[&li
and che faid Lord Sommers, by Letcer daced the

28th of Augyff, One thoufand Six hundred i_lﬂd
3 Nine-
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peaard to his Majefty’s Flonour, engag’d by the
{ ii(ilj Tyeaty with the Emperor and States-Genzral,
+s aforcfaid, to the Trade and known Intereft of
dis Kingdom, or the Peac:c of Eurape_’, did ad-
vife his Majefty to enter into the faid Treaty,
and did fo far encourage and promote the fame,
hat the faid Treaty was concluded and ratified
ander the Great-Seal of England (then in the Cu-
ttody of the faid Lord Sermmers) and thereby the
Kinédnms of Naples and Sécily, the Places depend-
ing on the Monarchx of Spain, fituate on the Coaft
of Tufeany, or the adjacent Ilands, comprehended
ander the Name of Sasto Stepbans, Porto Hercole,
Orbitello, Telamone, Porte Longone, Piombing, the
Town and Marquifate of Final, the Province of
Guypufeoa, particularly th_e Towns of I_?anm;waa
and St. Sebaftian, fituate m that Province, and
efpecially the Port of the Paflage,which is there-
in compriz’d,with feveral other Parts and T hings
of, or belonging to, the faid Kingdom of Spai,
were allotted to the Daupbin for his Share 5 and
the Crown of Spain, and the other Kingdoms,
Ilands, States, Countries, and Places depending
thereon (except fuch Part, as aforefaid, which
was thereby allotted o the Danpain for his Share,
and the Dutchy of Milair, herein after mention’d)
was given and affign’d to the EleCloral Prince,
eldelt Son to the Eleétor of Bavaria, for his Share,
o enjoy the fame to him, his Heirs :1n51 Succel-
fors, for ever, never to be moletted therein on any
Pretence of Right or Claim on the Part of the
French King, or the Daupbin, or his Hlue, Heirs
or Succeffors, nor on the Part of the Emperor,
the King of the Rewans, the Arch-Duke Chailes,
his fecond Son, and other Children, or his Heirs
or Succeffors ; and the Dutchy of Adilan was there-
by agreed to be given to the fard Arch-Duke for
his Share, and in Extinction of all Pretenfions and
Rights which the faid Emperor, the King of the
Roans, the faid Arch-Duke Charles, all hisothet
Children, Succeflors, and Heirs, might have to
the faid Succeflion of Spain. By which Treaty 1t
was alfo further agreed, That 1f any Prince what-
loever fhould oppofe the taking Pofleflion of the
Shares thereby agreed on, as aforefaid, his Ma.
telty, the French King, and the Srates-General,
thould affift one another againft fuch Oppolition,
and hinder the fame with all their Power,

That by a SecretArticle of the faid Treaty, in
like manner ratified under the Great-Seal of Eng-
lmnd, *twas provided, That if the King of $pain
thould die without Iffue, and the Ele@oral Prince
of Bavaria thould afterwards die without Hiue,
his Eletoral Highnefs of Bavaria, his Father,
thould fucceed him in all the Kingdoms, Iflands,
States, Countries, and Places affign’d to the Ele-
Ctoral Prince, as aforefaid, and enjoy the fame to
nm and his Children, Succeffors, and Heirs, then
Jorn, or to be born ; fo as neither the Emperor,
his Children, nor any other Perfon, fhould or
might, under any Pretext, form the leaft Preten-
flon to that Succeflions his Majefty, the French
King, and States- General, thereby engaging them-
lelves to employ all their Power, by Land and by
Sed, for maintaining the Order eftablifh’d by the
fid Sccret Article, relating to the Succeffion of
the Monarchy of Spain.

That the faid Treary was ratified under the
Great-Seal of England (then in the Cuftody of
the faid Lord Sommers) as an Agreement between
his Majetty, the French King, and Stares-Gencral,
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Ninety and Eight, did (as his ownThoughts, and
aswhat he apprehended to be the Refule of their
Confideration) humbly reprefent to his Majefty,
Firft, That the entertaining of fuch a Propofal,
as was mention’d by Count 7allard, feem’d to be
attended with very many 1l Confequences, if the
French did not act a fincere Part 3 but that they
were foon at Eafe, as to any Apprehenfion of
that fort, being fully aflur’d his Muefty would
not act but with the utmoft Nicenefs in an Af
fair wherein his Glory, and the Safety of Eurgpe,
was {o highly concerncd. That the Second Thing
they confider’d, was the very ill Profpe& of what
was like to happen upon the Death of the King
of 8pain, in cale nothing was done previoufly to-
wards the providing againft that Accident, which
feems probably to be very near; the King of
France then having fo great a Force in fuch a
Readinefs, that he was in a Condition to take
Pofleflion of Spain before any other Prince could
be ready to make a Stand. That his Majefty was
the beft Judge whether that was the Cafe, who
was fo perfectly informed of the Circumftances
of all Parts abroad. But, fo far as related to
Lngland, it would be the Want of Duty not to
give his Majefty this clear Account, That there
wis a Deadnefs, and want of Spirit, in the Na-
tion univerfally, fo as not at all to be difpofed to
the Thoughts of entering into a new War 5 and,
that they feem’d to be tir’d outwith Taxes, toa
Degree beyond what was difcerned, until it ap.
peared upon the Occafion of the then Jate Elec-
tions : That that was the Truth of the Fa&,
upon which his Majelty would determine what
Refolutions were proper to be taken. The re-
maining Confideration was, what would be the
Condition of Eurgpe, if the Propofal took place 3
but of that they thought themfelves little capable
of judging ; but it feem’d, that if S7eily were in
the French hands, they would be entirely Mafters
of the Levant Trade : That if they were poflefs’d
of Final, and thofc other Sea-Ports on that [ide
(whereby Milan would be entirely fhut out from
Relief by Sea, or any Commerce} that Dutchy
would be of little Signification in the Hands of
any Prince; and, thatif the King of France had
Pofleflion of that Part of Guypufeoa,which is men-
tion’d in the Propofal, befides the Ports he would
have in the Ocean, it did {feem he would have as
cafy a Way of invading Spain on that fide, as he
then had on the Side of Catalonia. But it was
not to be hoped, that France fhould quit its Pre-
tenfions to fo great a Succeflion, without confi-
derable Advantages ; and they were affured his
Majelty would reduce the Terms as Jow as could
be done, and make them (as far as was poflible
in the then prefent Circumitances of Things) fuch
as might be fome Foundation for the future Quiet
of Chriffendoin, which all his Majelty’s Subjeéts
could not but be convinced was his true Aim,
And 1f it could be brought to pafs, that Eugland
might be fome way a Gainer by that Tranfaction,
whether it was by the Elector of Bavaria (who
was the Gainer by his Majefty’s Interpofition in
that Treaty) his coming to an Agreement to let
the Exglifh into fome Trade to the Spanifb Plan-
tations, or in any other manner, it would wonder-
fully endear his Majetty to his Englifh Subjets:
That it did not appear, in cafe the Negotiation
{hould proceed, what was to be done on his Ma-
jetty’s Part, in order to make it take place 5 whe-

Yyo . thep




